# TOWARDS NEGATIVE EMISSIONS IN THE CEMENT INDUSTRY

A comparative techno-economic assessment of bioenergy with carbon capture and storage as a decarbonization option for the cement industry

Vikash Arvind K S





# TOWARDS NEGATIVE EMISSIONS IN THE CEMENT INDUSTRY -BIOENERGY WITH CARBON CAPTURE AND STORAGE

A thesis submitted to the Delft University of Technology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Sustainable Energy Technology

by

Vikash Arvind Krishnamurthy Sanmugasekar

July 2019

Supervisors: Prof.dr.ir. C Andrea Ramirez Ramirez Ir. Samantha Eleanor Tanzer

# ABSTRACT

Negative emission technologies aim to remove historic  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. Bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) is regarded as a possible negative emission technology. This thesis aims to study the technological and economic feasibility of implementing BECCS in the cement industry. Four different types of biomass - rice husk pellets, wood pellets, sewage sludge, and municipal solid waste were chosen to substitute 30% of the coal (on a mass basis) in a model of a European cement plant. With an emphasis on retrofitting, three  $CO_2$  capture technologies, absorption using monoethanol amine (MEA), calcium looping (CaL) based capture, and oxyfuel combustion capture were chosen for a comparative study. This thesis compares the techno-economic performance of the BECCS technologies in a cement plant using the key performance indicators (KPIs) of specific primary energy consumption per CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (SPECCA), cement production costs and costs of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided. Mass balance results and estimates of capital and operating expenses were used to calculate the KPIs. The parameters for each biomass- $CO_2$ capture combination are compared to each other and also compared to the reference value of a cement plant which uses 100% coal without CCS. The results were subjected to sensitivity analysis to determine the effect of uncertainty of fuel prices (coal and biomass), electricity prices,  $CO_2$ taxation, CO<sub>2</sub> storage costs and variation in electricity generation cases. CO<sub>2</sub> accounting was performed for a defined limited gate-to-gate boundary, to estimate the carbon footprint of the BECCS technologies.

The BECCS technologies studied have a lower rate of cement production as a result of co-firing biomass in existing boilers (with no modifications to the capacity of the furnace). This can be attributed to the reduced thermal energy supplied due to the low calorific value of biomass. Of the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies, oxyfuel combustion capture is the least energy consuming option (1.8 MJ/ $t_{CO2}$ , with wood pellets) and the highest range of SPECCA is visible in the case of MEA (8.6 MJ/t<sub>CO2</sub>, with municipal solid waste). The cement production costs increase by 42 to 89% compared to the costs without CO<sub>2</sub> capture. The cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided is between 45  $\pounds/t_{CO_2}$  (wood pellets with oxyfuel) to a higher range of 96  $\pounds/t_{CO_2}$  (sewage sludge with MEA). The variation in costs are significantly affected by the type of biomass used. CaL technology has a moderate performance in energy consumption and costs. SPECCA obtained for CaL process is in the range of 4.1 to 4.4 MJ/t<sub>CO2</sub> and the cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided is in the range of 57 to 74  $\ell/t_{CO_2}$ . CaL also entails the highest CO<sub>2</sub> capture rates, in comparison with MEA and oxyfuel technologies. In terms of total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions avoided, CaL based CO<sub>2</sub> capture gives the highest  $CO_2$  avoided for the system boundary defined in this thesis. Therefore, when the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere through the growth of biomass is included, the net CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are the least for CaL capture technology. The reason is the additional thermal energy requirements the retrofitted CaL process units, which are met with 100% biomass. Although theoretically, a net negative value of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions was visible in the case of CaL, it must be noted that upstream process emissions are not included in this thesis. But in practice, it is still unclear as to whether negative emissions are attainable with the information at hand.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Andrea Ramirez and Ir. Samantha Tanzer for their support and insight throughout this thesis project. Their thorough feedback on my progress and comments on my draft reports were helpful. And the guidance provided by Samantha during this period cannot be summarized in a paragraph. I felt invigorated every time I met Samantha. She was among the few people I knew in Delft; she was warm and caring. I am grateful to both my supervisors for being patient with me and for helping me out at every stage whenever I needed support. It is this limited time I spent with my supervisors that will stand out as the only positive instances during my tempestuous master's studies. I hope that I get to meet and collaborate in the future with people as amazing as my supervisors here. Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Nithya, and Sanmugasekar for being ever supportive and reminding me to pay attention to my health, food habits and other aspects of my life apart from my study program.

•••

# CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION 1					
	1.1	1 Climate change mitigation				
	1.2	2 Cement industry - a massive $CO_2$ emitter				
	1.3	The role of negative emissions	2			
	1.4	Objectives of this research	3			
2	LITE	RATURE	5			
	2.1	Cement production	5			
		2.1.1 $CO_2$ emissions associated with cement manufacture	6			
	2.2	Decarbonization strategies for cement industry	7			
		2.2.1 Efficiency improvements	7			
		2.2.2 Replacement of clinker (blended cements)	9			
		2.2.3 Use of alternate fuels	10			
		2.2.4 Biomass as fuel	11			
		2.2.5 Bio-based ash as raw material	13			
		2.2.6 Carbon capture and storage (CCS)	14			
	2.3	Negative Emission Technologies	17			
3	MET	HODOLOGY	19			
	3.1	System Boundary	19			
	3.2	Retrofitability	20			
		3.2.1 Comparing the ease of retrofitting for $CO_2$ capture technologies	20			
		3.2.2 $CO_2$ capture technologies selected for this thesis	20			
	3.3	Technical assessment	22			
	3.4	Economic evaluation	24			
		3.4.1 Capital expenses (CapEx):	24			
		3.4.2 Operating expenses (OpEx):	26			
		3.4.3 Levelised costs of clinker (LCOC):	28			
	3.5	Key Performance Indicators	30			
	3.6	Carbon Accounting	32			
	3.7	BECCS Scenarios assessed	33			
		3.7.1 Scenario 1: Post combustion $CO_2$ capture using MEA	35			
		3.7.2 Scenario 2: Tail-end Calcium Looping process for $CO_2$ capture	38			
		3.7.3 Scenario 3: Oxyfuel combustion CO <sub>2</sub> capture	41			
		3.7.4 Using ash from co-firing as a raw material or an additive	44			
4	RES	ULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	47			
	4.1	Reference case scenario	47			
	4.2	Process yields and Economic modeling results	48			
		4.2.1 MEA Scenario	49			
		4.2.2 CaL (tail-end) Scenario	53			
		4.2.3 Oxyfuel Scenario	56			
		4.2.4 Using ash as raw material or additive	59			
	4.3	Comparative Analysis	61			
	4.4	Carbon Accounting				
	4.5	Sensitivity Analysis	69			

# $\mathbf{x} \perp Contents$

	4.5.1 4.5.2	Parameter variation       Different power generation cases	70 76
5	conclusio 5.1 Limita	NS ations and recommendations for future work	79 81
Bil	oliography		83

# 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 CLIMATE CHANGE MITIGATION

Global energy consumption is increasing at a rapid rate and the negative effect of fossil fuels on the environment and climate change is alarming. This has spurred research on sustainable development to enhance the existing climate mitigation strategies. Countries across the globe have committed to limit global temperature rise to well below 2 degrees above pre-industrial levels annually, to comply with the Paris Agreement of 2016 [1]. This means that rapid reduction of green-house gas emissions to zero is imperative.

To achieve this, policy makers focus largely on developing renewable energy systems and making the building and transport sectors carbon-free. A sector that requires equal attention to meet these climate goals is the industrial sector. The industrial sector produces every day materials like steel, cement, plastics, and is a source of 30% of global emissions [2]; it is therefore important to focus on decarbonizing industry to achieve the Paris goals.

Overall, the cement industry accounts for 5-8% of the global anthropogenic  $CO_2$  emissions [3] [4] [5]. Concrete is the world's most widely used material next to water [6]. World cement production has been increasing steadily, therefore embracing less carbon-intensive technologies would be crucial to reduce the carbon footprint of the cement industry.

#### 1.2 CEMENT INDUSTRY - A MASSIVE CO<sub>2</sub> EMITTER

In the cement industry, thermal energy consumption is not the only source of  $CO_2$  emissions. The manufacturing process accounts for more than half of the  $CO_2$  emissions [2]. Over the years, attempts have been made to reduce emissions from cement manufacture - primarily improvements in thermal and electric efficiency. Alternative fuels like wastes and other low-carbon options are often employed in the industry to provide the thermal energy for the manufacturing process; mostly for co-combustion with the conventionally used fuels in existing burners [7]. As per the data provided by IEA (2016) [8], fossil fuels account for about 94% of the average thermal energy consumption for cement plants worldwide. Figure 1.1 shows this breakup.



Figure 1.1: Average share of different fuels in global thermal energy consumption for cement production (data from IEA [8])



Figure 1.2: Global cumulative CO<sub>2</sub> emission reductions predicted for the period from 2020 to 2050 by applying various decarbonization options to cement production [14]

The portion of alternative fuels being used in cement plants has been increasing [9]. But extensive adoption of decarbonization strategies, beyond efficiency improvements and switching to low carbon fuels, has been touted to be the way to reach the climate goals faster. In fact, some reports predict that it would be impossible to meet those targets, unless these decarbonization options and other steps for circularity are implemented with immediate effect [10].

Decarbonization is the name given to a broad range of options which have the potential to facilitate large-scale removal (or) avoidance of  $CO_2$  from the energy and industrial sectors. Carbon capture and storage (CCS) is one among them, seen as a bridge between the current fossil fuelbased economy and a future carbon-free economy [11]. Other decarbonization options considered for the cement industry include reducing the share of clinker in cement [12] [3]. Clinker is the primary component of cement, the process of clinker production is the source of almost 90% of the  $CO_2$  emissions from the cement industry [13]. Hence (partial) substitution of clinker with other additives is capable of reducing emissions (depending on the carbon footprint of the other additives). A prediction of the  $CO_2$  reduction potential, made by IEA [14] for the above mentioned decarbonization options is shown in Figure 1.2.

#### 1.3 THE ROLE OF NEGATIVE EMISSIONS

Negative emissions are among the latest inclusion in the climate debate, as more technical reports increasingly emphasize [15]. The crux of negative emissions is to facilitate **permanent** removal of  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. The  $CO_2$  emitted to the atmosphere must be lower than the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere, over the entire **lifecycle** of the technology under consideration [16]. This deliberate removal by human intervention is **possibly** capable of stabilizing climate [17]. Negative emissions can be attained:

- by using technologies that allow direct removal from air, followed by permanent storage;
- by applying decarbonization options to power plants and industries where bio-based sources are used to generate/provide energy, followed by capture and permanent storage.

To keep warming less than 2°C, CCS is crucial [13]. Studies suggest that without viable CCS, realizing negative emissions on a large-scale is uncertain [18] [19]. Along with afforestation, the production of sustainable bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) has been explicitly put forth as a climate mitigation option by a majority of the scenarios aimed at keeping warming below 2°C [20] [17].

The development of appropriate governance and policy frameworks is a necessary prerequisite for these technologies, and these are only starting to be discussed. For example, many techniques will require protocols to verify and account for CO<sub>2</sub> removed from the atmosphere, including provision for impermanent reductions [17].

#### 1.4 OBJECTIVES OF THIS RESEARCH

The primary aim of this research is:

"To assess the techno-economic performance of BECCS as a decarbonization option for the cement industry."

The focus of this study is on short-term options. Within a short span of 10-15 years, building new set-ups for a cement plant accommodating new technological options is unrealistic; therefore addition of capture technologies to existing cement plants are prioritized in this techno-economic assessment. This is termed as the ease of retrofitting, and formed the basis of selecting the technological options in this thesis.

The following research questions are devised:

- 1. What are the possible ways of using biomass as inputs in a cement plant?
- 2. What is the impact on the product yield (cement) and/or raw material consumption in the options considered?
- 3. Among the selected biomass inputs and CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies, which options are the least energy consuming and most economically viable?
- 4. Are the net emissions for the assessed BECCS system in a cement plant actually carbonnegative?
- 5. How do the most significant economic parameters vary due to the effect of uncertainties?

To answer these questions, the following approach is used:

A literature review was carried out to select biomass options to be used as alternate fuels in a cement plant and to examine the possibilities of using alternative raw materials that may potentially reduce further  $CO_2$  emissions. A summary of this review is in chapter 2. Different  $CO_2$  capture technologies are compared on the basis of their ease of retrofitting to narrow down on three options for a comparative analysis. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) were identified to compare the BECCS scenarios chosen, which include incremental primary energy consumption and production costs. Chapter 3 comprises of a comparison of the retrofitability of various  $CO_2$ capture scenarios, definition of the KPIs and a description of the methodology used for technoeconomic assessment.

A reference cement plant was modelled, which consumes only fossil fuel. Mass balance for the base case was performed and parameters like raw material consumption, rate of clinker produced, fuel consumption, production costs are estimated. Mass balances of the three BECCS scenarios were performed, energy consumption values specific to the capture technologies have been estimated based on the process design requirements. An estimation of  $CO_2$  emissions in each case and the value of  $CO_2$  avoided on employing BECCS technologies are calculated. To assess the economic performance, cement plant capital expenses, operating expenses and  $CO_2$ avoidance costs have been estimated. Sensitivity analysis of the economic and technological parameters used in the study was performed to determine the possible effects of uncertainties. The results of the techno-economic analysis are presented in chapter 4. Chapter 5 comprises of a summary of the findings of this techno-economic analysis and provides limitations and recommendations for future work.

# 2 | LITERATURE

# 2.1 CEMENT PRODUCTION

The cement manufacturing process is resource and energy intensive. Fossil fuels are used to heat a high temperature kiln and decompose limestone (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) and other additives (like clay, iron ore, bauxite, etc) to form a substance called clinker [21]. Clinker is combined with gypsum (and other additives) and ground to a fine powder known as cement. The raw materials are first extracted (quarried from rocks) and transported to a blender where they are subjected to homogenization and grinding [22]. Then the ground 'raw meal' is pre-heated to a temperature of  $300^{\circ}$ C and then heated in a rotary kiln at temperatures as high as  $1450^{\circ}$ C. This process of decomposition of CaCO<sub>3</sub> into lime (CaO) and CO<sub>2</sub> is called calcination. The lime then combines with other mentioned components in the raw meal, to form clinker, the main component of portland cement.



Figure 2.1: Schematic of cement production

The raw meal usually comprises of calcite (CaCO<sub>3</sub>), quartz (SiO<sub>2</sub>), clay minerals (SiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O), iron oxide (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) and magnesite (MgCO<sub>3</sub>). Clinker is primarily composed of the following [2<sub>3</sub>]:

- Alite  $(C_3S)^1$  Tricalcium silicate  $(Ca_3SiO_5)$  modified in composition and structure by ionic substitution, this is the primary component of clinker (50-70%)
- Belite (C<sub>2</sub>S) Dicalcium silicate (Ca<sub>2</sub>SiO<sub>4</sub>) modified in composition and structure by ionic substitution, this makes up for 15-30% of the clinker.
- Aluminate (C<sub>3</sub>A) Tricalcium aluminate (Ca<sub>3</sub>Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>6</sub>) modified in composition and structure by ionic substitution, this makes up for 5-10% of the clinker.
- Ferrite ( $C_4AF$ ) Tetracalcium alumino ferrite ( $Ca_4AlFeO_5$ ) modified in composition and structure by ionic substitution, this makes up for 5-10% of the clinker.

The reactions involved in the cement manufacture process are [24]:

<sup>1</sup> Note that C, S, A and F which are indicated as part of clinker composition are acronyms for the following: C - CaO, S -  $SiO_2$ , A -  $Al_2O_3$  F -  $Fe_2O_3$ .



Figure 2.2: Reactions that take place during clinker formation [26]

 $\begin{array}{l} CaCO_{3} \longrightarrow CaO + CO_{2} \\ MgCO_{3} \longrightarrow MgO + CO_{2} \\ 2 \, CaO + SiO_{2} \longrightarrow 2 \, CaO \cdot SiO_{2} \, (or) \, C_{2}S \\ CaO + C_{2}S \longrightarrow 3 \, CaO \cdot SiO_{2} \, (or) \, C_{3}S \\ 3 \, CaO + Al_{2}O_{3} \longrightarrow 3 \, CaO \cdot Al_{2}O_{3} \, (or) \, C_{3}A \\ 4 \, CaO + Al_{2}O_{3} + Fe_{2}O_{3} \longrightarrow 4 \, CaO \cdot Al_{2}O_{3} \cdot Fe_{2}O_{3} \, (or) \, C_{4}AF \end{array}$ 

Homogenization of raw materials and kiln feed is necessary to ensure a consistent clinker quality and soft burning inside the kiln. Variations in the composition of kiln feed alter the combustion process and the rate of fuel consumption [25].

The temperature profile of the reactions involved can be observed from figure 2.2. Starting from the left of the figure, the feedstock (with the components mentioned earlier) starts to undergo the reactions and up to a temperature of about 700° C, activation through the moisture removal and changes in crystal structure take place. At a temperature range of 700°C to 900°C, decarbonation of the CaCO<sub>3</sub> starts to occur, along with the initial formation of C<sub>3</sub>A and C<sub>4</sub>AF from the combination of alumina, ferric oxide and of activated silica with lime [2<sub>3</sub>]. Belite (C<sub>2</sub>S) forms from 900°C to 1200°C. It is only above a temperature of 1250°C that the liquid phase appears and alite (C<sub>3</sub>S) begins to form by the reaction between belite and free lime [2<sub>3</sub>].

#### 2.1.1 CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with cement manufacture

Primarily, the  $CO_2$  emissions in the cement industry arise from the clinker production process (process emissions and from fuel combustion). These  $CO_2$  emissions are termed as **direct**  $CO_2$  emissions; they are emitted at the site of the cement plant. And the other sources of  $CO_2$  emissions include electricity generation and transportation which are termed as **indirect**  $CO_2$  emissions. The  $CO_2$  emissions associated with cement manufacture can be grouped into three categories [12] [27]:

Calcination: The process of calcination of the raw materials accounts for about 60% of the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the cement industry [28]. The CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in this step arise from the decomposition of limestone.



Figure 2.3: Sources of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions indicated in the cement production chain.

- **Fuel combustion:** The fuel (carbonaceous) consumed for the calcination process accounts for (usually) less than 40% of the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emissions [29]. The type of fuel used in kilns influences the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.
- Indirect emissions: This category includes the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted due to electricity (power) generated for cement production (includes raw material grinding, clinker production and cement grinding), the extraction and transportation of raw materials, packaging and dispatch of the cement produced. During transportation, the consumption of liquid fuels in transport vehicles is a source of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Less than 10% of the cement industry's CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are indirect emissions.

The European BAT (best available techniques) cement plant mentions  $CO_2$  emissions (including electricity) are in the range of 0.66 to 0.68  $t_{CO_2}/t_{cement}$  [7]. From the break-up of  $CO_2$  emissions discussed, it is evident that addressing the emissions from clinker production is crucial, particularly, the process of calcination. This can't happen unless a pathway to curtail  $CO_2$  with the existing manufacturing processes is developed or the requirement for clinker itself is reduced.

There is a need for low carbon materials, that is raw materials or fuel which might emit lower  $CO_2$  if they are used in the cement industry. Finding substitutes or suitable replacements for limestone and fossil fuels can ensure this, Also, it is possible to capture the  $CO_2$  emitted from the industry and store it in a geological formation (CCS). Of course, if CCS is integrated with a cement plant in operation, perhaps the same initial material (limestone) and/or fuel (coal) could be used. However it is better to have a simultaneous search for alternative fuel and material options.

## 2.2 DECARBONIZATION STRATEGIES FOR CEMENT INDUSTRY

This section starts with a description of some of the conventional options adopted to decarbonize the cement industry; these include improvements in thermal and electric efficiency and this is discussed in the first subsection. Followed by this, using alternative fuels (which include biomass or bio-based fuels), alternative raw materials and employment of CCS are explored individually. This research entails clubbing the two strategies - using biomass and CCS.

## 2.2.1 Efficiency improvements

The conventional way to ensure that  $CO_2$  emissions (or any wastes) are kept to a minimum is to enhance thermal and electrical efficiency. Deployment of state-of-the-art technologies in new ce-



Figure 2.4: Distribution of energy demand in a cement plant by process steps [14]

ment plants and retrofitting efficiency plants wherever feasible is therefore crucial. A breakdown of the total energy consumption in a cement plant by various stages of the manufacture process is illustrated in figure 2.4.

In the raw material grinding step of the manufacture process, it is mostly ball milling that is employed (this step is often referred to as raw milling). About 60% of the cement plants still use ball mills and this has been attributed to their reliability [30]. The ball mills can be made more efficient by employing the following:

- Vertical roller mills can be used; this can reduce the energy consumption by about 25 to 30% compared to regular ball mills [7].
- High pressure grinding rolls. Energy savings of a broad range from 10 to 50% can be attained by employing this [31].
- Moreover, additives can be added to improve grindability and transportation could be made more efficient [30].

Reduction of thermal energy usage pertaining to clinker production can help curtail direct  $CO_2$  emissions that stem from the cement plant [32]. Changes such as the following can be implemented at the clinker production level [30]:

- Improvements in kiln combustion processes such as flame control, burners with multiple air channels for better air distribution. These improvements are found to save about 2 to 10% of energy consumption [33].
- Refractory improvements in kiln; insulation linings for energy savings can help.
- Pre-heaters and/or pre-calciners could be added to upgrade kiln technologies. This would ensure that calcination is carried out in stages and it helps reduce energy supplied for the calcination. The reason for this is the exchange of heat through the counterflow principle by the hot exit gas in every stage. Dry kilns with pre-heaters and pre-calciners can reduce energy consumption by 8 to 11% [33].
- Efficient classifiers can be placed after grinders. The function of the classifiers is to separate particles according to their size and re-send the bigger particles back to the grinder. Less efficient classifiers can send very small particles back and result in unnecessary extra energy consumption [30]. Focusing on this aspect can help achieve savings in energy of up to 8% [34].
- Efficient clinker coolers can help. Employing grate coolers in the kiln can enable energy savings close to 8% [33].
- Efficient energy management, using more manpower for better control systems.

Energy consumption (GJ/t <sub>cement</sub> )			
Wet	6.3	5.86-6.28	
Semi-wet	3.8	Na	
Semi-dry	3.8	Na	
Dry (pre-heater)	3.65	3.5	
Dry (pre-heater, pre-calciner)	3.4	2.93-3.14	
	Source: CSI	Source: EEA	

Table 2.1: Energy consumption of different types of cement production processes [30] [36]

• Embedding digital technology within industrial machinery can further reduce resource and fuel consumption in industry. This kind of 'intelligent efficiency' has been reported to be capable of reducing global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by roughly 20% by 2030 [35].

As far as thermal energy consumption is concerned, dry processes (dry kiln types) consume lesser energy than wet processes. So dry (or even semi-dry) types can be employed. This is substantiated by the information in table 2.1.

# 2.2.2 Replacement of clinker (blended cements)

Clinker is ground with other additives (primarily gypsum) to get cement, this process is referred to as cement milling (or) grinding. Replacements of clinker while milling, with fly ash (from coal-based power plants) or slag (from steel plants) is a possibility. These types of blended and composite cements are known to avoid emissions arising from calcination [37]. A type of blend called geopolymer concrete consumes only one-third of the fuel needed to produce ordinary portland cement and it also emits lesser  $CO_2$  [38].

Geopolymerization<sup>2</sup> helps produce green concrete or building materials with lower carbon footprint [39] and life cycle assessment (LCA) studies have suggested this [40] [41] [42]. Blended cement (fly-ash based) has the potential to reduce almost half of the  $CO_2$  emitted from portland cement [43]. Studies have estimated that in addition to lower  $CO_2$  emissions, this material displays higher binding and tensile strengths in comparison with portland cement [44].

The European standard EN 197-1 lists 27 different types of cements available on the market based on their composition and characterisation [45]. But those products are broadly grouped into five typologies [46]:

- CEM I Portland cement (95% clinker)
- CEM II Portland-composite cement (65-94% clinker)
- CEM III Blast furnace cement (5-64% clinker)
- CEM IV Pozzolanic cement (45-89% clinker)
- CEM V Composite cement (20-64% clinker)

The most common cement produced is Portland-composite cement (CEM II) [47]. In this type of cement, up to 35% of various kinds of additives are mixed with clinker during milling. These additives include any one (or a blend) of fly ash, blast furnace slag, limestone or pozzolana. When unconventional additives of this kind are used following reduced usage of clinker, the blends obtained are usually tested for their compression strength, setting time, sulphates (SO<sub>3</sub>)

<sup>2</sup> Geopolymers are amorphous three dimensional aluminosilicate materials with ceramic-like properties that are synthesized and hardened at ambient temperatures

and chlorine content. The values must comply with the international standards and the limits fixed for traditional cements [47].

The extent to which the quantity of blended cements can be increased depends mainly on their availability in the quantities (scale) required and the permission to use them by relevant institutions as there are restrictions on usage of such alternative materials [37].

#### 2.2.3 Use of alternate fuels

Using alternative low-carbon fuels for burning is an effective decarbonization strategy as that would generate lower  $CO_2$  emissions than carbonaceous (fossil) fuels. 'Alternative' fuels include non-fossil fuel options which range from agricultural and non-agricultural biomass to wastes (residential, industrial, chemical). The primary fuel used in cement industry is coal [48]; and other fuels such as petcoke, gas, oil and wastes have also been employed for firing the kilns, either individually or in some combinations [12]. Using wastes to provide the thermal energy offers simultaneous benefits of destroying them and generating energy from the wastes [12]. It also offers a variety of ecological benefits and conserves our limited non-renewable fuels. The burden of waste disposal is lessened when they are burnt in the cement kiln [49]. If the wastes were to be incinerated, that would consume additional fossil fuels to burn, leading to further  $CO_2$  emissions; plus adapting a cement kiln for waste usage is cheaper than setting up waste incineration plants [9].

'Biomass' for energy use is a term that refers to all organic material, directly from plants or trees, indirectly from plant-derived industrial, commercial or urban waste, or from agricultural and forestry residues [50]. There is debate on the carbon-neutral nature of biomass, and the other environmental impacts<sup>3</sup> are being explored. Still, partial replacements of fossil fuels with such alternative options, including biomass are being considered with low co-firing rates. Direct co-firing is deemed to be a realistic way and a good stepping stone towards more viable and sustainable energy practices [48].

Solid waste management is one of the most challenging environmental issues in urban settings in today's times [49]. If the wastes are burnt in the cement kiln, this might be a way to divert them from the landfills clearing up some landfill space. However, the major influencing factors for deciding upon the alternative fuel to be used remain to be cost and availability of the alternative fuels, more than environmental impacts [48]. It has been reported that more than 64% of the cement plants in the EU incorporate wastes in their fuel mix [12].

Most arguments are based on the so-called carbon neutrality of these wastes, which are high in biogenic content. However, while it is true that biomass or bio-based fuels are part of the natural carbon cycle, environmental impacts are not merely restricted to carbon emissions [51]. And proper waste management is imperative for this. Proper heat distribution, complete combustion, stable operation, ensuring minimal emissions of NO<sub>x</sub>, SO<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> and dust would be crucial too [52]. Approval from relevant authorities is mandatory to burn alternative fuels in many countries on account of the potential environmental hazards [23]. With such emission control regulations that can monitor the impact of the fuels accurately, alternative fuel options seem to be a viable decarbonization option that can control the carbon footprint of the cement industry.

#### Treatment of biomass before co-firing:

Direct co-firing of biomass with coal in the same boiler is one among the methods to employ biomass as a fuel along with fossil fuels. Other methods include indirect co-firing (gasification followed by co-firing) and parallel co-firing (in two separate boilers). To enhance the fuel quality before usage for direct co-firing, some form of pre-treatment is required for biomass (or any

<sup>3</sup> Other environmental impacts such as SO<sub>x</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, chlorine, heavy metals and other particulates.

unconventional fuel). The energy density of the biomass feedstock can be improved by primarily drying (natural or accelerated means), or by methods like torrefaction, pelletisation or briquetting [53]. To be used in the cement industry, some treatment options that can be considered before usage for co-combustion are listed here, for different biomass types [9]:

- Agricultural biomass filtering, drying, torrefaction, gasification, grinding.
- Municipal solid waste filtering, drying, crushing, grinding, shredding.
- Waste wood like other solid wastes such as MSW, and torrefaction
- Sewage sludge filtering, drying, pelletising.

Torrefaction (also referred to as slow pyrolysis) is the thermochemical treatment of biomass at temperatures between 200 and 350°C with bio-char as primary product [54]. This process is used as a means to upgrade biomass characteristics and to produce biomass fuels with improved quality (comparable to that of coal), making torrefaction a viable option to process biomass despite its energy intensive nature. This pre-treatment technology ensures a more coal like structure of the biomass because it increases the energy density and durability [55]. The torrified biomass product approximately has 70% of the initial weight and 90% of the original energy content [56].

Options for biomass that are considered in this research as alternative fuel sources for the cement industry are discussed in the upcoming section. The focus of this thesis is to explore the possibilities of using biomass in the cement industry, one way is to use them as a fuel for the clinker production. As the ease of retrofitting is an important determinant in this study, complete replacement of fossil fuels is unrealistic. The lower heating value (per mass) would entail higher rates of fuel consumption to replace the current rates. The capacity of the existing boilers won't be sufficient to accommodate the new fuel. As a result, retrofitting would be cumbersome. Therefore further discussions will be based on the concept of co-combustion of coal with the selected biomass options.

#### 2.2.4 Biomass as fuel

#### Rice husks:

Rice husk, which is the outer shell of the rice grain is an agricultural by-product obtained from paddy. It is partly organic and partly inorganic. Rice husk is used in cement plants as an energy source that is liberated by combustion of the husk, and also as a raw material represented by the remaining ash after combustion. It contains  $SiO_2$  as a major component which is an important additive in the raw meal used for clinker production [57] [12]. Rice husk can be used by partially replacing the conventional fossil fuel in a cement plant by the following ways [58]:

- by mixing crushed and pulverized rice husk with fossil fuel
- by the direct-feeding of rice husk in the form of pellets into the combustion chamber of the cement plant [59].

High volatile, low-energy fuels have low combustion temperatures and they are best suited for usage in a cement kiln in torrified and pelletised forms [60]. Studies indicate that it is difficult to obtain complete combustion of low-volatile fuels in a pre-calciner [61] [52].

For co-firing torrified pellets of rice husk with coal, a substitution rate of 30% has been stated in a study to be a safe value, in terms of its environmental impacts (NO<sub>x</sub> emissions in particular) [62]. Other studies [63] [64] mention 35% substitution rate (as an upper limit) in cement plants for rice husk. Above this, there is a possibility of increased chlorine emissions that could be harmful.

#### Wood pellets:

Forestry residues from a wide range of sources can potentially be used at industrial scale through various thermochemical pathways (gasification, pyrolosis, combustion). The potential of forest biomass for energy and industrial sectors in Europe has been widely studied and is seen as a promising option, particularly in the context of Europe [65]. The European standard for concrete (EN 450), permits the co-firing of wood-based biomass in cement kilns up to 50% on a mass-basis if no other fuels are co-fired [66] [67]. Torrefied wood is particularly more suited for usage as a fuel; in fact, combined torrefaction and pelletisation can give a calorific value of roughly 21 GJ/t [55]. A life cycle assessment study reported that at 30% co-firing rate (on a thermal basis), there are positive environmental impacts like climate change potential and reduced emissions (SO<sub>2</sub>, Hg and particulate matter) [68]. Another life cycle study which was in the context of a cement plant, reported a possible reduction in many environmental indicators (including global warming potential) when wood-based biomass is considered as a fuel. Key issues that pertain to the usage of forestry residues include availability and it is also not seen as economical to harvest these residues [69] [70].

#### Sewage sludge:

Treatment of wastewater from residential, commercial and industrial settings gives rise to sludge formation [71]. The disposal of sewage sludge is usually through incineration and depositing the ash in landfills, usage in agriculture or dumping in water bodies [3]; however, toxic by-products and emissions is a common concern for all the options. For instance, with sulphur content as high as that of coal, almost all of it is emitted as  $SO_2$  [72]. In fact studies have suggested that by limiting the feed rate of dry sewage sludge in a cement plant to 5% of the clinker production capacity, it is possible to keep the levels of such toxic by-products within prescribed limits [71] [73]. Above this, harmful emissions of heavy metals and dust may pose a problem.

By using sewage sludge as a fuel in cement industry, it is possible to evade part of the environmental damage that incineration would result in [3]. The high water content of sludge is an important aspect to be considered in combustion process [12]. Sludge is usually co-fired with coal in pre-dried form as it is easier for storage and transportation [71]. In cement plants, waste heat from the kiln can be used to dry the sludge. In addition to this, the residual non-combustible components of sludge (ash) can be used as a raw material in cement production (discussed further in section 2.2.5) [3] [74].

The use of sewage sludge as alternative fuel is a common practice in cement plants around the world, Europe in particular [75]. It could be an attractive business proposition for wastewater treatment plant operators and the cement industry to work in collaboration to tackle the issues of sludge disposal, high energy requirements and GHG emissions from the cement industry [48].

#### Municipal solid waste:

Municipal solid waste (MSW), which includes garbage from residential and commercial sources, is a type of solid wastes that poses a problem to urban settings. Garbage (waste) is not all biomass; roughly half of its energy content comes from plastics [76]. Owing to cost and land availability issues, MSWs are usually disposed of in landfills or subject to incineration<sup>4</sup>. On decomposition in landfills, the bio-degradable components of MSW lead to negative impacts such as groundwater pollution and unpleasant odors, in addition to green house gas emissions [77]. Some valuable resources could also get wasted if wastes aren't utilized properly [78]. One such strategy would

<sup>4</sup> Incineration is a way to treat/dispose wastes by combustion of organic substances contained in the wastes.

be to make it undergo thermal treatment or energy recovery to obtain cleaner renewable energy for industries and adopt waste-to-energy as a strategy to manage [79] [80].

Before being sent to the cement kilns for co-processing, MSW undergoes various processes which include [81] [82]:

- Separation at source, segregating the finer particles from bulkier ones.
- Magnetic separation to remove ferrous materials.
- Shredder to become a fine combustible powder.
- Drying

Cement kilns require homogeneity of the bio-based waste fuel used with respect to the composition and size [83]. To make them homogeneous and to keep moisture content to a minimum, appropriate mechanical treatment is crucial so that clinker quality is not affected. Otherwise, cement industry is particularly well-suited to the employment of such fuels [84] [85].

Rice husks and waste wood are widely studied and their torrefaction has been carried out [86] [87] [88]. Furthermore, pelletisation also ensures higher energy density and torrified rice husk and wood pellets will be considered in this study. In case of sewage sludge, de-watering (thermal drying to significantly reduce the water content) helps because the dry form of sludge is better as a fuel when used with coal. Belt drying technology is one among the methods that can be adopted to dry the sludge [89] [90].

#### 2.2.5 Bio-based ash as raw material

As discussed in section 2.2.2, different types of cement have varying clinker compositions. There is an increasing interest among cement manufacturers to consider cement types with reduced clinker percentage as part of their attempts to decarbonize the industry [3] [51]. The underlying logic is that when the need for clinker itself is reduced, then reduced amount of limestone for calcination will ensure lesser emissions. Fly ash, slag and ash from biomass combustion are some of the options considered as substitutes of clinker. There are two ways of incorporating the ash [3] [13]:

- 1. As an additive during the milling of cement (grinding process)
- 2. As a raw material for clinker production

Cement plants consider biomass ash as a substitute raw material as they are carriers of CaO,  $SiO_2$ ,  $Al_2O_3$  and  $Fe_2O_3$ . A quality assurance system which includes technical and environmental criteria, to assess suitability of such unconventional raw materials is used, prior to its usage in the cement industry [67]. Before being used for any application, it is imperative to follow appropriate cleaning (water washing) in order to lessen the potential negative impacts of chlorine and heavy metals [91].

Rice husk ash and municipal solid waste ash, both have the potential to be utilized as an additive during the cement grinding process; During the grinding process, usually, clinker and other additives (which include gypsum) are ground together by ball milling. On employing ash from rice husk or MSW, the amount of clinker can be reduced, retaining the amount of other additives constant [92] - this way there is a possibility to avoid  $CO_2$  emissions.

• Incorporation of **rice husk ash** as an additive into the cement mixture would lead to an increase in the composition of SiO<sub>2</sub> and decrease of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and CaO. Addition of up to 15% is desirable for improving the strength [92]. Moreover, being an agricultural by-product, its employment as substitute for a carbonaceous material in cement manufacture is

another point in its favor [92] [67]. And it has been reported that using ash from agricultural waste has shown economic, technical, and environmental benefits [3].

- Up to 40% of substitution of **ash from MSW co-fired with coal** (MSW-fly ash) in cement has been examined and stated to be a safe limit [91], 44% upper limit for MSW-fly ash has also been reported [12]. Above this, there has been demonstrated high leaching concentration of heavy metals such as zinc, chromium and cadmium. Moreover, this type of ash would demand extensive washing treatments prior to its usage to reduce the content of chlorides [91]. But otherwise, it has been reported that this type of ash has a composition (high in silicates and alumino-silicates) that makes it suitable for usage in cement production [93].
- Sewage sludge ash has the potential to be utilized as a raw material in clinker production, by reducing the amount of limestone and other additives involved. It has been estimated in some studies [94] that a maximum of 5% replacement is appropriate for sewage sludge ash, without compromising on the strength or setting behaviour of the cement. Also, the formation of C<sub>3</sub>S component of clinker would be hindered due to higher quantities of some oxides like P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub> in sludge ash if substitution rates exceed 11% [95] [94]. There would be no potential negative environmental impacts due to chlorine, heavy metals or leaching if the suggested limitations are adhered to.

Another study identified up to 10% substitution rate to possess strength comparable to CEM I type (ordinary Portland cement) [96]. The physical properties (mechanical strength) of sewage sludge ash make it a suitable inclusion in the cement manufacturing process [97]. In fact, sewage sludge ash and fly ash, both contain less than 0.1% of elements such as chromium, lead, nickel, copper, manganese, zinc and barium; hence no negative impact on cement properties [98].

• The direct use of **wood ash** as a cement raw material is limited due to its high content of alkali metals [67]; also its high sulphate and chloride content poses a limitation [99]. There are constraints for usage of biomass ash in most countries; of which, particularly usage of wood ash has been restricted owing to some of its environmental concerns [100].

Some major issues pertaining to the usage of ash in the cement industry would include: the availability of ash [101]; also the ash quality (clean ash) and consistency of the available ash would be crucial for usage as a raw material or additive [100]. The European standard for cement (EN 206) doesn't permit the usage of biomass ash in blended cements; its usage is not regulated. However application of ash from co-combustion has been practised in Europe [67].

#### 2.2.6 Carbon capture and storage (CCS)

CCS is a key strategy in decarbonizing energy intensive industries (including cement industry). CCS involves three basic stages -  $CO_2$  capture and separation from other gases at the source of emissions,  $CO_2$  transportation from the source to the storage sites and storage of the  $CO_2$  in geologically suitable locations. Large scale implementation of  $CO_2$  capture in the cement industry has not been realized yet; but the industry is open to considering various research options. Three basic types of  $CO_2$  capture are: post-combustion, pre-combustion and oxy-combustion. A schematic of the three types is shown in figure 2.5 and they are explained briefly below:

1. In **post-combustion** capture, CO<sub>2</sub> is captured from the flue gas stream emanating from the power plant or industry, then techniques such as absorption with solvents, adsorption to solids, membrane separation, cryogenic separation are used to capture the CO<sub>2</sub> from the other components of the flue gas (which comprises of primarily N<sub>2</sub>). This is the most developed among the three basic types and it has an advantage of being able to provide retrofit options and the required modifications to the industry are minimal [102].



Figure 2.5: Schematic of CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies applied to a cement industry

- 2. Pre-combustion capture involves partial combustion of the carbon-based fuel to give syngas (CO+H<sub>2</sub>) which is moved to a water-gas shift reactor and CO<sub>2</sub> is formed along with hydrogen. Separating these two not only makes it possible to capture CO<sub>2</sub>, but also leaves a pure stream of H<sub>2</sub> which can be used as a transport fuel. Energy requirements are lesser than that of post-combustion, however it is deemed to be expensive and far more complex owing to the high levels of process integration involved [103].
- 3. **Oxyfuel combustion** capture involves combustion of the fuel in oxygen. This results in a flue gas with just CO<sub>2</sub> and water, the high concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> makes it easier to separate on condensation. But this form of capture is energy intensive, needs a CO<sub>2</sub> purification and compression unit, recycling of flue gas hence it is seen as less suitable for retrofitting owing to the complexity [103]. Economically, they are on par with post combustion technologies [104].

Some of the available post-combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies are:

- Absorption: Also referred to as amine scrubbing, this method of absorbing CO<sub>2</sub> is the most common way to capture CO<sub>2</sub> as of now and is very well established. This is a gasliquid method, meaning liquid amine is used to absorb and capture gaseous CO<sub>2</sub>. It is the most matured option both technologically and commercially. Currently it is used to remove CO<sub>2</sub> from ammonia synthesis and the process industry. Examples of some liquid solvents used are some alkanolamines such as monoethanol amine (MEA), methyl diethanol amine (MDA). There are some drawbacks of this technology - high energy required for solvent regeneration, formation of salts by reacting with oxides of N and S, and corossion [105].
- Adsorption: To combat the energy intensive nature of previously described absorption, here is a method to significantly reduce the energy required for CO<sub>2</sub> capture. This is called

adsorption (gas-solid method) where a solid looping cycle can be realized. Calcium looping technology is seen as a promising option for capturing  $CO_2$  in cement plants.

- **Cryogenic separation:** Cryogenic separation uses the difference in boiling temperatures and partial pressures to separate gases in a mixture by cooling or compression. It produces liquid CO<sub>2</sub> ready for transport to the storage site. The refrigeration process involved consumes a large amount of energy [105]. Also water has to be removed before the flue gas is cooled to avoid ice formation and corrosion. This method of carbon capture is most suited for oxy-fuel combustion capture in a cement industry [27].
- **Chilled ammonia process:** The flue gas is sent to an absorber, where the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration is reduced by the ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) solution. The solution is regenerated in the desorber and high purity CO<sub>2</sub> is obtained [106]. The ammonia is stripped using cool water and it is re-used for CO<sub>2</sub> capture after recovery. Most part of this process is similar to the MEA absorption process.
- **Membrane liquefaction:** Polymeric membranes are used for bulk separation of CO<sub>2</sub> from the flue gas stream. This separated CO<sub>2</sub> stream is then liquefied and volatile components are removed. High purity CO<sub>2</sub> stream is obtained in this method [107].

#### Calcium looping (CaL) process:

This is a high temperature process based on the cyclic calcination and carbonation of a calcium containing sorbent.  $CO_2$  is captured by the forward exothermic reaction (carbonation reaction) stripping the flue gas of its  $CO_2$ . By means of a circulating solid (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) the  $CO_2$  is transported into a calciner where the loaded sorbent is regenerated by the backward endothermic reaction (calcination reaction). To produce a high  $CO_2$  concentration in the gaseous stream, the calciner is operated under oxyfuel conditions (high partial pressure) [102].



Figure 2.6: Tail end calcium looping (CaL) process as a post combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology - schematic

There is good potential for integration between CaL and cement manufacture process [108]. CaL can be employed as a 'tail-end' (post-combustion) process by fitting into an existing plant like other post combustion options. Unlike a tail-end process where the CaL unit is partially integrated, it can also be fully integrated. In 'integrated' calcium looping, the CaL unit is built within the cement plant which means that major modifications are required. CaL capture has an advantage of recycling part of the CaO purge from the looping unit to the cement manufacture, thereby enhancing the clinker produce [109] or reducing the raw material consumption [108] [110].

#### CO<sub>2</sub> transport and storage

Realization of CCS will require the development of infrastructure to transport the captured  $CO_2$  from its sources to the appropriate storage sites [11]. Ways of transporting  $CO_2$  include:

- **Pipelines**: A reliable method for transporting large volumes of CO<sub>2</sub> is by pumping through through pipelines. Pipeline transport is a mature industry, however most of the existing pipelines are used for enhanced oil recovery, where CO<sub>2</sub> is injected into depleted oil fields to recover increased quantities of oil [111] [112].
- Ships and road transport: These alternatives can be used for transporting smaller quantities [113]. Transport by shipping dates back to more than 70 years and they are already prevalent in Europe, on a small scale [111].

Pipelines are considered to be more economical than other means of transport [113] [114]. Efficient form of transporting  $CO_2$  through pipelines is in its **dense** form [112] [111]. The high pressure, varying temperature and presence of impurities in  $CO_2$  fluids makes planning and design of pipelines very challenging [115]. To reach the desired pressure for pipeline transport (110 bar for offshore transport [111]), conditioning of the captured  $CO_2$  is needed [114]. This includes removal of unwanted components (H<sub>2</sub>O, N<sub>2</sub> among others), followed by compression. The presence of impurities may pose issues with densification [112]. Some major challenges with pipeline transportation include corrosion [114], two-phase flow [24] and large cost uncertainties [116].

Storage of the transported  $CO_2$  can be realized onshore and offshore - with deep saline aquifers, depleted oil and gas fields (DOGF) and through enhanced oil recovery storage [117] [118]. In this thesis, the  $CO_2$  capture technologies are assumed to give a  $CO_2$  stream in a form suitable for **offshore pipeline** transport<sup>5</sup> and storage in **offshore DOGF**.

# 2.3 NEGATIVE EMISSION TECHNOLOGIES

Negative emission technologies (NETs) aim to remove  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere over the lifecycle of the technologies and isolate them from the atmosphere for the long term. The approaches encompassed by this definition are diverse. Most NETs rely on photosynthesis to achieve  $CO_2$ removal, either through afforestation or converting it to another form for permanent (geological) storage. Other options such as direct air capture, use chemical sorbents in industrial plants to extract  $CO_2$  directly from the air [18]. Bio energy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) has been widely regarded as a NET, which has the potential to be an effective strategy to achieve reduced emissions with removal of historic  $CO_2$ . It entails using CCS for an industry or power plant to capture the  $CO_2$  emitted from combustion of bio energy sources.

While the decarbonization options discussed in section 2.2 address the root cause of anthropogenic climate change by curtailing GHG emissions, they do not remove the  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. Moreover, they may not be sufficient to deliver the scale and pace of emission reductions needed to keep GHG concentrations in the atmosphere within tolerable boundaries [119].

There are many inconsistencies in the usage of the term 'negative emissions' across literature [16]. If the emissions from a power plant or industry that uses biomass are considered in isolation, and a  $CO_2$  capture plant is retrofitted - it would **theoretically** result in a negative value for emissions on assuming the biomass to be carbon-neutral (figure 2.7). But the net life-cycle removal, however, depends on emissions associated with supply, harvesting, processing and transport of biomass, any emissions associated with direct or indirect land use change or even the emissions

<sup>5</sup> Offshore pipeline transport is more suited to regions in Europe where heavy industries are situated in proximity to many storage sites [111].



Figure 2.7: Illustration of BECCS: capturing and storing the carbon emissions from biomass combustion.

from transporting the compressed  $CO_2$  [120]. Therefore, merely using biomass (wholly or partially) in conjunction with CCS does not guarantee removal of historic  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. That is, calculating the total emissions and getting a negative value should not be misconstrued as having achieved negative emissions. Defining appropriate boundaries is crucial, in addition to ensuring that the emissions captured and stored are greater than the quantity emitted to atmosphere [16].

The availability and accessibility of geological storage for  $CO_2$  is a key uncertainty. If ultimately realisable storage is lower than current estimates due to physical or political factors, this could constrain the total negative emissions attainable through BECCS [18]. The extent to which the available storage sites are developed also constrains BECCS [121]. Deploying conventional CCS today uses finite geological storage that may constrain storage capacity in the future; but unless conventional CCS is deployed at a large-scale, a technology like BECCS cannot be developed. Another issue with CCS is that there are no political drivers to enforce its deployment; new policies are needed to incentivize commercial CCS [19].

There are constraints such as availability of land area for biomass usage, biological productivity, availability and mobilisation of biomass feedstock [122] [18]. But otherwise, they provide a possibility to lower  $CO_2$  concentrations towards less risky levels; this may prevent an overshoot of total emissions. For this reason, studying the potential of BECCS to get a complete picture will aid policy makers in addressing the growing climate concerns [17]. The trade-offs related with the use of negative emissions also need to be further assessed.

This research doesn't aim for a net negative emission technology, but the idea is to envision a scenario for the future to realize 'actual' negative emissions that may result in removal of historic  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere. The attempt here, however, is to try and move "towards" achieving negative emissions by employing BECCS in a heavy industry, starting with short-term replacements. Building up on this concept further by increasing the proportion of biomass used or more detailed studies about other sources of emissions within the system boundaries will take us even closer to determining if it is possible to achieve negative emissions in the real sense.

# 3 | METHODOLOGY

The focus in this research is on the implementation of  $CO_2$  capture in the short-mid term future (5 – 15 years). Short-mid term technologies are defined as those that are either in pilot plant, demonstration or commercialization phase today [123]. Even if a technology on the whole is yet to be tested or demonstrated, but all the equipment required is available today, that is also categorized as a short-mid term technology [124]. The other technologies, which are in laboratory phase today, are considered to be long-term future options (20 years or more). Three  $CO_2$  capture technologies are selected for the assessment, based on their ease of retrofitting (discussed in section 3.2).

Technical assessments (using Microsoft Excel) are carried for each of the chosen technologies applied to a base cement plant. The mass flows in and out of each individual process unit are determined on the basis of performance equations derived from parameters characteristic to the cement industry. The energy flows are calculated using the basic thermodynamic properties of the components. The methodology and general assumptions used in the technical assessment are described in section 3.3. The results of the technical assessment are then utilized for the economic evaluation (methodology in section 3.4). For a comparative study of the techno-economic performance of the technologies, key performance indicators (KPIs) are calculated. KPIs are listed and defined in section 3.5. A detailed description of the BECCS scenarios is presented in section 3.7.

#### 3.1 SYSTEM BOUNDARY

The system boundary defined for technical assessment is shown in figure 3.1. The only source of direct  $CO_2$  emissions in cement manufacture is clinker production, and the  $CO_2$  capture technologies are employed to capture the  $CO_2$  from clinker production. Hence only the technical parameters pertaining to this stage and the  $CO_2$  capture plant are taken into consideration. The technical assessment includes all the parameters until the stage where  $CO_2$  is compressed to a form that makes it suitable for pipeline transportation.

The system boundary for the economic assessment includes the transportation and storage of  $CO_2$ , plus the cement grinding stage; this is depicted in figure 3.2. This is to estimate the key economic parameters per tonne of the final product of the cement industry (cement). Similarly



Figure 3.1: System boundary defined for technical assessment



Figure 3.2: System boundary defined for economic assessment

for carbon accounting (section 3.6), the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per tonne of cement are accounted for. In addition to this, the CO<sub>2</sub> removed from the atmosphere by biomass were also included.

## 3.2 RETROFITABILITY

Because cement plants typically have a lifetime ranging from 30 to 50 years, technologies have to be developed to enable the retrofit of  $CO_2$  capture technologies to existing cement plants. Precombustion capture is not best suited for retrofit as it is only applicable to new plants [109]. Moreoever it only captures emissions from fuel combustion; this isn't beneficial in the context of cement industry as it cannot capture emissions from calcination of  $CaCO_3$  (refer to figure 2.5 in section 2.2.6). So only post combustion and oxyfuel combustion capture technologies have been considered for retrofitting.

3.2.1 Comparing the ease of retrofitting for CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies

A qualitative comparison of the ease of retrofitting for various  $CO_2$  capture technologies was carried out, to make a selection of three feasible options. The technologies which have been considered for application in the context of cement industry were picked for making this comparison. The factors which formed the basis for the comparison include:

- Maturity of the technology
- Modifications required and
- Impact on cement production

The maturity of the technology can be understood from the Technology Readiness Level (TRL). TRL is a scale (on 1 to 9)<sup>1</sup> used to assign a value for the level of readiness for commercial large-scale implementation of a technology. A list of pilot projects and ongoing laboratory demonstrations for the chosen technologies were picked from literature and they are listed in table 3.1. The comparisons on the basis of the other two factors are listed in table 3.2.

3.2.2  $CO_2$  capture technologies selected for this thesis

The conclusions of the qualitative assessment made it possible to narrow down to three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies:

<sup>1</sup> TRL 1 - Idea of a technology and basic need described, but no testing/evidence yet; TRL 9 - Full commercial availability of a technology.

CO <sub>2</sub> capture	Commercial experiences (or) pilot projects	TRL	Source
Absorption using	Norcem's Brevik project (pilot-scale testing),	8	[126]
MEA	Norway		
Oxyfuel	ECRA project, CEMCAP and FLSmidth R&D	6	[129]
Combustion	pilot plant in Dania, Denmark - technology		
	validated in cement kiln, ready for		
	demonstration		
Tail-end Calcium	Demonstrated at semi-industrial scale at IFK,	6	[133]
looping	Stuttgart (200 kW)		
Integrated	Validated in lab, tested in Vernasca cement	4	[131]
Calcium looping	plant, Italy		[132]
Membrane	Pilot-scale MAL testing in laboratory, SINTEF	6	[107]
liquefaction	Energy Research		

Table 3.1: Qualitative comparison of  $CO_2$  capture processes based on their maturity level to assess retrofitability

Table 3.2: Qualitative comparison of the  $CO_2$  capture processes on the basis of modifications and impact on cement production to assess retrofitability

$CO_2$ capture	Impact on cement production	Modifications required
Absorption using	Clinker quality is not affected	• High steam req. [157] [158]
MEA	[102] [159]	<ul> <li>Electricity; MEA solvent</li> </ul>
Oxyfuel	Up to 6 months halt of cement	<ul> <li>ASU, CO<sub>2</sub> purification</li> </ul>
Combustion	plant for construction work [102]	<ul> <li>Additional electric power</li> </ul>
Tail-end Calcium	Sorbent purge used as raw	ASU, Steam cycle
looping	material; short prodn. halt [102]	Additional fuel, electricity [110]
Integrated	Pre-heater, calciner modification;	ASU, Steam cycle
Calcium looping	long production halt [102]	Additional fuel demand [128]
Membrane	Short production halt for	Refrigeration system req. [107]
liquefaction	rerouting flue gas [102] [107]	<ul> <li>No steam required [102]</li> </ul>

- 1. **Post combustion capture using MEA** is suitable for retrofitting in spite of the few disadvantages which can be dealt with; for instance an option for energy supply can be utilizing waste heat from the cement exhaust gas to meet with the increased demands associated with this option. In addition to all these, amine based capture is considered to be closest to commercialization [125] [126] and hence scale-up will not be a critical issue [102].
- 2. With **oxyfuel combustion capture**, some modifications are required for retrofitting; but it is still considered cost-effective [127]. The mentioned modifications would take a few months to construct, during which time the cement production will have to be halted. However, the other benefits such as reduced CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and the relatively lower costs [127] [128] may compensate for the demerits [129]. Moreover, there is a possibility for oxyfuel CO<sub>2</sub> capture to outperform post combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies as a retrofit option in the mid-term future [130]. In addition to this, combustion in an O<sub>2</sub> rich environment has the added environmental benefits of reduced SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>x</sub> emissions [124].
- 3. **Tail-end calcium looping capture** is more suited for retrofitting [128]. The level of uncertainty is relatively better for tail-end CaL process when compared with the other options

considered [102]. It also has higher TRL than the integrated process (TRL of 6 for tail-end [131] compared to 4 for integrated CaL [132] [133] and 6 for membrane liquefaction [107]).

#### 3.3 TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT

A typical kiln size in the EU region, as mentioned in the 'Best Available Techniques' document released by Industrial Emissions Directive, EU is about 3000 tonnes of clinker per day [7]. A clinker-cement ratio of  $0.737^2$  is considered [134] and the cement plant has a run time of 345 days per year. The quantity of raw meal required to get the desired amount of clinker was determined by assuming a raw meal-clinker ratio of 1.57 [7]. Following this, the composition of the raw mix employed was decided upon from literature [135] to be 78% CaCO<sub>3</sub>, 21% additives (which include 14% SiO<sub>2</sub>, 3.5% Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 2% Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, 1.5% MgCO<sub>3</sub>) and 1% moisture (H<sub>2</sub>O).



Figure 3.3: Process flow diagram for the base case clinker production process (fossil fuel without CCS)

A reference (base) case was set up. The base case scenario for this study involves using fossil fuel (coal) without CCS. The process flow diagram shown in 3.3 has been used for the reference scenario. The CO<sub>2</sub> capture plants in this study and the modifications pertaining to biomass usage have been retrofitted to this basic structure. Common assumptions used in the technical assessment for the base case and the BECCS cases are summarised in Table 3.3. Details on assumptions specific to the individual CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies are presented in section 3.7.

The raw materials are ground by ball milling technique in the raw mill; in this stage, materials are dried and reduced in size before they are sent to the pre-heater. The hot exit gas from the pre-heater provides the heat required for drying. The dried raw meal reaches the pre-heater at a temperature of  $60^{\circ}$ C [136]. A five stage pre-heater is employed. During the pre-heating process, 18% of CaCO<sub>3</sub> and MgCO<sub>3</sub> are decomposed to form CaO and MgO. This assessment doesn't go into the details of how much of each of the components of clinker (C<sub>3</sub>S, C<sub>2</sub>S, C<sub>3</sub>A, C<sub>4</sub>AF) would be formed at each stage, but it can be safely assumed that the CaO formed would bond with an equivalent (molar) quantity of the additives (SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) to form some clinker. In the pre-calciner stage, 77% of the calcination takes place and more clinker is formed, and the remaining calcination occurs in the kiln [127]; a 100% calcination rate is assumed. The pre-heated

<sup>2</sup> The average share of clinker in the cement produced in Europe is 73.7%.

General Assumptions		Source
Composition of air:	78% $N_2$ , 22% $O_2$ (assume $N_2$	
	from air is inert)	
Constant air leak all year-round:	Constant flue gas conditions	
Air in-leak (kg/kg <sub>clk</sub> ):		[127]
Raw mill	0.5	
Pre-heater	0.15	
Kiln, pre-calciner	0.2	
% calcination: in preheater; before the kiln:	18; 95	[127]
% of total thermal input supplied to Pre-calciner:	60	[127],[136]
Pre-calciner efficiency (%):	90	
Pre-heater efficiency (%):	≈ 86 (avg. of five stages)	[136]
Grate cooler efficiency (%):	≈ 75	[137]
Tertiary air flow rate (kg/kg <sub>clk</sub> ):	0.7	[127],[136]
Secondary air flow rate (kg/kg <sub>cik</sub> ):	0.25	
Primary air flow rate (kg/kg <sub>clk</sub> ):	0.1	[127]
All N, S in the fuel becomes:	$NO_2$ , $SO_2$	
$\Delta H_{f}$ for calcination of CaCO <sub>3</sub> (kJ/mol):	178.8	[141]
Temperature of cooled clinker (°C):	115	[136]
Temperature of cooler exhaust (°C):	285	[136]
Tertiary air temperature (°C):	800	[136]
Secondary air temperature (°C):	1025	[136]
Ambient temperature (°C):	15	[124]
Electric power consumption for base cement plant:	132 kWh/t <sub>clk</sub>	[134]

Table 3.3: Common assumptions used in technical assessment

meal and the pre-calcined meal comprises of the clinker components formed due to the part of the raw meal that is calcined and also the part of the meal which remains to be calcined in the next stages.  $CO_2$  is formed in the pre-heater, the pre-calciner and the kiln.

To reach the temperatures of 870°C and 1450°C in the pre-calciner and the kiln, coal is supplied for thermal energy.  $CO_2$  formed by the combustion of coal is part of the exit gas. As illustrated in the process flow diagram (figure 3.3), the exit gas flows in the reverse direction. The outgoing hot flue gas at every stage pre-heats the incoming meal based on the counter-flow heat exchange principle. The flue gas is eventually removed from the exhaust filter placed near the raw mill. Dust (particulate matter) is produced in cement production process. In this model, it is assumed that the flow of dust is in the forward direction of mass flow, along with the products; this assumption is made for the reason that in this thesis, estimating the the rate of  $CO_2$  emitted and energy consumption values are primary objectives and the the flow rates of dust do not affect any of these parameters. For the same reason, ash from the fuel is assumed to be part of the reverse direction of mass flow, that is, along with the exit (flue) gas.

The kiln exit (clinker) is sent to a cooler. A grate cooler is chosen to enhance the efficiency, as discussed in 2.2.1. Cool air input is sent to the cooler to cool the kiln exit. After taking heat from the clinker, part of the hot excess air is sent to the kiln and the pre-calciner as secondary and tertiary air respectively. These amounts are estimated based on the assumptions listed in Table 3.3; a cooler efficiency of about 75% (which is the average efficiency of a reciprocating grate cooler [137] [138]) is assumed. The excess hot air flows through an ESP (electrostatic precipitator) to remove dust and particulate matter.

Air in-leaks occur in the raw mill, pre-heater, pre-calciner and the kiln and they are unavoidable. The nitrogen in the air in-leaks forms part of the exit gas. This decreases the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the flue gas and increases volume flow rate of the flue gas [127]. Part of the oxygen in the air is consumed by the C, N, S and H in the fuel to form  $CO_2$ ,  $NO_2$ ,  $SO_2$ , and water vapor respectively; these gases along with the remaining oxygen and nitrogen from the air are also part of the exit (flue) gas. Primary air is fed into the kiln, along with the fuel injection.

Mass balance is set up for the base configuration described. A complete energy balance has not been performed (it is beyond the scope of this thesis). But for each unit, the total enthalpy values of the in-flows and out-flows are estimated; to meet the thermal energy demands of each process unit. The enthalpy values of the flows in and out of the units are estimated using the temperature, specific heat ( $C_p$ ) and the mass flow rate. As mentioned in Table 2.1, when a preheater and pre-calciner are employed in a dry process, thermal energy of about 3.1 to 3.4 of MJ per kg of clinker (kg<sub>clk</sub>) is required. The thermal energy consumption in the reference cement plant is in alignment with this value.

On estimating the rate of raw meal consumption and fuel (coal in the base case) consumption, the rate of  $CO_2$  emitted from the cement plant has been estimated. **CO<sub>2</sub> emission intensity** is estimated as the amount of  $CO_2$  emitted per tonne of the clinker produced. The value of electric power consumption (in kWh per tonne of clinker) has been taken from IEA's technical report based on which the configuration of the reference cement plant (without CCS) for this thesis has been set up [134].

#### 3.4 ECONOMIC EVALUATION

An Excel model for estimation of the economic parameters was developed. The objective of the economic assessment was to estimate the levelised costs of clinker (LCOC). The geographical boundary considered in the economic assessment is Europe (average cost/price values in the EU region are used). The cost methodology employed is presented in this section. The evaluation comprised of estimating capital investment costs, operating costs (fixed and variable) of the cement plant without  $CO_2$  capture and for all the BECCS scenarios (section 3.7). All economic assessments are reported on a 2018 basis. The costs of equipment were translated (equated) to 2018 basis using the Chemical Engineering Plant Cost Index (CEPCI) (presented in table 3.4) as indicated by equation 1. The economic assumptions common to all  $CO_2$  capture scenarios are presented in Table 3.5.

Year	CEPCI
2008	575.4
2010	550.8
2013	567.3
2014	576.1
2015	556.8
2016	541.7
2017	567.5
2018	603.1

Table 3.4: CEPCI values [139]

## 3.4.1 Capital expenses (CapEx):

The total capital investment required is referred to as CapEx and it was determined by estimating the total plant costs (TPC). TPC for the BECCS technologies ( $TPC_{BECCS}$ ) includes the cement

$EC_{2018} = EC_{yeart} * \left(\frac{603.1}{CEPCI_{yeart}}\right)$	Eqn. [1]
$EC_{scaled} = EC_{base} * \left(\frac{capacity_{scaled}}{capacity_{base}}\right)^{0.6}$	Eqn. [2]
$TDC = EC + IC + C_{Process}$	Eqn. [3]
TPC = TDC + Indirect Costs + Owner's Costs + C <sub>Project</sub>	Eqn. [4]
CapEx = TPC + Start-up Costs	Eqn. [5]

plant costs (TPC<sub>base</sub>) and the retrofit CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant costs (TPC<sub>retrofit</sub>). Total plant costs are estimated by totalling the equipment costs (EC), installation costs (IC), process contingencies (C<sub>Process</sub>), indirect costs, owner's costs and project contingencies (C<sub>Project</sub>) as shown in equations 3 and 4.

- Equipment costs (EC): EC includes the sum of the costs of all equipment of the different processes involved. They were estimated using the parameters derived from the results of the technical assessment and based on expressions (or assumptions) obtained from literature (stated in section 3.7).
- Installation costs (IC): IC refers to the expenses incurred while integrating the equipment into the plant, such as civil works, erection, etc. The installation costs vary depending on the complexity of the equipment and they are calculated in techno-economic studies as a factor of the equipment costs (EC). In this thesis, for individual equipment in case of each of the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies, either installation costs are calculated using factors obtained from literature (or) the total value of equipment and installation costs (EC+IC) are directly obtained and scaled. The assumptions for individual equipment of the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plants are mentioned in section 3.7. For the base cement plant however, the total of equipment and installation costs are taken from IEA's technical report [134] and updated using CEPCI<sup>3</sup>.
- Indirect costs: These include costs for yard improvement, building, service facilities, engineering/consultancy costs.
- Owner's costs: These include costs for planning, designing and commissioning the cement plant.

For the  $CO_2$  capture equipment, the equipment costs were scaled on the basis of their capacity and CEPCI (as shown in equations 1 and 2<sup>4</sup>). A scaling factor was used to scale the equipment, which usually varies depending on the complexity of the equipment. In this thesis, a scaling factor of 0.6 was used for all the equipment [140]. For some equipment (such as ASU, CPU), the cost expressions were directly obtained from literature and they are stated in section 3.7.

Total direct costs (TDC) were calculated as the sum of equipment and installation costs, after including the process contingencies. Process contingencies ( $C_{\text{process}}$ ) were included to reflect the variations in the level of maturity between the considered CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies. They were calculated as a fraction of the sum of equipment and installation costs. Considering 'n<sup>th</sup> of a kind' estimate, the technology was assumed to be mature and commercially well-established. Therefore, additional costs due to first time setting up are neglected (excluded) for this kind of a situation. Even if CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies are not mature enough in practice, this assumption was made as the assessment was carried out with the objective of enabling retrofitting of such technologies, once they attain a certain level of maturity, scaling up the TRL scale.

<sup>3</sup> The size of the base cement plant in this thesis is the same as that in the stated reference, therefore there is no need for scaling based on the capacity.

<sup>4</sup> If the sum of equipment and installation costs were obtained directly from literature, then (EC+IC) was scaled and updated with CEPCI using the equations 1 and 2.



Figure 3.4: Elements of capital expenses (CapEx) in this evaluation

Start-up costs are incurred before the set up plants are actually in operation, but after installation of the equipment. A value of 7.5% of the total plant costs was assumed here [141]. To get CapEx, the total plant costs were added with the start-up costs. The capital expenses (CapEx) estimated for the base year were translated to a yearly basis while estimating the levelised costs. This is to account for depreciation<sup>5</sup>. A construction time of 2 years is assumed each for the cement plant and the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant. Allocation of capital expenses across both the years is assumed to be 50% [142]. CapEx is determined using the equations numbered as 3, 4 and 5.

## 3.4.2 Operating expenses (OpEx):

Operating expenses include costs incurred due to utilities and consumables, labor, maintenance, insurance and local taxes. They are categorized further into variable operating expenses (variable OpEx) and fixed operating expenses (fixed OpEx). Variable OpEx refers to the costs of utilities and consumables (fuel (coal [143], biomass), raw materials, electricity, operation & maintenance) and are evaluated based on the results of the technical assessment; the costs are subject to change depending on the  $CO_2$  capture technology and its process requirements. The capture technology specific consumables are included under variable OpEx; for instance, the price of MEA solvent in case of MEA based  $CO_2$  capture. The costs incurred for  $CO_2$  transportation and storage are estimated using the assumptions listed below and they are categorized under variable OpEx as they are dependent on the amount of  $CO_2$  that is captured and compressed; therefore these costs are subject to change depending upon the biomass used and the  $CO_2$  capture technology.

- Cost of CO<sub>2</sub> transport<sup>6</sup>: 6 €/t<sub>CO2</sub> [111].
- Cost of CO<sub>2</sub> storage<sup>7</sup>: 10 €/t<sub>CO2</sub> [118].

Fixed OpEx includes the following:

<sup>5</sup> Depreciation accounts for the equipment's loss of value over time.

 $<sup>6\;</sup>$  Unit transportation costs for offshore pipeline transportation (500 km).

<sup>7</sup> Storage cost in the medium cost scenario for offshore DOGF, with no possibility of re-using existing wells (NoLeg).
Main assumptions for Economic Evaluation						
General	Value	Source				
Cost basis	€ 2018					
Economic operating lifetime, n (years)	25	[134]				
Discount rate, i (%)	8	[134]				
Inflation rate (%)	0	[134]				
Capacity factor (%)	90 ª					
ОрЕх	Value	Source				
Price of raw meal (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	5 <sup>b</sup>	[28] [134]				
Coal price (€/t)	60.4	[143]				
Price of biomass (€/t):						
Torrified rice husk pellets	131.3 °	[53] [54]				
Torrified wood pellets	168.2 <sup>d</sup>	[55]				
Sewage sludge (dried)	120.7 <sup>e</sup>	[154]				
Municipal solid waste	89.5 <sup>f</sup>	[85]				
Price of electricity (€/MWh)	114.2 <sup>g</sup>	[167]				
Price of process water (€/t)	0.1	[127]				
Other variable Operation & Maintenance costs (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	1.1	[28]				
Operating labor (no. of persons):						
Cement plant	100	[28]				
<ul> <li>CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant</li> </ul>	20					
Cost of labor per person (k€/year)	60	[134]				
Maintenance costs (% of Total Plant Costs, TPC)	2.5	[28]				
Insurance and local taxes (% of TPC)	2	[28]				
CapEx	Value	Source				
Total installed costs (EC + IC) for base cement plant, M€	155 <sup>h</sup>	[134]				
Process contingencies for base cement plant, % of (EC + IC)	10	[134]				
Indirect costs (% of Total Direct Costs, TDC)	14	[28]				
Owner's costs (% of TDC)	7	[28]				
Project contingencies (% of TDC)	15	[28]				
Start-up costs (% of TPC)	7.5					

Table 3.5: Assumptions used in economic assessment (common to all CO<sub>2</sub> capture scenarios)

a - Capacity factor values in IEA [132] and CEMCAP's [135] reports are 85 and 91.3% respectively.

b – The average cost of raw materials (limestone, sand, iron oxide, shale).

c – The average costs of local agricultural residue (including transport costs) for usage in Europe (2010) is 62 \$/tonne, the cost of pelletising (2010) is 53 \$/tonne and the torrefaction costs (2014) are 23 \$/tonne. All values are adjusted for inflation to 2018 and converted to Euros (using USD – Euro conversion rate of 0.848).

d – Price of torrified wood pellets in Europe (imported) for 2017 is 166  $\in$ /t; adjusted for inflation to 2018.

e - The cost of wet sludge after drying/dewatering using belt drying system, expressed as 106 €/ton of dry sludge for the year 2008; adjusted for inflation to 2018.

f – Average costs (collection) of residual solid waste in 15 countries in EU (2001) is 67.3  $\notin$ /t, adjusted to 2018.

g – The average cost of electricity in EU-28 (year 2018), for non-household consumers.

h – Total installed costs (the sum of EC & IC) of 145.5€ were corrected with CEPCI index from IEA 2013 report.



Figure 3.5: Elements of operating expenses (OpEx) in this evaluation

- Labor costs: this includes operating labor, administrative and support labor. Administrative and labor costs are assumed to be 30% of the operating labor and the maintenance labor costs [134].
- Maintenance costs: This includes the costs of preventive and corrective maintenance (replacing faulty components, materials). Maintenance labor costs are assumed to be 40% of the total value for maintenance.
- Total annual cost of insurance and local property taxes of 2% of the total plant costs is considered [141]. This also includes miscellaneous regulatory and overhead fees.

No  $CO_2$  emission taxation is considered in the evaluation. CapEx and OpEx are estimated for the base year '2018', which is then used to estimate the costs over the entire lifetime, to obtain the levelised costs.

# 3.4.3 Levelised costs of clinker (LCOC):

The definition for levelised costs as stated by IEA/NEA is regarded as the broadest among other definitions: "the present value of the sum of discounted costs divided by total production adjusted for its economic time value" [144]. LCOC is calculated by estimating the total capital and operating expenses incurred over the entire lifetime defined for the economic assessment. It is given by the **ratio of the total lifetime costs to the total lifetime output** (output is clinker) [144]. LCOC is expressed in Euros per tonne of clinker, ' $\epsilon/t_{clk}$ ' and is estimated using equation 6. The allocation of CapEx and OpEx over the economic operating lifetime of the cement plant is depicted in figure 3.6.

The cement plant is constructed over a period of two years post the base year of 2018 (that is, year 1 and 2), followed by which the operation of the cement plant is assumed to begin (that is, starting from year 3 until year 27). The  $CO_2$  capture plant can be retrofitted at any stage during the operating lifetime of the cement plant - it has been assumed in this thesis that the  $CO_2$  capture plant is retrofitted during the 10<sup>th</sup> year of operation (that is, year 12) and constructed over a two year period (that is, year 12 and 13). However this was subjected to a sensitivity analysis by estimating the cost variations when the  $CO_2$  capture plants are retrofitted at different stages of operation.

The capital and operating expenses (related to the cement plant and the  $CO_2$  capture plant) are first estimated for the base year 2018. Using the base year expenses, the yearly expenses

LCOC – levelised cost of clinker (in  $\notin/t_{clk}$ ):

$$LCOC = \frac{\sum_{t=1}^{n+2} \frac{CapEx_t}{C_f} + Fixed OpEx_t + Variable OpEx_t}{(1+i)^t}}{\sum_{t=1}^{n+2} \frac{A, clk_t}{(1+i)^t}}$$

 $CapEx_t = capital expenses in year 't' (in <math>\in$ )

Fixed OpEx<sub>t</sub> and Variable OpEx<sub>t</sub> = fixed and variable operating expenses in year 't' (in  $\in$ )

i = discount rate

n = economic plant lifetime

 $c_{\rm f}$  = capacity factor

A,clk<sub>t</sub> – annual clinker production in year 't' (in tonnes)



**Figure 3.6:** Allocation of capital expenses (CapEx) and operating expenses (OpEx) over the entire lifetime of the cement plant's operation.

as stated in equation 6 are estimated (CapEx<sub>t</sub>, fixed OpEx<sub>t</sub> and variable OpEx<sub>t</sub>) for t = 1 to t = 27. The capital expenses for the cement plant are estimated for the years t = 1 and t = 2 by estimating the TPC<sub>base</sub>. Similarly the capital expenses associated with the retrofitted CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant are estimated by first calculating the retrofit plant costs (TPC<sub>retrofit</sub>). CapEx associated with the retrofit are then estimated for the years t = 12 and t = 13 using TPC<sub>retrofit</sub>. The operating expenses associated with the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology are included post year 12, until year 27. Partial substitution of coal with biomass however, is considered to be implemented from year 1, in the BECCS scenarios.

During the construction of the  $CO_2$  capture plant, the operation of the cement plant may be affected depending on the capture technology. It has been mentioned in literature for oxyfuel combustion capture that it entails a shut down of the cement plant for a six month period - in this thesis, this period of 6 months is assumed to be during the second year of construction of the capture plant (that is, the last 6 months of year 13). However, for the other two  $CO_2$  capture technologies (MEA and CaL), this information was not explicitly available in literature. Therefore an assumption was made that three months of operation of the cement plant will be affected during the construction and setting up of MEA and CaL based  $CO_2$  capture technologies (that is, last three months of year 13).

Levelised costs are standardized on the basis of unit of clinker in this thesis; this is because the direct  $CO_2$  emissions in a cement plant are associated with the production of clinker only. Furthermore, the  $CO_2$  emission intensity and the technical key performance indicators chosen (defined in section 3.5) are also represented per tonne of clinker. However, in the LCOC calculations, the costs pertaining to the cement grinding stage are also included (price of electric power

.....Eqn. [6]

consumed for grinding, price of additives, equipment costs for grinding, etc.); it is just that the standardization of these terms is per tonne of clinker, instead of cement.

## 3.5 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

A comparative assessment has been carried out with the case scenarios evaluated, the five key performance indicators (KPIs) listed in this section are compared with the estimated base case values. The first three indicators are defined to compare the technical performance of the BECCS technologies.

### KPI 1 - Rate of clinker produced:

This indicator refers to quantity of clinker produced (in tonnes per day) on substituting a portion of the coal with biomass. The reduction in thermal input (due to lower heating value of biomass) implies a reduction in the clinker output. The amount of annual cement production (in mega tonnes per year) as a result of reduced clinker, is estimated from this value.

## KPI 2 - Total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided:

 $CO_2$  avoided is defined as the amount of emissions that are avoided on co-firing coal with biomass and retrofitting the  $CO_2$  capture plant, with respect to the initial value of emissions in the reference case (coal without the  $CO_2$  capture plant). Direct ( $e_d$ ) and indirect emissions ( $e_i$ ) are included. Direct emissions refer to emissions due to calcination and fuel combustion at the cement plant. Indirect emissions refer to the emissions due to generation of the electric power consumed by the cement plant. In the reference cement plant, the amount of  $CO_2$  emissions per unit of product is estimated as the  $CO_2$  emission intensity (in  $kg_{CO_2}/t_{clk}$ ). The  $CO_2$  capture plant consumes additional fuel and electricity, which further increases the direct emissions. A fraction of the direct emissions are captured and the net direct emissions in the BECCS case are therefore reduced. The difference between the net direct emissions in the BECCS case<sup>8</sup> and the net direct emissions in the base case are calculated (as illustrated by the diagram in 3.7).

Similarly, the difference in indirect emissions between the BECCS and base case per unit of clinker are estimated using the equation depicted for  $e_i$  in figure 3.7. Indirect CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, are calculated using an electricity generation efficiency of 45% and specific CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (Em<sub>sp,elec</sub>) of 295.8 kg CO<sub>2</sub> per MWh or 0.082 kg CO<sub>2</sub> per MJ. This is based on the contribution of different fuels to electricity generation in the European Union in 2016 [145]. The power consumption in MJ per tonne of clinker is used to estimate the indirect primary energy consumption using the stated efficiency value; and then the specific emission factor is used to estimate the indirect emissions.

A fraction of  $CO_2$  in the BECCS cases is the  $CO_2$  generated by the combustion of biomass in the fuel mix used. It is assumed in the calculations that  $CO_2$  emitted by the combustion of biomass implies an equivalent amount of  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere ( $\mathbf{r}_{bio}$ ). Therefore the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere is included in the term 'total  $CO_2$  avoided'. Different biomass types have varied biogenic content, particularly solid wastes. The extent of carbon neturality (as assumed in this thesis) for each of the biomass types chosen is explained under the methodology for carbon accounting in section 3.6.

The total  $CO_2$  avoided is obtained as the difference in total  $CO_2$  emission intensities - direct and indirect, to which the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere is added, as illustrated by the formula in figure 3.7.

<sup>8</sup> Note that the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the BECCS case refers to the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted after a fraction of the total emissions is captured by the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology used.



Figure 3.7: Diagram to illustrate direct CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (left) and the formula to estimate 'total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided' (right)

# KPI 3 - Specific primary energy consumption per CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (SPECCA):

SPECCA is defined as the incremental primary energy required to avoid  $CO_2$  emissions to the atmosphere [110] [146]. The reference plant consumes thermal energy (in the form of coal) and electric power; when the  $CO_2$  capture plant is retrofitted, additional energy (thermal and electrical) is consumed. This additional primary energy consumption per unit of avoided  $CO_2$  is termed as SPECCA (formula used is mentioned in figure 3.8). To understand 'primary energy consumption', the terms 'direct' and 'indirect' fuel consumption are defined:

- Direct fuel consumption (q<sub>d</sub>): This indicates the primary energy consumed in the cement plant or the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant, through combustion of the fuel employed per unit of clinker produced (MJ/t<sub>clk</sub>).
- Indirect fuel consumption: This indicates the primary energy consumption associated with the electric power consumption (q<sub>i</sub>) in the cement plant or the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant. By defining a reference electric efficiency (45%), the energy consumed (in the form of fuel) to generate the electric power that is required for the cement plant (or the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant) has been calculated as 'q<sub>i</sub>/efficiency'.

The total of direct and indirect fuel consumption is referred to as the **total primary energy consumption** and is expressed in  $MJ/t_{clk}$ . The difference in the total primary energy consumption for the BECCS case and the base case is calculated. The ratio of this difference to the total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (KPI 2) is expressed in  $MJ/kg_{CO2}$  as SPECCA.



Figure 3.8: Diagram to illustrate direct and indirect primary energy consumption (left) and the formula to estimate 'SPECCA' (right)

The following two indicators are defined to compare the economic performance of the BECCS technologies.

# KPI 4 - Cement production cost (CPC)<sup>9</sup>:

CPC is estimated by first obtaining the levelised costs of clinker (LCOC). The cement production costs are calculated from the levelised costs of clinker by using the clinker-cement factor of 0.737. CPC is obtained using equation 7 and is expressed in ' $\notin$ /t<sub>cement</sub>'.

$$CPC (\notin/t_{cement}) = 0.737 * LCOC \qquad \dots Eqn. [7]$$

$$Cost of CO_2 avoided = \frac{(LCOC_{BECCS} - LCOC_{Base})}{Total CO_2 avoided} \qquad \dots Eqn. [8]$$

## KPI 5 - Cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided:

The cost per unit of avoided  $CO_2$  incurred for the BECCS technology used for a cement plant is estimated in accordance with the **exhaustive** method as described in [147]. The paper describes three methods - exhaustive, net present value and annualisation methods to calculate  $CO_2$  avoidance costs of CCS from industry. It has been stated that, when the production of industrial plant is affected by the implementation of CCS, only the exhaustive method is valid. Therefore, of the three methods, only the 'exhaustive' method can be applied in the context of this thesis, as the production rate of cement is affected due to the BECCS technologies. In the exhaustive method, the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided is calculated as the ratio of the difference between the levelised costs for the BECCS and the base case to the total  $CO_2$  avoided due to the BECCS technology. It is calculated using equation 8 and expressed in ' $\notin/t_{CO_2}$ '.

# 3.6 CARBON ACCOUNTING

In this section, a 'gate-to-gate' accounting of the  $CO_2$  emissions are estimated also by taking into consideration the carbon dioxide that the biomass consumed (the extent to which biomass is C-neutral). Also indirect emissions generated due to cement grinding (outside of the clinker production process) are taken into account. The amount of  $CO_2$  emissions and all other quantities in this section are standardized on the basis of cement produced (per tonne of cement) instead of clinker produced.

Direct emissions are from the results of the technical assessment. For indirect emissions (emissions due to electric power consumption), the electric power consumption for the base cement plant is taken as 97 kWh per tonne of cement [134]. This is the value for the electric power consumption in the clinker production phases (raw material grinding in the raw mill, units where calcination takes place) and the cement grinding (milling) stage, storage, packaging and dispatch of end product (cement).

Factors such as the type of biomass, time horizon, land use change and rotation period determine the extent to which the biomass actually removes biomass [148]. In this thesis, however, rice husk and wood are to be carbon-neutral, that is, they absorb as much  $CO_2$  as they emit when they're burnt. The biogenic content in sewage sludge is assumed to be 100% [134]. Municipal solid waste (MSW) is only partly organic (biogenic). The biogenic content in MSW is assumed to be 35%. 35% biogenic content in MSW is assumed on the basis of a study carried out by EEA

<sup>9</sup> CPC does not include costs for land property, permits, raw material deposits and freight costs for cement delivery as high uncertainty of influencing parameters makes it harder to estimate these terms; moreover, they are unaffected by CO<sub>2</sub> capture [134]



Figure 3.9: System boundary defined for carbon accounting

Table 3.6: Thermal and energy consumption values for the pre-treatment of biomass feedstock

Biomass & pre-treatment methods		Energy consumption	Source	
		Thermal	Electrical	
Rice husk	Torrefaction and	1220	461	[150]
Wood	pelletisation	1220	461	[150]
Sewage sludge	Belt drying	2034	144	[89]
Municipal solid waste	Dewatering	230	212	[151]

\* - dry biomass refers to the biomass suitable for usage in cement plant, after the pre-treatment.

(European Environmental Agency) which reported the average share of biogenic content in the various samples of municipal solid waste studied across the EU-28 region<sup>10</sup> [149].

The system boundary defined for this section is depicted in figure 3.9. The following are included in the boundary defined for the CO<sub>2</sub> accounting - cement manufacture process, with the retrofitted CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant, storage of the captured CO<sub>2</sub>, pre-treatment of the biomass and the CO<sub>2</sub> removed from the atmosphere through the biomass. Performing a life-cycle assessment (LCA) was not part of the objectives of this thesis. Therefore a detailed inventory of the upstream process emissions was not prepared. However, the direct and indirect CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with the pre-treatment of biomass was included. For rice husk and wood, torrefaction and pelletisation are considered [150], belt drying for sewage sludge [89] and de-watering for municipal solid waste [151]. For estimating the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with these processes, the thermal and electrical energy requirements for different types of pre-treatment are assumed from literature, and they are listed in table 3.6. To provide the thermal energy, it was assumed that natural gas (NG) is the fuel used in all the cases and a specific CO<sub>2</sub> emissions factor of 2.75 kg<sub>CO2</sub>/kg<sub>NG</sub> is assumed [152].

# 3.7 BECCS SCENARIOS ASSESSED

This section discusses the BECCS scenarios which are the main focus of this thesis. Process flow diagrams are depicted, the  $CO_2$  capture technologies are explained and the assumptions used in the assessment are tabulated for each of the  $CO_2$  capture technologies. The following case scenarios are evaluated:

<sup>10</sup> The share of bio-waste in total MSW in Europe (on an average) is between 30 and 40%, as per a study by the European Environment Agency.

- Co-firing biomass with coal, the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology here is post combustion using mono-ethanol amine by the principle of chemical absorption; referred to as **MEA**.
- Co-firing biomass with coal, the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology involved is post combustion using tail-end calcium looping; referred to as **CaL**.
- Co-firing biomass with coal, the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology involved is oxyfuel combustion; referred to as **Oxyfuel**.
- Using the ash obtained from biomass co-firing as a raw material for clinker production or an additive in the cement grinding process.

The four biomass options chosen for direct co-firing with coal are: torrified rice husk pellets (RHP), torrified wood pellets (WP), dry sewage sludge (SS) and municipal solid waste (MSW). In the fourth BECCS scenario, using the ash obtained as a result of direct co-firing of coal with biomass in the raw meal or as an additive for cement grinding is explored for all of the  $CO_2$  capture technologies assessed. The composition of the fuels are depicted in Table 3.7.

Γ			Coal		RHP			WP		S	s		MSW	
tl	heir heati	ng values	3											
T	able 3.7:	Compos	ition (mass	fraction	in %) c	of coal	[135]	and	biomass	[153] a	is used i	in this	thesis,	with

	Coal	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Ash	16.5	16.12	0.5	32.3	16.82
С	69	47.85	50.15	31	49.23
0	9	26.47	43.18	26.5	23.73
Н	4	4.01	6.07	4.6	8.15
N	0.5	0.43	0.09	4.5	1.82
S	0.5	0.05	0.01	1.1	0.25
Moisture	0.5	5.07	-	-	-
LHV (MJ/kg)	27.2	16.16	21	10.97	18.7

RHP and WP are purchased directly in their torrified and pelletised forms. RHP, WP and MSW are obtained such that they can be directly fed for co-firing with coal. Sewage sludge is also purchased in its dry (dewatered) form; it was discussed in section 2.2.4 that sludge is best suited for co-firing after pre-drying. It is therefore assumed that dried sludge is sourced for usage in the cement plant [154].

A co-firing rate of 30% was decided for the four chosen biomass options to enable a fair comparison. This is in accordance with the average substitution rate of alternative fuels (including biomass and wastes) in cement plants across Europe - 30.5% on thermal-basis [134]. In this thesis, however, substitution on mass-basis has been considered. Another basis for deciding 30% as the co-firing rate is that there are no major negative environmental impacts for this value in all the four alternative fuel options. This was discussed in chapter 2.

Owing to the emphasis on retrofitting in this thesis, the capacity of the furnace is held constant constant while replacing a portion of the heating fuel used in the base cement plant (coal). Due to the low energy of biomass, it is expected to alter the output flow rate of clinker. To estimate this, and thereby the reduced annual cement production, the net thermal energy consumption in the base cement plant has been used to estimate the fraction of the thermal input that is consumed for the formation of clinker. The clinker formation energy (in kcal/kg<sub>clk</sub>) is estimated as [155]:

Eqn [9]: Formation energy =  $7.646[CaO] + 6.48[MgO] + 4.11[Al_2O_3] - 5.116[SiO_2] - 0.59[Fe_2O_3]$ 

where [X] represents the percentage of component 'X' in the clinker produced.

A CO<sub>2</sub> capture rate of 90% is assumed in this thesis for all the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies. This refers to the fraction of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided from the flue gas in the cement plant.

### 3.7.1 Scenario 1: Post combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture using MEA

Mono-ethanol amine ( $C_2H_7NO$ ) - based CO<sub>2</sub> capture is an end-of-pipe option. The flue gas from the raw mill is sent through a filter to remove the particulate matter (ash, dust); the capture units are retrofitted post the filter as shown in the process flow diagram in figure 3.10. For effective absorption by MEA, it is imperative to have very minimal SO<sub>2</sub> and NO<sub>2</sub> in the flue gas [127]. The flue gas stream from the filter is taken through a Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction (SNCR) process to reduce the NO<sub>2</sub>. Vaporized ammonia (NH<sub>3</sub>) is supplied as a reducing agent; the quantity of this is calculated on the basis of the molar quantity of NO<sub>2</sub> present in the incoming flue gas stream. Part of the NH<sub>3</sub> exits the unit, which leads to lower reduction rates (this is referred to as NH<sub>3</sub> slip). To deal with this and ensure higher reduction rates, increasing the rate of NH<sub>3</sub> supplied is considered; it has been assumed that 1.5 times the stoichiometric amount is fed to achieve a reduction of NO<sub>2</sub> to a concentration suitable for MEA absortion<sup>11</sup> [135] [156]. The corresponding equation for NO<sub>2</sub> reduction is:

 $4 \operatorname{NH}_3 + 2 \operatorname{NO}_2 + \operatorname{O}_2 \longrightarrow 3 \operatorname{N}_2 + 6 \operatorname{H}_2 \operatorname{O}$ 

The flue gas stream exiting the SNCR unit is subject to flue gas desulphurization (FGD), to remove the SO<sub>2</sub> from the flue gas. Limestone and water are sent in as inputs and gypsum is formed, which is then removed from the unit. The equation involved is: CaCO<sub>3</sub> + SO<sub>2</sub> + 2 H<sub>2</sub>O + 0.5 O<sub>2</sub>  $\longrightarrow$  CaSO<sub>4</sub> · 2 H<sub>2</sub>O + CO<sub>2</sub>

The remaining  $CaCO_3$  is removed as the effluent out of the FGD unit. The wet limestone slurry cools the gas and the flue gas released from the FGD unit will have a temperature of 50°C, which is the temperature suitable for MEA absorption [127]. Flue gas is then blown to the absorption unit. The incoming flue gas stream comes into contact with the  $CO_2$ -lean MEA which is recirculated from the desorber and the make-up MEA.  $CO_2$  is absorbed by the MEA and the  $CO_2$ -rich MEA is sent to the desorber for regeneration. The absorber-desorber system should ideally be a closed-loop system where the MEA is recirculated to the absorber<sup>12</sup> once the  $CO_2$  has been stripped off in the desorber. However some components of the flue gas react with MEA to form amine salts<sup>13</sup>. It is to compensate this, that the make-up MEA is sent in to the absorber. The corresponding equation of the absorption process is:

 $OH-C_2H_4-NH_2+H_2O+CO_2 \longrightarrow OH-C_2H_4-NH_3^++HCO_3^-$ 

Low pressure steam is required for the desorber [157] [158] [159]. A biomass-fired boiler is installed on-site to generate steam for the desorber. The emissions from the boiler are not cap-tured<sup>14</sup>. The biomass chosen for co-firing is also used to fire the steam boiler and an efficiency of 90% is assumed [160].

<sup>11</sup> NO<sub>x</sub> concentration at absorber inlet for MEA absorption should be limited to 410 mg/Nm<sup>3</sup> [127]

<sup>12</sup> There is exchange of heat on the counterflow principle. The recirculation loop b/w the absorber and desorber is completed by a heat exchanger, which is not shown in the process flow diagram; However its costs have been accounted for.

<sup>13</sup> Thermal reclaiming of MEA solvent to remove the heat stable salts or amine degradation products is not considered in this thesis

<sup>14</sup> The steam requirement for desorption is estimated based on the amount of  $CO_2$  captured (check assumptions in Table 3.8). Using the thermal energy value, the rate of fuel (NG) consumption in the boiler is estimated. If emissions from the steam boiler were to be captured, steam requirement would further increase and hence this hasn't been considered in this thesis.



Figure 3.10: Process flow diagram for clinker production process with (partial) biomass and CO<sub>2</sub> capture using MEA scrubbing

Technical	Value	Source
Thermal energy for capture (MJ/kg <sub>co2</sub> )	3.79	[159]
Electric power cons. for $CO_2$ compression (MJ/kg <sub>co2</sub> )	0.31	[159]
Electric power cons. for other $CO_2$ capture units (MJ/kg <sub>CO2</sub> )	0.13 ª	[159]
CO <sub>2</sub> rich and lean loading (mol <sub>co2</sub> /mol <sub>MEA</sub> )	0.49, 0.27	[159]
MEA make-up (kg/t <sub>co2</sub> captured)	4.7	[159]
Electric power consumption for SNCR (MJ/kg NO <sub>2</sub> removed)	1.9 <sup>b</sup>	[127]
Electric power consumption for FGD (MJ/kg SO <sub>2</sub> retained)	8.5 <sup>b</sup>	[127]
Limestone required for FGD (kg/kg <sub>so2</sub> retained)	4	[148]
Cooling water requirement ( $m^3$ /ton CO <sub>2</sub> )	106 °	[157]
Economic	Value	Source
Price of MEA (€/t)	1450	[28]
Price of NH <sub>3</sub> solution for SNCR (€/t)	130	[28]
Price of CaCO₃ for FGD (€/t)	3	[134]
Price of cooling water (€/m³)	0.035	[117]
Process contingency (% of EC+IC)	18 <sup>e</sup>	[28]
Equipment cost (EC) and Installation cost (IC):		
Cost (EC + IC) of auxiliary steam boiler ( $M \in_{2018}$ )	11.75 <sup>f</sup>	[164]
Total direct costs of SNCR system (M€)	1.06 <sup>g</sup>	[142]
Total direct costs of FGD system (M€)	20.94 <sup>g</sup>	[142]
(EC + IC) for CO <sub>2</sub> drying and compression unit (M $\in_{2018}$ )	22.69 <sup>i</sup> #	[164]
(EC + IC) for other CO <sub>2</sub> capture units (M€ <sub>2018</sub> )	72.29 <sup>j#</sup>	[164]

 Table 3.8: Assumptions specific to MEA scrubbing based CO<sub>2</sub> capture

a – Other units include absorber, desorber, cooler, amine filter, pumps & heat exchanger.

b - Based on operating power of 0.3 and 1.79 MW<sub>e</sub> for SNCR and FGD respectively; the values expressed are calculated based on the rates: 0.16 kg/s NO<sub>2</sub> removed and 0.21 kg/s SO<sub>2</sub> retained.

c – Total cooling water requirement for desorber, cooler, condensation and compression intercooling.

d – Natural gas prices for non-household consumers in EU-28 (2018 – average of two seasons) is 7.5463 €/GJ.

e – Process contingency of 15% based on maturity level of technology and 3% based on level of detail of the equipment list.

f – The total installed cost (EC+IC) of an auxiliary steam boiler was updated using CEPCI from its value in 2014, 11.22 M€. The steam generation by the boiler in the stated reference is 681.8 GJ/h = 189.4 MW; the EC mentioned in the table will be scaled based on steam demand for the BECCS cases in this thesis using scaling factor of 0.6.

g – Total direct costs (TDC) include EC, IC and process contingencies; updated from the stated reference (1 M€ for SNCR and 19.7 M€ for FGD in 2017), which has  $CO_2$  capture rate of 26.1 kg/s. The value will be scaled based on  $CO_2$  capture rate of the BECCS cases in this thesis. This thesis uses the same process contingency value as in the stated reference; hence TDC has been taken directly.

i – Value is updated using CEPCI from total installed costs (EC+IC) in the stated reference (2014) - 21.67 M€.

j – Value is updated using CEPCI from total installed costs (EC+IC) in the stated reference (2014) - absorber (32.02 M€), desorber (21.48 M€), cooler (7.06 M€), heat exchanger (1.95 M€), MEA pumps (5.85 M€), MEA processing (0.7 M€).

# - These values will be scaled based on the  $CO_2$  capture rate in this thesis using scaling factor of 0.6 (the  $CO_2$  capture rate in the reference is 161.9 tonnes/hour or 44.9 kg/s).

After the regeneration,  $CO_2$  is cooled using water. Cooling water requirements are stated in table 3.8 [157] [117]. Cooled  $CO_2$  is then dried and compressed to 110 bar pressure in a compression unit [159] and sent for further transportation via pipelines.

### 3.7.2 Scenario 2: Tail-end Calcium Looping process for CO<sub>2</sub> capture

In a calcium looping (CaL) process, integration level is defined as the ratio of limestone fed for the CaL process to the total limestone fed to the cement plant with the CaL capture unit. This parameter decides the extent to which the CaL unit is integrated into the cement plant, in a tailend scenario. Integration level of 25% is considered here<sup>15</sup>. This means that, only  $3/4^{\text{th}}$  of the CaCO<sub>3</sub> in the raw meal is fed to the raw mill; the other  $1/4^{\text{th}}$  of the CaCO<sub>3</sub> is fed to the new calciner unit which is part of the retrofitted capture plant.

The process flow diagram for tail-end CaL process retrofitted to the base cement plant is shown in figure 3.11. The flue gas from the pre-heater exit is taken to the CaL process for CO<sub>2</sub> capture as high temperature in the flue gas stream is required for the carbonation process [109]. Another reason is to evade high air infiltration in the raw mill that would reduce the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the flue gas (thereby increasing the size and cost of the CaL reactors<sup>16</sup> [110]). CaL process is based on the reversible carbonation reaction which uses a calcium oxide (CaO) sorbent to capture the CO<sub>2</sub>. The process is carried out in two interconnected reactors - carbonator and calciner. The CO<sub>2</sub> in the flue gas stream reacts with the CaO sorbent in the carbonator to form CaCO<sub>3</sub>, which is transferred to the calciner. Fuel (biomass), limestone and oxygen (O<sub>2</sub> rich air) are fed into the calciner; oxy-combustion of fuel is carried out in the calciner to provide thermal energy for the CaO sorbent regeneration. Reverse calcination occurs (100% calcination is assumed in the oxyfired calciner [110] [109]) and a CO<sub>2</sub>-rich gaseous stream is produced which is sent to a CO<sub>2</sub> compression and purification unit (CPU).

CaSO<sub>4</sub> is unavoidably formed in the calciner by the reaction of CaO with SO<sub>2</sub> generated from fuel combustion [110] [109]. CaSO<sub>4</sub> concentrations for varied integration levels (from 15 to 80%) are within the 2.6%wt limit specified for Portland cement clinker [110]. Still, part of the CaO sorbent is continuously purged to avoid excessive build-up of CaSO<sub>4</sub> and ash as they reduce the average activity of the solids for CO<sub>2</sub> capture [128]. This is why the calciner is compensated with make-up CaCO<sub>3</sub><sup>17</sup>. The CaO-rich solid purge extracted (which also contains CaSO<sub>4</sub> and ash) is cooled to nearly ambient temperature [110] and joins the raw meal in the base plant, before the raw milling stage. Calciner operates at a temperature of 950°C and therefore cooling is necessary before feeding to the raw mill. The rate of clinker produced increases as a result of the purge stream<sup>18</sup>.

The limestone fed to the CaL process is milled in a dedicated limestone crusher. In spite of this, the CaO-rich solid purge is sent to the raw mill. This is because, in the configuration, the reactors (carbonator and calciner) are circulating fluidized beds (CFB). An average particle size in the range of 100 to 300  $\mu$ m is suitable for fluidized beds. Therefore, the dedicated limestone crusher (mill) installed for the CaL process prepares it for fluidized operation. The purge stream, when taken to the raw mill is milled to an average particle size of 10 to 20  $\mu$ m, which is suitable for clinker production [110] [128].

<sup>15</sup> Integration levels ranging from 15 to 80% are assessed in techno-economic studies for CaL and it has been reported that retrofitability is more feasible in case of lower integration levels [110].

<sup>16</sup> If flue gas stream is taken from the raw mill instead, that would necessitate modifications in the raw mill operation to reduce air infiltration, which is not desirable for retrofitting [24] [110]. Furthermore it has been reported that the raw mill must not operate under air-tight conditions [134].

<sup>17</sup> Repeated looping cycles will lead to deterioration of CO<sub>2</sub> absorption capacity [109], hence the need for make-up CaCO<sub>3</sub>.

<sup>18</sup> There is also a possibility to adjust the amount of additives fed to the raw mill taking into account the  $SiO_2$ ,  $Fe_2O_3$  and  $Al_2O_3$  in the ash contained in the CaL purge [110]. However this is not considered here as this possibility is being studied later in Scenario 4.



Figure 3.11: Process flow diagram for clinker production process with (partial) biomass and calcium looping (tail-end) CO<sub>2</sub> capture

Technical	Value/Expression	Source
Efficiency of carbonator & calciner (%)	90	[109]
Electric power cons. in ASU (kWh/ton $O_2$ )	226	[156]
Electric power cons. in CPU (MJ/kg $CO_2$ )	0.44	[156]
Electric power cons. in other units in CaL system	34.9 ª	[110]
(kWh <sub>e</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub> )		
Electric power cons. in limestone crusher	0.011 <sup>b</sup>	[127]
(MJ/kg <sub>caCO3</sub> )		
Electricity gen. efficiency in steam cycle (%)	35	[109]
Economic	Value/Expression	Source
Cost of ASU, Equipment costs (EC) + Installation	$m_{02}(in t/day)_{0.6}$	[128]
costs (IC) (M€ <sub>2014</sub> )	$22 * (-432)^{0.0}$	
Cost (EC + IC) of CPU (M€ <sub>2018</sub> )	47.26 °	[164]
Cost of Fluidized bed carbonator ( $M \in_{2014}$ )	$(0.217 * Q, in MW_{th}) + 3.83$ <sup>d</sup>	[128]
Cost of Fluidized bed calciner (M€ <sub>2014</sub> )	0.193 * (Q, in MW ) <sup>0.65</sup> e	[128]
Cost (EC + IC) of a limestone crusher ( $M \in_{2014}$ )	$1.3 * (\frac{m_{caco3}(in t/h)}{30})^{0.67} f$	[128]
Cost of steam cycle, EC + IC ( $\mathcal{E}_{2018}$ /kW <sub>e</sub> )	443.9 <sup>g</sup>	[109]
Cost (EC + IC) of purge cooler (€ <sub>2018</sub> )	12.58 <sup>h</sup>	[127]
Cost (EC + IC) of gas-gas heat exchanger ( $\mathcal{E}_{2018}$ )	1.05	[127]
Price of chemicals required for CPU ( $\epsilon/t_{co2}$ )	0.76	[164]
Process contingencies (%)	32 j	[28]

Table 2.0:	Assumptions	specific to	Calcium	looping	process f	for CO <sub>2</sub>	capture
1abie 3.9. I	assumptions	specific to	Calcium	looping	process i	$CO_2$	capture

a – The value of electric power consumption (kWh) per tonne of clinker is obtained from the stated reference document for IL=25% case. A break-up of this: steam cycle pumps (10.2), auxillaries for heat rejection in steam cycle (8.9), fans in carbonator (14), fuel grinding for CaL calciner (1.8).

b - This is the dedicated limestone mill installed for the CaL process. The power consumption value is obtained from IEA's report with limestone crusher specifications of 0.51 MW of operating power and rate of CaCO<sub>3</sub> supplied is 48.06 kg/s; which amounts to 0.011 MJ/kg<sub>CaCO3</sub>.

c − Cost of CPU is updated using CEPCI from 2014 value of 45.1 M€ where mass flow rate of CO<sub>2</sub> sent to CPU is 186 tonnes/hour. The 2018 cost is later scaled using the estimated flow rate of CO<sub>2</sub> that enters the CPU.

d – The stated expression is for EC (2014) which will be updated using CEPCI. IC is calculated as 110% of EC.

e – The stated expression is for EC (2014) which will be updated using CEPCI. IC is calculated as 107% of EC.

f - The stated expression includes EC and IC (2014) which will be updated using CEPCI.

g – The reference cost for steam cycle has been stated as 500  $kW_e$  (2014), which has been updated using CEPCI and converted to Euro (using exchange rate of 0.848). The cost can be estimated using the amount of electric power generated by the steam cycle (with 35% efficiency).

h – The costs are updated from 2008 value of 12 M€, where flow rate of CaO is 31.92 kg/s. The flow rate of CaO-rich purge estimated in this thesis will be used to scale the 2018 cost value.

i – The costs are updated from 2008 values using CEPCI; this will be scaled based on the incoming heat flow in the heat exchanger (in the stated reference, the corresponding value is 163.4 MJ/s).

j - Process contingency of 20% based on maturity level of technology and 12% based on level of detail of the equipment list.

Reduced limestone for calcination in the base cement plant leads to a corresponding decrease in fuel consumption in the pre-calciner, but not to a great extent in the kiln; this is to maintain a temperature of 1450°C in the kiln [109]. In this thesis, it is assumed that the rate of fuel supplied to the kiln is the same as in the base cement plant without  $CO_2$  capture. Rate of fuel supplied to the CaL calciner is calculated based on the quantity of limestone calcined, heating value of the fuel used and the heat of reaction of calcination process (178.8 kJ/mol). Biomass considered for co-firing in the base cement plant is used as the fuel for this CaL calciner as well. An air separator unit (ASU) is installed on-site to produce an O<sub>2</sub>-rich air for the CaL process; the rate of O<sub>2</sub> supplied is estimated based on the fuel consumption rate and the requirements of oxygen for combustion process within the calciner, which varies depending on the fuel composition of the biomass used [161].

For pipeline transport,  $CO_2$  compression and purification unit (CPU) is designed as a self-refrigerated unit which delivers compressed  $CO_2$  at 110 bar. The CPU includes multi-stage intercooling, drying of the  $CO_2$  stream in molecular sieves, purification of  $CO_2$  by cryogenic distillation<sup>19</sup>, followed by compression [24] [128]. Assumptions specific to CaL capture scenario are listed in table 3.9.

Waste heat recovery is possible in this configuration. There is additional electric power consumption in ASU and CPU; but electric power is also generated by a steam cycle that utilizes waste heat from the process. Sources of waste heat recovery include the clinker cooler, the purge cooler and the carbonator. Excess hot air streams from the grate cooler (clinker cooler) and the purge cooler are taken to the steam cycle. The CO<sub>2</sub> depleted flue gas exits the carbonator at a temperature of 650°C and it has a heat content that exceeds the heat requirement for raw meal drying in the raw mill<sup>20</sup>. Therefore, a heat exchanger is used to cool the CO<sub>2</sub> depleted flue gas to a temperature that is sufficient to meet the thermal demand for raw meal drying (estimated in this thesis to be around 330°C). The excess heat is recovered and sent to the steam cycle. Also the heat in the carbonated solids (at temperature of 650°C) can help reduce the total heat introduced in the CaL system [162]. The dehydration heat in CPU and ASU are assumed to be provided by the waste heat from the cement plant [156] and are not accounted for in this thesis.

## 3.7.3 Scenario 3: Oxyfuel combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture

In oxyfuel combustion capture, the air inputs to the pre-calciner and the kiln are rich in oxygen. To achieve this, an air separator unit (ASU) is installed on-site to strip the air input off its nitrogen and feed  $O_2$  rich air (95%  $O_2$  and 5%  $N_2$ ) to the pre-calciner and kiln units. Combustion in an oxygen-rich environment will ensure higher  $CO_2$  concentration in the flue gas stream and reduced  $N_2$  concentration (compared to other capture scenarios). This enables easier  $CO_2$  separation by cryogenic (physical) process rather than a chemical process (as in the case of MEA-based capture) [163].

Designing an oxy-combustion process requires minimal air-leaks, hence appropriate sealing is needed [127] [164]. In spite of the sealing, there is still a small amount of air in-leak, however the portion of false air in the flue gas can be lowered (than in the other capture scenarios) with the sealing. It has been assumed that about 5% of the exit gas from the kiln and pre-calciner comprise of false air. A portion of the flue gas is recycled to the cement plant to maintain a moderate temperature profile in the combustion process [24]. Otherwise, increased temperature profile in the kiln in case of oxyfuel combustion causes structural damage to equipment [164]. Clinker

<sup>19</sup> CO<sub>2</sub> rich gaseous stream released in the calciner might still have some impurities in the O<sub>2</sub> produced in the ASU, hence purification is required.

<sup>20</sup> The thermal energy requirement for drying the raw meal varies depending on the moisture content in the raw meal. The lower the moisture content, lesser the energy required. From the energy requirements stated in the BAT document [7] for different shares of moisture (%wt), the thermal energy required to dry the raw meal with 1% moisture is roughly estimated as 16 MJ.



Figure 3.12: Process flow diagram for clinker production process with (partial) biomass and oxyfuel combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture

Technical	Value/Expression	Source
Flue gas recycle ratio	0.55 °	[134]
% of false air in exit gas from kiln, pre-calciner (%)	5	
Electric power consumption in CPU (MJ/kg CO <sub>2</sub> )	0.44	[156]
Electric power consumption in ASU (kWh/ton O <sub>2</sub> )	226	[156]
Electric power consumption in cooler (MJ/kg CO <sub>2</sub> )	0.03 <sup>b</sup>	[156]
Electric power cons. in other units (MJ/ kg $CO_2$ )	0.63 °	[156]
Additional power consumed in base plant (kWh/t <sub>clk</sub> )	7 <sup>d</sup>	[156][134]
Economic	Value/Expression	Source
Cost of ASU and CPU	check Table 3.9	
Cost of clinker cooler modification (EC + IC) ( $M \in_{2018}$ )	3.6 <sup>e #</sup>	[142]
Cost (EC + IC) for oxyfuel modifications ( $M \in_{2018}$ )	0.6 <sup>f #</sup>	[142]
Cost (EC + IC) of modified fans (M€ <sub>2018</sub> )	0.6 <sup>g #</sup>	[142]
Cost (EC + IC) of $O_2$ pipes, gas mixer (M $\in_{2018}$ )	0.04 <sup>h</sup>	[142]
Cost (EC + IC) of recycle system (M€ <sub>2018</sub> )	7.1 <sup>i</sup>	[164]
Cost (EC + IC) of flue gas filter ( $M \in_{2018}$ )	11.03	[164]
Cost (EC + IC) of flue gas cooler ( $M \in_{2018}$ )	15.29	[164]
Price of cooling water required (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	0.33	[134]
Process contingencies, % of (EC + IC)	<b>42</b> <sup>j</sup>	[28]

Table 3.10: Assumptions specific to Oxyfuel scenario

a – IEA's report suggests a recycle rate from 0.52 to 0.56; at rates lower than this, gas velocity in the preheater is not enough to disperse the gas. At higher rates however, the  $O_2$  concentration will reduce.

b – Calculated from the stated reference based on power consumption of 0.9 MW for the flue gas cooler and a CO<sub>2</sub> capture rate of 99 tonnes/hour.

c – Other components include recycle ducts, pumps, fans, mixers and condenser. In the stated reference document, these units consume 17.4 MW at a  $CO_2$  capture rate of 99 tonnes/hour.

d - The base cement plant consumes 132 kWh/ $t_{clk}$  and in oxy-fuel combustion, due to the modifications in the plant (cooler, modified fans) it consumes 139 kWh/ $t_{clk}$ .

e – The value refers to the costs for retrofit modifications in case of 2-stage kiln cooler for oxyfuel combustion; Equipment costs of 2.9 M€ and Installation costs of 0.7 M€ for 2017, updated to 2018 using CEPCI.

f – Updated from 2017 costs; the modifications include sealing (0.32 M€), burner modifications for oxyfuel (0.1 M€) and oxy kiln hood (0.2 M€) – the values refer to the sum of Equipment and Installation costs.

g – Fans are modified for sealed operating conditions. Equipment cost (EC) value (2017 basis) is 0.4 M€, Installation costs are calculated as 40% of EC and the costs are then updated to 2018 using CEPCI.

h -  $O_2$  pipes and mixing system for mixing  $O_2$  rich air with the recycled flue gas. EC (2017 basis) is 0.02 M $\in$ , installation costs are calculated as 85% of EC and the costs are then updated to 2018 using CEPCI.

i – Recycle system refers to flue gas recycle pipeline and recycle fan – each 5.73 and 1.08 M€ respectively for the year 2014 for an oxyfuel capture; these costs are updated using CEPCI. Later they will be scaled based on the rate of recycled flue gas in this thesis (the recycle flue gas rate is 273.2 tonnes/hour in the reference).

j – Process contingency of 30% based on maturity level of technology and 12% based on level of detail of the equipment list.

# - The stated reference is based on a cement plant that produces clinker at the rate of 33.5 kg/s. The cost values are scaled using scaling factor of 0.6 and based on the clinker production rate estimated in this thesis.

cooler is modified; a two-stage cooler that separately operates in two different atmospheres is designed. This is to ensure that one part of the cooler comprises of the flue gas and  $O_2$  mixture from the ASU, to be able to possess minimal  $N_2$  content, so that the secondary and tertiary air sent to the kiln and calciner remain unaffected by the cooling air input (which is high in  $N_2$ ). The other part of the cooler comprises of the cooling air<sup>21</sup> - the excess hot air from this part of the cooler is sent to the raw mill for moisture drying; the flue gas is taken out from the pre-heater in the oxyfuel combustion capture<sup>22</sup>. The pre-heater exit gas is taken to a heat exchanger where the thermal energy content in the flue gas is recovered for electricity generation using a steam cycle.

The flue gas, on exchanging heat with water in the heat exchanger, is stripped off the particulate matter in a filter [165]. Followed by this, flue gas is cooled and water content is removed in a condenser; the acidic gases are removed on dissolving in the water [24] (it is assumed that all of NO<sub>2</sub> and SO<sub>2</sub> exit with the water removed [127] [166]). Post the condenser, a portion of the flue gas is recycled to the cement plant. The recycled stream (which is rich in CO<sub>2</sub>) is mixed with the O<sub>2</sub> rich air from the ASU before being fed to the cooler. The remaining fraction of the flue gas after condensation is passed to the CO<sub>2</sub> compression and purification unit (CPU). In the CPU, drying of the CO<sub>2</sub>-rich flue gas takes place, where thermal energy is consumed for the dehydration. After drying, inerts (in this thesis, only N<sub>2</sub>) are removed<sup>23</sup> (purification). This is followed by compression of CO<sub>2</sub> to 110 bar, suitable for pipeline transport. It has been assumed that the leftover oxygen in the CO<sub>2</sub> stream needn't be removed [127]. The process flow diagram for oxyfuel combustion capture is shown in figure 3.12 and the assumptions specific to this capture technology are listed in table 3.10.

#### 3.7.4 Using ash from co-firing as a raw material or an additive

When the ash from biomass co-firing is utilized as a raw material to produce clinker or as an additive while grinding cement, it has potential to further avoid some  $CO_2$  emissions (this was discussed earlier in section 2.2.5). The objective in this scenario is to assess the total  $CO_2$  emissions avoided per tonne of cement as a result of this addition. The ash obtained will have the composition of the blend of both coal ash and the ash of the biomass used (based on the co-firing rate used) (composition of ash is listed in table 3.11). Rice husk ash (RHA) and municipal solid waste ash (MSWA) are incorporated as additives during the cement grinding stage; and on using them, the clinker requirement correspondingly reduces, thereby reducing the  $CO_2$  emissions also, due to reduced raw material and fuel consumption. Sewage sludge ash (SSA) is considered as part of the raw meal; as discussed earlier, they have certain limitations in terms of substitution rates.

The following cases have been assessed:

a) SSA as part of the raw meal in clinker production:

When SSA is incorporated into the raw meal, the share of the other raw materials employed can be decreased in order to receive the same amount of clinker. This implies a reduction in CaCO<sub>3</sub> as well, which has been adjusted based on the share of CaO in the co-fired SSA used in the raw meal. It was discussed in section 2.2.5 that up to 5% of the raw meal can be substituted with SSA (section 2.2.5) and it was also seen that availability of ash is an important parameter to take into consideration. The amount of ash generated for 30% co-firing of sewage sludge with coal was

<sup>21</sup> Taking the recycled gas stream into the cooler will further increase the temperature; which is why a second cooler stage with cool ambient air is preferred [134].

<sup>22</sup> High air in-leaks in the raw mill will further decrease the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration if flue gas is taken from its exit.

<sup>23</sup> Inert removal in the CPU is based on the principle of cryogenic distillation

Composition	MSWA	RHA	SSA	Coal ash
SiO <sub>2</sub>	27.23	82.14	19.2	41.4
Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	11.72	1.34	8.9	27.3
Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	1.8	1.27	10	4
CaO	16.42	1.21	30.6	18.2
MgO	2.52	1.96	2.7	1.7
Others	40.31	12.08	28.6	7.4
Source:	[91]	[92]	[97]	[146]

Table 3.11: Composition of ash (mass fraction in %) as considered in this study

estimated. It was assumed that 90% of the ash generated was available for usage after recovery, following removal from the filter and appropriate washing<sup>24</sup>.

The corresponding increase in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions avoided due to SSA (co-fired) usage in the raw meal was estimated for all the 3 CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies.

b) RHA and MSWA as additives during cement grinding:

In the earlier BECCS scenarios, a clinker-cement factor of 0.737 was used. This means that 73.7% of the cement is comprised of clinker; the other 26.3% consists of additives, primarily gypsum. These additives will also consist of any one of (or a mix of) fly ash, blast furnace slag, pozzolana or limestone. The clinker proportion implies that the cement topology considered is CEM II type; and in this section the objective is to replace clinker to assess the  $CO_2$  reduction potential; therefore the composition of the additives was fixed at 26.3%. And based on the amount of ash recovered from the cement plant co-firing and steam boilers, a fraction of clinker was replaced with the ash; this leads to a corresponding decrease in clinker percentage from 73.7. On substituting clinker with the ash obtained from co-firing at the cement grinding stage, it still possess sufficient clinker (higher than 65%) to fulfil the standard of CEM II type cements (section 2.2.2). The ash from co-firing coal with RHP and MSW were considered for usage as additives in cement grinding.

In case of ash used as additives and raw materials, the amount of total  $CO_2$  emissions avoided (per tonne of cement) was calculated for all the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies and will be compared with emissions avoided in the earlier BECCS scenarios (before incorporating the biobased ash). It must be noted that from here-on, the notations SSA, RHA and MSWA would refer to the ash obtained from co-firing the respective biomass fuels with coal.

<sup>24</sup> This is to ensure that there is enough ash available even when the input flow rate of the raw materials are reduced later on.

In this chapter, the results of the techno-economic assessment are presented and discussed individually for each of the BECCS technologies (in section 4.2). The techno-economic parameters (key performance indicators) are then compared in section 4.3 with each other and with the techno-economic parameters of the base cement plant (listed in section 4.1). The results of carbon accounting are presented in section 4.4 and the sensitivity of the key technical and economic parameters to uncertainties is presented in section 4.5.

# 4.1 REFERENCE CASE SCENARIO

The techno-economic parameters for the base (reference) cement plant (100% coal, without CO<sub>2</sub> capture) are tabulated here:

•	5		1	
Techno-economic para	ameters of the referer	Values from literature		
plan	t in this thesis:		CEMCAP [136]	IEA [127]
Raw meal consumption	(kg/s) *	52.6	55.6	52.4
Clinker production rate	(kg/s) *	33.6	33.5	31.9
Total fuel (coal) consum	ption (kg/s)	3.9	3.9	3.4
<ul> <li>Pre-calciner</li> </ul>		2.3		
• Kiln		1.6		
Thermal energy consum	nption (MJ/kg <sub>clk</sub> )	3.2	3.1	3.3
Clinker composition	CaO	68.4	66.6	100 <sup>b</sup>
(%) *:	SiO <sub>2</sub>	21.9	21.8	
	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	5.5	5.6	
	Fe₂O₃	3.1	2.8	
	MgO	1.1	3.2 ª	
Clinker formation energ	gy (MJ/kg <sub>cik</sub> )	1.8	-	-
Direct CO <sub>2</sub> emissions, e	<sub>d.base</sub> (kg/t <sub>clk</sub> )	843	850	800
Annual cement production (Mt/yr)		1.36	1.36	1
Levelised cost of clinke	r, LCOC <sub>base</sub> (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	74.1	62.6	-
Cement production cos	t (€/t <sub>cement</sub> )	54.6	47.2 °	52.7 <sup>d</sup>

Table 4.1: Key technical and economic values of the reference cement plant

\* - Assumptions

a – This includes MgO, Cl, SO<sub>3</sub>,  $K_2O$ , Na<sub>2</sub>O, left-over CaO and other trace elements (which are not considered in this thesis) which add up to 3.2%.

b – The study by IEA 2013 considers only decomposition of CaCO<sub>3</sub> to CaO as clinker formation reaction.

c, d – Adjusted for inflation from 2014 and 2013 values respectively.

100% calcination of CaCO<sub>3</sub> was assumed, hence there is no left-over CaO in the product; although in practice, this wouldn't be entirely possible. For a raw meal flow rate of 52.6 kg/s, a clinker output flow rate of 33.6 kg/s can be obtained. And this amounts to 1 Mt of clinker production per year, which is the equivalent of 1.36 Mt of cement production per year. The thermal energy consumption is 3.2 MJ/kg<sub>clk</sub> and this is in the range mentioned in section 2.2.1 (3.1 to 3.4 MJ/kg<sub>clk</sub>). The clinker composition listed in table 4.1 was used to calculate the clinker formation

Economic data for 100% Coal scenario:					
Variable OpEx - lifetime (M€)	258.3	Equipment + Installation Costs	155		
		(M€)			
Raw meal	45.8	Process contingencies	15.5		
Fuel (Coal)	64.3	Indirect costs	23.9		
Electricity	138.1	Owner's costs	11.9		
Other variable costs	10.1	Project contingencies	25.6		
Fixed OpEx – lifetime (M€)	173.4	Total Plant Costs, TPC <sub>base</sub> (M€)	231.9		
Operating, admin, support labor	77.8	Start-up costs	17.4		
Insurance & local taxes	42.5	CapEx – base year (M€)	249.3		
Maintenance costs	53.1	CapEx/capacity factor	277		
Total OpEx – lifetime (M€)	431.5	Total CapEx – lifetime (M€)	247		
Total lifetime costs (M€)	678.5	Total lifetime output (Mt)	9.2		

Table 4.2: Break-up of the economic parameters of the reference (base) cement plant

energy using equation [9] mentioned in section 3.7. The CO<sub>2</sub> emission intensity for the reference cement plant (the heating fuel is 100% coal) is 843 kg CO<sub>2</sub> per tonne of clinker, which is within the range specified in literature (800 to 850 kg/t<sub>clk</sub>). This value was later used to estimate the CO<sub>2</sub> avoided in the BECCS cases. The cement production costs (CPC) were estimated as  $54.6 \notin /t_{cement}$ . The corresponding values of the main parameters in two reference documents from literature are listed in table 4.1 alongside the results of the technical assessment for the base case cement plant in this thesis.

A break-up of the levelised costs of clinker is listed in Table 4.2. The components of operating expenses (OpEx) - variable and fixed are listed. The operating expenses listed are lifetime cost values for all the components. The base year capital expenses are also listed. On estimating the total lifetime costs and the total lifetime output, the levelised costs of clinker for the base value was estimated as 74.6  $\notin$ /t<sub>clk</sub>. This value was used to estimate the CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance costs later. CPC evaluated for the reference cement plant in this thesis was observed to be roughly 4% and 16% higher than the production costs in IEA and CEMCAP's reports respectively. This significant variation can be attributed to the different electricity prices used (different year of cost basis) and the capacity factor (90% in this thesis, while IEA and CEMCAP have used 80% and 91.3% respectively). The electricity price assumption used in this thesis was 114.2  $\notin$ /MWh and the values used in the reports of CEMCAP and IEA were 58.1 and 80  $\notin$ /MWh respectively. The assumption for electricity price in this study was roughly 97% and 43% higher than CEMCAP and IEA respectively; and the lifetime electricity costs constitute about 32% of the total lifetime operating expenses, and this significant share could be a reason for the impact of varied electricity prices on the cement production costs.

## 4.2 PROCESS YIELDS AND ECONOMIC MODELING RESULTS

The results of the techno-economic assessment for the BECCS technologies are presented in this section. The impact of direct co-firing of biomass with coal on the clinker production is discussed first; followed by this, the technical and economic results after the retrofitting of the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies are discussed.

Reduction in the rate of clinker on co-firing with biomass:

The clinker formation energy for the estimated clinker composition has been calculated as: 62 MJ/kg; and this accounts for 58% of the total thermal input supplied to the cement plant for

Fuel	Energy to Pre-calciner	Energy to Kiln (MJ/s)	Rate of clinker produced	
	(MJ/s)		kg/s	tonnes/day
100% Coal	63.7	42.4	33.6	2901
30% RHP *	55.9	37.3	29.5	2549
30% WP *	59.3	39.5	31.3	2703
30% SS *	52.5	34.8	27.6	2385
30% MSW *	57.7	38.5	30.4	2629

 Table 4.3: Reduced thermal energy flows into the cement plant and the reduced clinker output due to biomass co-firing

\* - the remaining 70% is coal.

the base case (in the form of coal). The reduced thermal energy input flows to the pre-calciner and kiln units individually in case of 30% co-firing (on a mass-basis) of the chosen biomass options with coal are shown in Table 4.3. The corresponding flow rate of the clinker produced are indicated as well. There is a reduction in the rate owing to the lower heating value (LHV) of the fuel; if 30% of the coal is replaced on a mass basis, then the corresponding mass fraction is substituted by a low energy biomass fuel. Therefore, the net energy content in the co-fired fuel will have 70% of the energy content of coal and the rest of the energy content corresponds to that of biomass. The LHV of the chosen biomass options are the only determining factor in estimating the reduced rate of clinker as a result of the co-firing. Sewage sludge has the least LHV (10.97 MJ/kg) among the chosen biomass types; hence the least rate of clinker produced is observed when **sewage sludge** is co-fired with coal (27.6 kg/s, which is roughly 18% lower than the rate of clinker produced in the cement plant without biomass co-firing). Consequently, wood pellets (the biomass type among the four chosen options with highest LHV, 21 MJ/kg) entail the highest rate of clinker produced on co-firing with coal; the rate obtained with wood pellets is 31.3 kg/s, which is still roughly 7% lower than the reference cement plant (however, the reduction in the output rate is the least).

# 4.2.1 MEA Scenario

The MEA capture plant is retrofitted to the cement plant, with no modifications to the clinker production process. All the operating conditions, the assumptions pertaining to the base case scenario are relevant in the MEA scenario as well. Therefore, the rate of thermal energy supplied and the output rate of clinker is the same as mentioned in Table 4.3. The total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided is specified in table 4.4, along with other key parameters. A break-up of the avoided  $CO_2$  is presented in the table as part of the SPECCA calculations. There is additional fuel consumption in the capture plant - in the biomass-fired boiler installed for steam generation (for the desorber unit to regenerate the  $CO_2$  from MEA). The total  $CO_2$  avoided includes the indirect emissions due to the electric power consumption in the retrofitted capture plant units. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the biomass-fired boiler also contribute to an increase in the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions on-site; however in this thesis, it was assumed that the  $CO_2$  emissions from the combustion of biogenic fuel are offset by an equivalent amount of CO<sub>2</sub> absorbed from the atmosphere by the biogenic fraction in the fuel. Hence the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted from the fraction of the co-fired fuel which comprises of biomass does not result in any net positive  $CO_2$  emissions, and there is no impact on the term total  $CO_2$  avoided, and thereby SPECCA calculations. This is the reason for the partial biogenic nature of municipal solid waste (MSW) resulting in lower  $CO_2$  avoidance rates. The  $CO_2$  avoidance rates in the other three biomass fuels (RHP, WP, SS) are very similar (there is only a variation of maximum 2%); this was because these fuels were assumed to be 100% biogenic (that is, carbon neutral).

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Clinker production, kg/s	29.5	31.3	27.6	30.4
Fuel consumption, kg/s				
Pre-calciner	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
• Kiln	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6
Steam boiler (biomass)	6	5	8.7	5.1
Thermal energy reqd. for desorption (MJ/kg <sub>clk</sub> )	3.2	3.0	3.3	3.1
$CO_2$ emitted (direct), kg <sub>CO2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>	93	88	97	90
$CO_2$ captured, $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$	837	792	872	813
SPECCA Calculations:				
Specific Primary Energy Consumption, MJ/t <sub>clk</sub>	4373	4135	4484	4258
Steam consumption	3525	3335	3580	3424
Electric power consumption (primary energy)				
SNCR	9	7	33	16
• FGD	18	17	36	21
Auxiliaries in capture plant <sup>a</sup>	237	224	241	230
CO <sub>2</sub> Compression	584	553	594	568
Total CO <sub>2</sub> avoided, kg <sub>CO2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>	708	716	703	498
Difference in direct emissions: e <sub>d.base</sub> – e <sub>d.beccs</sub>	392	464	409	452
Difference in indirect emissions (electricity):		-66	-74	-69
e <sub>i,base</sub> – e <sub>i,beccs</sub>				
CO <sub>2</sub> removed from atmosphere, r <sub>bio</sub> :	386	318	368	115
SPECCA, MJ/kg <sub>co2</sub>	6.2	5.8	6.6	8.6

Table 4.4: Results of technical assessment for MEA scenario and SPECCA calculations

a – Absorber, desorber, amine filter, pumps, cooler

### SPECCA for MEA scenario:

Specific primary energy consumption for the avoided CO<sub>2</sub> is estimated by accounting for the retrofitted units pertaining to the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology. This includes steam consumption, electric power consumption in the SNCR (NO<sub>2</sub> reduction unit), FGD (desulphurization unit), CO<sub>2</sub> capture units<sup>1</sup> and the CO<sub>2</sub> compression work post capture. It can be inferred that the largest contributor to SPECCA in MEA scenario is the consumption of steam for the desorption of CO<sub>2</sub> from the MEA solvent; it amounts to about 80% of the specific primary energy consumption, in all of the four biomass types. Steam consumption is the largest contributor in terms of both added energy consumption and the associated  $CO_2$  emissions. Of the total electric power consumption in the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant, the CO<sub>2</sub> compression consumes about 66% to 69% of the power. The compression unit includes drying of the regenerated and cooled CO<sub>2</sub> stream as well, prior to compression. The electric power consumption in the base cement plant, equated to primary energy value is 1056 MJ/t<sub>clk</sub>, and the power consumption in the retrofitted  $CO_2$  capture plant ranges from 800 to 904 MJ/ $t_{clk}$ . This amounts to an increase in electricity demand ranging from 76% to 86% when MEA absorption-based CO<sub>2</sub> capture units are retrofitted to the cement plant. In comparison with the increase in electric power consumption when RHP, WP and MSW are used, there was additional power consumed in the case of sewage sludge (about 111 to 350  $MJ/t_{clk}$  higher than the other three fuels). This can be attributed to the high nitrogen and sulphur content in sewage sludge, which necessitates additional power in the De-NO<sub>x</sub> and FGD units respectively.

SPECCA values are in the range of 5.8 to 8.6 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>, the highest for municipal solid waste and the least value for wood pellets. Rice husk pellets, wood pellets and sewage sludge have SPECCA values in the range of 5.8 to 6.6 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>, but the value shoots up to 8.6 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub> in the case of municipal solid waste. The reason for the deviation in the SPECCA for MSW is the 65% non-biogenic fraction assumed. As 65% of the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted is still from the non-biogenic content in the MSW, these CO<sub>2</sub> emissions lead to a relatively lower value of the total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided. Also this variation in the values of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided when MSW is used as a fuel is only visible in case of MEA capture technology as the emissions from the biomass-fired steam boiler are not captured by the capture technology.

Economic assessment for MEA scenario:

The results of the economic evaluation for MEA scenario for all the four biomass types are presented in table 4.5. The total lifetime operating expenses (variable and fixed OpEx) and capital expenses are depicted. A break up of the lifetime OpEx components is given; for CapEx, the retrofit costs in the base year (2018) are listed. From the break up of variable OpEx, it can be inferred that the largest contributor is electricity consumption (for the cement plant +  $CO_2$  capture plant). The second biggest contributor to variable OpEx is the biomass fuel prices, the highest value of biomass costs being observed for sewage sludge where it amounts to roughly 30% of the variable OpEx. With regards to the price of NH<sub>3</sub> for the SNCR unit, there is a deviation observed in the case of sewage sludge, where the costs are much higher than with the other biomass types. This can be attributed to the increased share of nitrogen in the sludge composition, which leads to increased need for De-NO<sub>x</sub>. Apart from this one deviation, there is no other major difference in cost components among the four biomass types.

Cement production costs range from 89 (MSW) to 104 (SS)  $\notin/t_{cement}$  and the costs of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided range from 71 (WP) to 96 (SS)  $\notin/t_{CO_2}$ . The avoidance costs for MSW are high in spite of the least levelised costs obtained. This is the result of the low CO<sub>2</sub> avoided in case of MSW. With

<sup>1</sup> Include absorber, desorber, heat exchanger, MEA pumps, MEA processing and cooler.

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Variable OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	489.0	507.7	513.6	443.8
Raw materials	40.2	42.7	37.6	41.5
Fuel				
• Coal	45.0	45.0	45.0	45.0
Biomass	131.3	148.2	151.1	80.1
Electricity				
Base cement plant	138.1	138.1	138.1	138.1
CO <sub>2</sub> capture plant	40.9	40.8	42.1	42.0
Water for boiler	5.4	5.4	5.1	5.4
MEA	19.0	19.0	18.0	19.0
NH <sub>3</sub> for De-Nox	4.0	3.2	14.2	7.5
$CaCO_3$ for FGD	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.05
Cooling water	10.4	10.4	9.8	10.4
CO <sub>2</sub> transport	16.8	16.8	15.9	16.8
CO <sub>2</sub> storage	27.9	28.0	26.5	28.0
Other variable costs	10.1	10.1	10.1	10.1
Fixed OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	221.8	221.9	220.8	221.9
Operating, administrative & support labor	94.2	94.2	94.1	94.2
Insurance & local taxes	56.7	56.8	56.3	56.8
Maintenance costs	70.9	71.0	70.4	71.0
CapEx for cement plant, M€ (year t = 1 & 2):	247.0	247.0	247.0	247.0
CapEx for CO <sub>2</sub> capture retrofit, M $\in$ (t = 12 & 13):	86.0	86.1	83.3	86.1
Retrofit costs in base year (TPC <sub>retrofit</sub> ), M€:	188.2	188.6	182.4	188.4
Equipment + Installation costs	78.9	79.0	76.4	79.0
Process contingencies	14.2	14.2	13.8	14.2
Indirect costs	19.4	19.4	18.8	19.4
Owner's costs	9.7	9.7	9.4	9.7
Project contingencies	20.8	20.8	20.1	20.8
Start-up costs for retrofit, M€:	14.1	14.1	13.7	14.1
Levelised cost of clinker, LCOC (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	129.7	124.5	141.6	120.3
Cement production cost, CPC (€/t <sub>cement</sub> )	95.6	91.8	104.3	88.7
Cost of CO <sub>2</sub> avoided (€/t <sub>co2</sub> )	78.6	70.5	96.0	92.9

Table 4.5:	Economic	evaluation	results	for	MEA	scenario
------------	----------	------------	---------	-----	-----	----------

the retrofitting of MEA capture technology, an increase in the cement production costs ranging from 62% (MSW) to 90% (SS) was observed.

## 4.2.2 CaL (tail-end) Scenario

Integration level of 25% was considered for the calcium looping (CaL) based  $CO_2$  capture. This corresponds to the initial limestone flow rate in the cement plant being split into two fractions - of which  $1/4^{\text{th}}$  is fed as the make-up limestone solution (92% w/w CaCO<sub>3</sub>, 8% water) for the CaL process. The technical assessment results for the CaL scenario are presented in table 4.6. The oxygen requirements for CaL process have been estimated using stoichiometry and mass balance in the CaL calciner. It was observed that depending on the composition of the biomass fuel, the oxygen requirement varies. The mentioned oxygen supply rates comprise of 95% O<sub>2</sub> and 5% N<sub>2</sub>.

The estimated rate of fuel supplied is also presented in table 4.6. The fuel consumption rate was observed to vary depending on the calorific value of the fuel. Sewage sludge consumes the highest amount of fuel for the CaL process owing to its least calorific value among the four biomass types (10.97 MJ/kg). In the pre-calciner of the base cement plant (coal w/o CCS), there is a decrease in the rate of fuel consumption as only 75% of the limestone supplied in the base case scenario is supplied through the raw mill in the CaL scenario (the other 25% is fed to CaL process as make-up limestone). It was assumed that the fuel consumption in the kiln is the same, however (this was discussed in the methodology in section 3.7.2).

The rate of (CaO-rich) purge stream expelled from the CaL calciner was also observed to be varying depending on the composition of the fuel; this is because, the purge stream comprises of ash and CaSO<sub>4</sub>, in addition to CaO. The quantity of the ash and CaSO<sub>4</sub> are directly impacted by the composition of the biomass used; the sulphur content in the biomass affects the rate of  $CaSO_4$ formed. The ash composition in the biomass affects the clinker composition; there is also an increase in the output rate of clinker obtained as a result of the purge stream being incorporated<sup>2</sup>. The reason for the change in clinker composition/flow rate is because the ash in the purge stream (from the combustion of biomass in the CaL calciner) comprises of SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, MgO and CaO - which increase the quantity of additives in the clinker that is formed in the cement plant. The rate of clinker produced and the variation in clinker composition obtained for each of the four biomass types are presented in table 4.6. There was observed to be a significant variation in the increase in the rate of clinker production, among different biomass types. With wood pellets, for instance, there is a negligible increase; however there is an 8% increase in the clinker production rate observed with sewage sludge. This high variation when sewage sludge is used for CaL process can be attributed to the increased share of sulphur in the fuel, thereby relatively higher share of  $CaSO_4$  in the purge stream; another possible reason is the higher rate of fuel consumption (due to low LHV) that leads to increased share of ash, and hence increased share of additives.

## SPECCA for CaL scenario:

The largest contributor to SPECCA in CaL-based capture is the consumption of fuel associated with the calcination in the CaL process. Fuel consumption amounts to about 73 to 78% of the total specific primary energy consumption. The other components in SPECCA pertain to electricity consumption. An increase in (primary) electricity consumption (relative to the base cement plant without  $CO_2$  capture) ranging from 159 to 181% was observed in CaL based capture (note that this refers to increase in the power demand, not the electric power generated). This results in increased indirect  $CO_2$  emissions in CaL based capture. The electric power consumption in the

<sup>2</sup> There is also a possibility to adjust the additives in the raw meal to get the same output rate of clinker, which hasn't been considered in this section as this is being studied in the fourth scenario (section 4.2.4).

		RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Clinker production, kg/s		30.3	31.3	29.8	31.2
Fuel consumption, kg/s					
Pre-calciner		1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8
• Kiln		1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6
Calciner of CaL unit		5.5	4.3	8.2	4.8
Fuel cons. for cement pla	nt + CaL (MJ/kg <sub>cik</sub> )	5.6	5.5	5.5	5.5
Purge (CaO + CaSO <sub>4</sub> + Ash	n), kg/s	6.6	5.8	8.5	6.6
Purge, kg/kg <sub>clk</sub>		0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2
Clinker composition (%)	CaO	66.6	68.3	65.2	67.1
	SiO <sub>2</sub>	23.5	22	21.7	22.1
	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	5.4	5.5	5.7	5.6
	Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	3	3.1	3.5	3
	MgO	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2
	CaSO₄	0.02	0.003	0.5	0.07
	Others <sup>a</sup>	0.3	0.01	2.1	0.9
Oxygen input, kg/s		7.8	6.8	9.6	8.6
Oxygen input per clinker obtained, kg <sub>02</sub> /kg <sub>clk</sub>		0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3
$CO_2$ emitted (direct), kg <sub>CO2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>		71	69	70	69
$CO_2$ captured, $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$		1111	1017	1094	1046
Total $CO_2$ avoided ( $\Delta e_d$ +	$r_{bio} + \Delta e_i$ ) <sup>b</sup> , kg <sub>CO2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>	754	760	747	722

Table 4.6: Results of technical assessment for CaL scenario

a - Other trace elements in the ash (in solid purge from CaL calciner), excluding the SiO<sub>2</sub>,  $Al_2O_3$ ,  $Fe_2O_3$ , MgO and CaO in the ash as they have been accounted for individually.

 $b-\Delta e$  refers to ( $e_{\text{base}}-e_{\text{beccs}}$ )

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Specific Primary Energy Consumption, MJ/t $_{\rm clk}$	3242	3077	3201	3160
Fuel consumption	2417	2386	2328	2339
Electric power consumption				
• ASU	466	393	580	499
• CPU	1086	994	1045	1023
Auxiliaries <sup>a</sup>	279	279	279	279
Limestone crushing (CaL)	8	8	8	8
Electric power generated	-1015	-983	-1040	-988
Total CO <sub>2</sub> avoided, $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$	754	760	747	722
Difference in direct emissions, e <sub>d,base</sub> – e <sub>d,beccs</sub>	772	774	777	773
Difference in indirect emissions, e <sub>i,base</sub> – e <sub>i,beccs</sub>		-57	-72	-67
CO <sub>2</sub> removed, r <sub>bio</sub>	49	43	42	16
SPECCA, MJ/kg <sub>CO2</sub>	4.3	4.1	4.3	4.4

Table 4.7: SPECCA calculations for CaL scenario

a - Steam cycle, fans for CaL process, CaL fuel grinding.

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Variable OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	449.2	451.2	472.0	404.4
Raw meal	40.7	42.7	38.9	41.9
Fuel				
• Coal	38.3	38.3	38.3	38.3
Biomass	118.0	126.8	144.2	72.8
Electricity				
Base cement plant	138.1	138.1	138.1	138.1
CO <sub>2</sub> capture plant	90.0	84.6	92.1	91.1
Value of generated electricity	-49.6	-49.7	-50.1	-49.8
Chemicals required for CPU	2.9	2.7	2.7	2.8
CO <sub>2</sub> transport	22.8	21.6	21.6	22.1
CO <sub>2</sub> storage	38.1	36.0	36.1	36.9
Other variable costs	10.1	10.1	10.1	10.1
Fixed OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	224.3	223.0	225.4	224.7
Operating, administrative & support labor	94.3	94.2	94.4	94.3
Insurance & local taxes	57.8	57.2	58.2	57.9
Maintenance costs	72.2	71.5	72.8	72.4
CapEx for cement plant, M€ (year t = 1 & 2):	247.0	247.0	247.0	247.0
CapEx for $CO_2$ capture retrofit, M $\in$ (t = 12 & 13):	92.0	88.8	94.9	86.1
Retrofit costs in base year (TPC <sub>retrofit</sub> ), M€:	201.5	194.5	207.8	203.6
Equipment + Installation costs	112.2	108.3	115.8	113.4
Process contingencies	35.9	34.7	37.0	36.3
Indirect costs	20.7	20.0	21.4	21.0
Owner's costs	10.4	10.0	10.7	10.5
Project contingencies	22.2	21.5	22.9	22.5
Start-up costs for retrofit, M€:	15.1	14.6	15.6	15.3
Levelised cost of clinker (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	123.8	119.5	129.1	115.1
Cement production cost, CPC (€/t <sub>cement</sub> )	91.3	88.1	95.1	84.8
Cost of CO <sub>2</sub> avoided (€/t <sub>co2</sub> )	66.0	59.8	73.6	56.8

Table 4.8: Economic evaluation results for CaL scenario

CaL process is very high in comparison with MEA capture, mainly due to the CPU and ASU. With MEA capture technology, an increase in electricity consumption ranging from 76% to 86% of the base cement plant was only witnessed. Of the electric power consumption in the retrofitted units of the CaL capture technology, the share of the CPU's power demands ranges from 55 to 59% while that of the ASU ranges from 23 to 30%. Part of this power consumption was compensated with on-site electric power generation using recovered waste heat. The estimated values of electric power generation are displayed in Table 4.7. However, the electric power generation results in further  $CO_2$  avoidance; although to a very small extent, it still is able to offset almost all (about 93 to 99%) of the indirect emissions associated with the electric power consumption in the CPU.

SPECCA ranges from 4.1 to 4.4 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub> for the CaL-based capture. The SPECCA value in case of MSW used as fuel is 4.4 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub> and it doesn't deviate drastically as it did in the case of MEA based CO<sub>2</sub> capture, even though there is an additional calciner which consumes MSW exclusively. This is because, most of the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted in the calciner of the CaL is captured and sent to the CPU.

Economic assessment for CaL scenario:

The results of economic assessment for CaL-based  $CO_2$  capture are tabulated in Table 4.8. In the table, the lifetime CapEx and OpEx (fixed and variable) are presented. The estimation of capital expenses in the base year 2018 are also specified in the table. For the estimation of OpEx, a break up of the lifetime cost values estimated are presented. As observed in the MEA scenario, the price of biomass accounts for a large fraction of the variable OpEx (ranging from 18 to 29%). Costs are highest when sewage sludge is used; this result is not just a direct relation to the biomass price assumptions used in the technical results). The costs associated with electricity requirements for the retrofitted  $CO_2$  capture units are significantly higher than the corresponding values in MEA scenario (almost twice the value in MEA). This is a direct result of the increased electric power requirements in the CaL when compared with MEA. However, the benefits accrued due to electricity generation on-site offset a fraction (roughly 38 to 40%) of the electricity costs.

CaL based CO<sub>2</sub> capture entails the highest capture rates among the three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies because the emissions from CaL process are also captured in this scenario; this is the reason for the high values of CO<sub>2</sub> transport and storage costs incurred in CaL scenario. The transport and storage costs are estimated based on a direct relation to the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> that is captured and sent through the CCS chain. Also the equipment and installation costs are roughly 40% higher than that of MEA based capture. Cement production costs in CaL capture technology range from 85 to 95  $\notin$ /t<sub>cement</sub> and the costs of avoided CO<sub>2</sub> range from 57 to 74  $\notin$ /t<sub>CO2</sub>.

### 4.2.3 Oxyfuel Scenario

In oxyfuel combustion capture, the rate of clinker is unaffected (same as the values in table 4.3), the modifications presented in the methodology are taken into consideration while estimating the energy consumption parameters. The rate of fuel consumption is also unaltered therefore. There was a variation in assumptions of the temperature of the cooler exit gas streams (to maintain the temperature profile); there is no variation in the mass balance results. The total  $CO_2$  avoided is shown in table 4.9 along with other technical parameters; a break-up of the avoided  $CO_2$  for oxyfuel combustion capture is shown under the SPECCA calculations in table 4.10.

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Clinker production, kg/s	29.5	31.3	27.6	30.4
Fuel consumption, kg/s				
Pre-calciner	2.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
• Kiln	1.6	1.6	1.6	1.6
$O_2$ rich air from ASU, kg <sub>02</sub> /kg <sub>clk</sub>	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3
$CO_2$ emitted (direct), $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$	42	40	44	41
$CO_2$ stream to CPU, kg <sub>co2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>	376	356	392	366
$CO_2$ for recycle (to cement plant), $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$		484	532	496
$CO_2$ avoided ( $\Delta e_d + r_{bio} + \Delta e_i$ ) <sup>a</sup> , $kg_{CO2}/t_{clk}$	714	721	707	693

Table 4.9: Results of technical assessment for Oxyfuel scenario

a –  $\Delta e$  refers to ( $e_{\text{base}} - e_{\text{beccs}}$ ).

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Specific Primary Energy Consumption, MJ/t <sub>clk</sub>	1397	1325	1478	1376
Electric power consumption				
ASU	505	476	543	508
• CPU	511	484	546	498
Flue gas cooler	62	59	65	60
• Other units <sup>a</sup>	585	554	610	569
Base cement plant (additional)	56	56	56	56
Electricity generation	-323	-304	-350	-315
Total CO <sub>2</sub> avoided, kg <sub>CO2</sub> /t <sub>clk</sub>	714	721	707	693
Difference in direct emissions: e <sub>d.base</sub> – e <sub>d.beccs</sub>	801	804	799	803
Difference in indirect emissions (electricity):		-109	-121	-113
$e_{i,base} - e_{i,beccs}$				
CO <sub>2</sub> removed from atmosphere, r <sub>bio</sub> :	28	26	29	3
SPECCA, MJ/kg <sub>co2</sub>	2.0	1.8	2.1	2.0

 Table 4.10:
 SPECCA calculations for Oxyfuel scenario

a – Other units include fans, recycle, condenser, filter and pumps.

	RHP	WP	SS	MSW
Variable OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	348.8	363.6	339.5	337.8
Raw materials	40.2	42.7	36.9	41.5
Fuel				
• Coal	45.0	45.0	45.0	45.0
Biomass	41.9	53.7	38.5	28.6
Electricity				
Base cement plant	138.1	138.1	138.1	138.1
Oxyfuel modifications & retrofit	81.9	82.3	80.0	83.1
Value of generated electricity	-34.1	-34.2	-34.0	-34.4
Cooling water	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.1
Chemicals required for CPU	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.4
CO <sub>2</sub> transport	8.4	8.4	8.2	8.4
CO <sub>2</sub> storage	14.0	14.0	13.5	14.0
Other variable costs	10.1	10.1	10.1	10.1
Fixed OpEx, M€ (year t = 3 to t = 27):	218.6	218.8	218.1	219.0
Operating, administrative & support labor	94.0	94.0	93.9	94.0
Insurance & local taxes	55.4	55.5	55.2	55.6
Maintenance costs	69.3	69.3	69.0	69.5
CapEx for cement plant, M€ (year t = 1 & 2):	247.0	247.0	247.0	247.0
CapEx for CO <sub>2</sub> capture retrofit, M $\in$ (t = 12 & 13):	78.0	78.2	76.7	78.9
Retrofit costs in base year (TPC <sub>retrofit</sub> ), M€:	134.9	135.4	132.8	136.5
<ul> <li>Equipment + Installation costs</li> </ul>	69.9	70.1	68.7	70.7
Process contingencies	29.3	29.5	28.9	29.7
Indirect costs	13.9	13.9	13.7	14.1
Owner's costs	6.9	7.0	6.8	7.0
Project contingencies	14.9	14.9	14.6	15.1
Start-up costs for retrofit, M€:	12.8	12.8	12.6	12.9
Levelised cost of clinker (€/t <sub>clk</sub> )	110.9	106.4	119.3	106.3
Cement production costs, CPC (€/t <sub>cement</sub> )	81.8	78.4	87.9	78.4
Cost of CO <sub>2</sub> avoided (€/t <sub>co2</sub> )	51.6	44.8	64.0	46.6

Table 4.11	Economic evaluation	n resul	ts for Oxy	fuel scena	rio

## SPECCA for Oxyfuel scenario:

Energy consumption in the CPU and ASU are the highest contributors to SPECCA, as can be seen from the break up in SPECCA calculations in Table 4.11. SPECCA values in the range of 1.8 to 2.1  $MJ/kg_{CO2}$  are obtained in the case of oxyfuel combustion capture, estimated to be the least among all the assessed CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies. CO<sub>2</sub> capture rates are the least in this type of capture (owing to the recycle flue gas stream). The increase in (primary) electric energy consumption (relative to the base cement plant without oxyfuel combustion) ranges from 154 to 173%, which is about 5 to 11% lower than the corresponding values observed in CaL process. Of the additional electric power consumption, the share of CPU's power demands ranges from 29 to 30% and that of the ASU also ranges from 29 to 30%. Moreover, an additional electric power consumption value for the cement plant has been mentioned, 56  $MJ/t_{clk}$ ; this is on account of the modifications made in the base cement plant units (cooler, for instance). Although, it contributes to only roughly 3% the total electricity consumption pertaining to the retrofitted  $CO_2$  capture units. As discussed earlier, the CO<sub>2</sub> capture rates are least in oxyfuel combustion capture, therefore a lower amount of  $CO_2$  is captured and sent to CPU. The amount of captured  $CO_2$  is about 35 and 45% of the captured  $CO_2$  in MEA and CaL technologies respectively. This is the reason for the relatively lower value of electric power consumption in the CPU than CaL scenario (about 48 to 53% lower than the value in CPU of CaL technology). As with the CaL scenario, the electricity generation using waste heat recovered is able to offset a fraction of the power consumed in the CPU (about two-thirds).

### Economic assessment for oxyfuel scenario:

The results of economic evaluation for oxyfuel combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture are tabulated in Table 4.11. The break up of lifetime variable and fixed OpEx are presented. It can be inferred that price of biomass is the least and has no significant impact as it did in the other two capture technologies. This is due to the low share of biomass used for the process; while in CaL and MEA capture technologies, there were additional boilers for the retrofits that were fed with biomass in addition to the 30% biomass co-fired in the cement plant. However, in oxyfuel combustion capture, there is no such additional biomass consumption for the retrofitted units; the only requirement for biomass is for 30% co-firing in the cement plant. Electricity costs incurred due to oxyfuel modifications are the highest among the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies. There are not as many sources available for waste heat recovery as in the case of CaL; this is the reason why the generated electricity values are not as high for oxyfuel as in the case of CaL. As the CO<sub>2</sub> capture rates in oxyfuel combustion capture are the least among the three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies assessed in this thesis, the costs for CO<sub>2</sub> transport and storage are the least among the three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies. This is on account of the low capture rates, as part of the  $CO_2$  is recycled to the cement plant. There is no cost parameter that shows a significant variation among the four biomass types, which is again a direct result of the low share of biomass involved.

Cement production costs in oxyfuel combustion capture range from 78 (WP, MSW) to 88 (SS)  $\notin/t_{cement}$  and the costs of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided range from 45 (WP) to 64 (SS)  $\notin/t_{CO_2}$ .

### 4.2.4 Using ash as raw material or additive

Firstly, the amount of ash obtained from co-firing RHP, SS, MSW have been estimated for the chosen co-firing rate of 30%; wood ash was excluded for this section (discussed in 2.2.5). In case of MEA and CaL capture technologies, there is increased amount of ash recovered (as there are additional biomass-fired boilers) relative to oxyfuel combustion. In the Oxyfuel scenario, it is possible to substitute only 1.1% of the raw meal with the ash from sludge co-firing, even if all

Additive	CO <sub>2</sub> Capture	Qty. of ash obt.	Cement prodn. per	Max. Substitution
	technology	per year (Mt/yr)	year (Mt/yr)	rate (%)
RHA + Coal ash	MEA	0.02	1.2	1.4
	CaL	0.04	1.2	3.1
	Oxyfuel	0.02	1.2	1.4
MSWA + Coal ash	MEA	0.02	1.3	1.3
	CaL	0.03	1.3	2.6
	Oxyfuel	0.02	1.3	1.3

Table 4.12: Substitution rates of bio-based ash in cement grinding

Table 4.13: Change in CO<sub>2</sub> avoided per tonne of cement after incorporating bio-based ash.

BECCS	Scenario	Usage of Ash	CO <sub>2</sub> avoided before & after		Raw meal	$\Delta CO_2$ avoided
			ash usage (	kg/t <sub>cement</sub> )	(kg/s)	(kg/t <sub>cement</sub> )
SS +	MEA	5% of raw meal	513	518	52.6	5
SSA	CaL	4.9% of raw meal	505	508	52.6	3
	Oxyfuel	1.1% of raw meal	528	530	52.6	2
RHP +	MEA	1.4% of cement	522	527	51.6	5
RHA	CaL	3.1% of cement	514	518	47.4	4
	Oxyfuel	1.4% of cement	531	533	51.3	2
MSW +	MEA	1.3% of cement	367	369	52.1	2
MSWA	CaL	2.6% of cement	507	511	48.6	4
	Oxyfuel	1.3% of cement	513	514	52.3	1

the recovered ash were to be used. Incorporating SSA into the raw meal has an upper limit of 5% which was decided upon from literature. However in case of RHA and MSWA, in order to determine the maximum substitution rate possible (to ensure availability of ash) to be used as an additive during cement grinding, the quantity of ash recovered annually has been calculated and the annual cement production for both RHP and MSW are used to determine this substitution rate. Table 4.12 contains these values.

In case of RHA and MSWA, the substitution rates considered are in accordance with the estimated values from Table 4.12. To get the same amount of cement, with ash mixed as additives, reduced clinker would imply a reduction in raw material consumption. The change in raw material consumption to get a clinker output in accordance with the substitution rates from Table 4.12 have been estimated and listed in Table 4.13.

Table 4.13 shows the difference in (or the additional)  $CO_2$  avoided (per tonne of cement) when ash is incorporated into the BECCS scenarios assessed earlier. With MEA and CaL technologies, the higher quantity of ash obtained results in a relatively higher avoidance rates in comparison with oxyfuel combustion; however it was observed that in all the 9 cases, there was less than 1% increase in the  $CO_2$  avoidance rates, when it is standardized per tonne of cement. With oxyfuel combustion, low share of biomass results in less than 0.4% increase in  $CO_2$  avoidance rates. It can be concluded that the availability of ash is therefore a crucial factor in increasing the  $CO_2$  avoidance rates; this is because, the fuel requirement in oxyfuel combustion is itself lower than MEA and CaL; it is not just the low share of biomass in oxyfuel combustion that results in low  $CO_2$  avoidance rates.

### 4.3 COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS

The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) were compared for all the BECCS scenarios assessed.

## KPI 1 - Rate of clinker produced:

30% of the heating fuel in the cement plant (coal) is substituted on a mass-basis with biomass in the existing burners. Hence the rate of clinker produced per day is lower than the base value of about 2901 tonnes. As biomass has lower calorific value than coal, it is less efficient. The rate of clinker produced is dependant on the calorific value of the fuel. Sewage sludge (least LHV of 10.97 MJ/kg) on co-firing with coal gives the least rate of clinker output, 2385 tonnes per day; this rate of production is 22% lower than the BAT reference value of 2901 tonnes. When wood pellets are used for co-firing in the cement plant, the rate of clinker produced is 2703 tonnes per day (7% lower than the BAT reference clinker output). Figure 4.1 illustrates the amount of clinker produced (in tonnes/day) for all the biomass options considered. The corresponding annual cement production has also been depicted in the same figure.



**Figure 4.1:** Reduced clinker production per day (left) and reduced annual cement production (right) when 30% of the coal in a cement plant is substituted with biomass

## KPI 2 - CO<sub>2</sub> avoided:

 $CO_2$  emission intensity when 100% coal was used to provide thermal energy for the calcination process in a cement plant amounted to 930 kg/t<sub>clk</sub> (direct and indirect). This value was before the  $CO_2$  capture plants were retrofitted. The  $CO_2$  emission intensity values for all the BECCS cases are presented in figure 4.2, where the break-up of the emissions (direct, indirect) is illustrated along with the  $CO_2$  removed from atmosphere and the net  $CO_2$  emission intensity values for the base case and the BECCS case. The total  $CO_2$  avoided for all BECCS technologies are illustrated in the graph in figure 4.3.

From the graph, it can be inferred that with the exception of MSW used in case of MEA capture, the avoidance rate is in the range of 688 to 760 kg<sub>CO2</sub>/t<sub>clk</sub> for all the BECCS cases. In MEA capture technology, the steam boiler emits  $CO_2$  and these  $CO_2$  emissions were not captured. Biomass was selected as the fuel for the steam boiler, and RHP, WP, and SS were assumed to possess 100% biogenic content. Therefore the  $CO_2$  emissions from the steam boiler when those three biomass fuels were employed (RHP, WP, SS) did not affect the total  $CO_2$  avoided in this thesis. But when MSW was used as fuel, 65% of the boiler  $CO_2$  emissions are non-biogenic; therefore these  $CO_2$  emissions offset a large part of the emissions avoided. Hence the least value of total  $CO_2$  avoided



Figure 4.2:  $CO_2$  emission intensity for all the BECCS technologies. The difference between the values indicated by the yellow mark for the base and BECCS cases is the value of the total  $CO_2$  avoided.

(498 kg<sub>CO2</sub>/ $t_{clk}$ ) was observed in that scenario (MSW + MEA capture). In CaL based CO<sub>2</sub> capture, there is an additional calciner that consumes biomass and there are increased CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. However unlike the steam boiler in MEA, the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the CaL calciner are captured and sent to the CPU.

It can be inferred from the graph in figure 4.3 that CaL capture technology entails the highest avoidance rates (722 to 760 kg<sub>CO2</sub>/ $t_{clk}$ ). The avoidance rates in CaL technology are roughly 5% higher than the rates observed in MEA and oxyfuel capture technologies (with the exception of MSW in MEA capture technology).



Figure 4.3: Total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided for all the BECCS technologies.
#### KPI 3 - SPECCA:

The graph in figure 4.4 illustrates the SPECCA values (in MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>) for all the BECCS cases assessed. MEA capture technology has the highest primary energy consumption per CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (ranging from 5.8 to 8.6 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>). And oxyfuel has the least SPECCA (1.8 to 2.1 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>) among the three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies assessed. It can be inferred from the graph that in MEA-based CO<sub>2</sub> capture, the highest value of 8.6 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub> is observed in case of MSW. This does not imply any major difference in the primary energy consumption involved when MSW is used; it is a direct result of the low CO<sub>2</sub> avoided. As discussed in the comparative analysis of KPI 2, the low CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance and consequently the high SPECCA for MSW can be attributed to the additional non-biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the steam boiler. The other biomass types (RHP, WP and SS) have SPECCA values in the range of 5.8 to 6.4 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub> for MEA capture technology.



Figure 4.4: Specific primary energy consumption per CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (SPECCA) for all the BECCS technologies

A breakdown of the primary energy consumption (in  $MJ/t_{clk}$ ) for the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies retrofitted to a cement plant is illustrated for one biomass type (rice husk pellets) in figure 4.5. In terms of the specific primary energy consumption, MEA based capture involves the highest energy requirements - a large fraction of it (about 80%) is associated with the low pressure steam requirement for the regeneration of CO<sub>2</sub> from the MEA solvent. The energy requirements for CaL capture technology is only about 3% lower than the energy requirement for MEA capture technology. However, owing to on-site electricity generation using recovered waste heat, the net primary energy consumption for CaL capture technology reduces. The electric power generated in case of CaL process meets close to 24% of the energy requirements. Oxyfuel combustion capture also entails on-site electricity generation using the recovered waste heat. The generated electric power is able to offset a large fraction of the high electric power consumption in the CPU in both the capture technologies (CaL and oxyfuel). Between oxyfuel and CaL capture technologies, CaL has higher SPECCA than oxyfuel capture. This increased energy consumption for CaL in comparison with oxyfuel is a result of the fuel requirements for the additional calciner in the CaL process. From the breakdown indicated in figure 4.5 for rice husk pellets, it can be seen that the additional fuel consumption in CaL process accounts for 75% of the specific (net) primary energy consumption. Another observation that can be made is the relatively lower fraction of the electric power generated in case of oxyfuel capture, in comparison with CaL process. CaL process is observed to generate about 197 to 223% higher amount of electric power than oxyfuel combustion. This is because of more available sources for waste heat recovery in CaL technology. However, with SPECCA in the range of 4.1 to 4.4 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>, CaL based capture is still less energy consuming than MEA capture (when standardized on the basis of CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance rates).



Figure 4.5: Specific primary energy consumption for the three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies retrofitted to a cement plant that uses 30% rice husk pellets

The system boundary defined for the technical assessment did not include the pre-treatment of biomass. It was considered that all the four biomass types are sourced for co-firing in a form suitable for co-firing with coal, after appropriate pre-treatment methods. Only the costs of this were included. Therefore, to observe the variation in SPECCA when the pre-treatment energy requirements are included, the thermal and energy consumption values stated in table 3.6 are included. The values of SPECCA on recalculation are indicated in the graph in figure 4.6. A significant increase in SPECCA for MEA capture technology was observed; about 19 to 48% increase in comparison to the initial values of SPECCA obtained without including the pre-treatment. With CaL technology, increase in SPECCA with respect to the initial values are in the range of 11 to 37%. There was a negligible variation in case of oxyfuel combustion capture, this is expected because there is low requirement of biomass. It can be inferred that, on inclusion of the energy requirements for the pre-treatment of biomass, there is a significant difference among biomass types for the same  $CO_2$  capture technology. This pattern is visible particularly in MEA capture technology.



**Figure 4.6:** Specific primary energy consumption per CO<sub>2</sub> avoided (SPECCA) after including the energy requirements for pre-treatment of biomass

#### KPI 4 - Cement production costs:

Figure 4.7 illustrates the cement production costs for all the BECCS scenarios assessed.



Figure 4.7: Cement production costs for the base cement plant and all the BECCS technologies

The production costs for the base case (100% coal, without CCS) have also been indicated on the graph. It can be inferred that the costs incurred due to MEA capture scenario are the highest, followed by CaL scenario. Oxyfuel combustion capture entails the least value. The production costs increase by 42% to 89% when the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies are retrofitted to the cement plant in which biomass is co-fired with coal. The pattern of variation in production costs for a specific CO<sub>2</sub> capture technology among different biomass types is similar in all the capture technologies. For instance, sewage sludge entails highest production costs and municipal waste entails the least, with MEA, CaL and oxyfuel capture.



Figure 4.8: Breakdown of the cement production costs for the base cement plant and all the BECCS technologies

Figure 4.8 shows the breakdown of the cement production costs. It can be inferred from the breakdown that it is primarily the change in variable OpEx and the biomass costs that influence the production costs among the different  $CO_2$  capture technologies. The 'other' variable operating expenses in MEA capture technology are 29 to 51% higher than the variable OpEx in CaL and 158 to 180% higher than variable OpEx in oxyfuel (other variable OpEx includes utilities and consumables other than fuel, electricty; even  $CO_2$  transport and storage costs are included in

this). The costs incurred for biomass in MEA capture technology are 12 to 16% higher than the biomass costs in CaL and 176 to 285% higher than the biomass costs in oxyfuel.

There is a variation in capital expenses, but to a very small extent. With respect to the capital expenditure in the base cement plant, 41 to 63% increase in capital requirement for the  $CO_2$  capture technologies was observed. The costs incurred for electricity requirements for CaL process are 19 to 26% higher than the costs for MEA capture technology and about 2% higher than that of oxyfuel capture. However this high electricity requirement is not reflected in the final breakdown of the production costs for CaL technology. This is because the value of generated electricity is taken to consideration. After the value of generated electricity is accounted for in the cement production costs, the net electricity costs in CaL are 2 to 7% lower than MEA and 5 to 10% lower than the electricity costs for oxyfuel. As discussed earlier, this can be attributed to the multiple sources available for waste heat recovery in CaL process.

#### KPI 5 - Cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided:



Figure 4.9: Cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided for all the BECCS technologies

Figure 4.9 illustrates the costs of  $CO_2$  avoided for all the BECCS scenarios assessed. The costs of  $CO_2$  avoided are estimated by dividing the difference in levelised clinker costs (for the BECCS scenario and base case) and the total  $CO_2$  avoided. It is for this reason that the pattern of variation among the different BECCS cases is similar to the cement production costs. The costs are highest for MEA based capture, followed by calcium looping. And oxyfuel combustion capture entails least avoidance costs. With municipal solid waste used in MEA capture technology, there is a deviation observed as it does not adhere to the pattern of variation in cement production costs). The reason for this is the low  $CO_2$  avoidance rates with MSW & MEA capture technology. And with all the  $CO_2$  capture technologies, the costs when sewage sludge is used for co-firing are the highest among the four biomass types.

Change in CO<sub>2</sub> avoided after incorporating ash:

The primary reason to consider (partial) replacement of clinker with other additives (in this thesis) is to estimate the reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions from cement production. The change in the amount of  $CO_2$  avoided **per tonne of cement**, on incorporating ash into the BECCS (co-fire) scenarios assessed is illustrated in figure 4.10. The altered clinker-cement ratio values estimated based on the substitution rates mentioned in table 4.12 are used in this case. It can be observed that there is less than 1% increase in  $CO_2$  avoidance rates, when standardized per tonne of cement. And particularly, with oxyfuel combustion capture, it shows less than 0.4% increase.



Figure 4.10: Change in total CO<sub>2</sub> avoided per tonne of cement on using bio-based ash

observation that can be made is that there can be no conclusion drawn as to whether using bio-based ash as a raw material is more advantageous or using the ash as an additive is more beneficial to increase the avoided  $CO_2$ .

#### 4.4 CARBON ACCOUNTING



Gate-to-gate CO<sub>2</sub> accounting for the base case:

Figure 4.11: Gate-to-gate carbon accounting for the base case cement plant

The gate-to-gate boundary in case of the base cement plant (before retrofitting the CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies) is illustrated in figure 4.11. In this section, the values are demonstrated for the production of 1 **tonne of cement**. The direct and indirect CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are accounted for; the amount of fuel (coal) consumed for producing 1 tonne of cement is presented in the figure for the base case. Direct CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in the base case were estimated to be 843 kg/t<sub>clk</sub>. This amounts to 0.62 t<sub>CO2</sub>/t<sub>cement</sub> of direct emissions. The indirect CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with the base case without BECCS (it is 0.69 t<sub>CO2</sub>/t<sub>cement</sub>). This estimated value of 0.69 tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub>

per tonne of cement produced is in alignment with the value mentioned for a European BAT reference cement plant [7].

#### Gate-to-gate CO<sub>2</sub> accounting with C-neutrality of biomass in the BECCS cases:

For the BECCS cases,  $CO_2$  emissions within the gate-to-gate boundary are accounted for, along with the  $CO_2$  emitted by biomass considered to be removed from the atmosphere during the growth phases of the biomass feedstock.  $CO_2$  emissions associated with the pre-treatment of biomass are also included. But other upstream and downstream  $CO_2$  emissions like transport, storage of biomass feedstock, transport of pre-treated biomass, direct and indirect land-use are not included in this thesis. Hence this accounting cannot give a completer picture of whether negative emissions are actually achieved. But, for the boundary defined, when the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere is considered along with the gate-to-gate boundary defined for the cement plant retrofitted with  $CO_2$  capture units, the net emissions are positive in 9 of the 12 BECCS cases. This can be attributed to partial substitution of fossil fuel with biomass. 70% of the heating fuel (on a mass-basis) in the cement plant was still coal.

An exception was observed in the case of Calcium looping (CaL), where the fuel supplied for the calciner in the CaL process was 100% biomass. In CaL scenario therefore, the calculated net  $CO_2$  emissions result in a negative value when RHP, WP and SS are used as fuel. This is illustrated in figure 4.12. In this figure, an accounting of the  $CO_2$  emissions are illustrated for a cement plant where 30% of the coal is substituted on a mass-basis with torrified wood pellets, and CaL technology is retrofitted. The diagram in the figure depicts a model of the calculation methodology used in this section to account for the net  $CO_2$  emissions for all the BECCS scenarios studied in this thesis. Table 4.14 has the results of the  $CO_2$  accounting for all the 12 BECCS cases – four biomass fuels and three  $CO_2$  capture technologies.



**Figure 4.12:** Gate-to-gate carbon accounting with C-neutral biomass illustrated for calcium looping (CaL) based CO<sub>2</sub> capture in a cement plant using wood pellets.

BECCS Scenario:	Coal	Biomass	CO <sub>2</sub> e	emitted	CO <sub>2</sub> stored (	CO <sub>2</sub> removed	Net CO <sub>2</sub>
RHP + MEA	0.07 t	0.18 t	0.35 t	0.12 t	0.62 t	0.32 t	0.15 t
RHP + CaL	0.06 t	0.16 t	0.06 t	0.12 t	0.82 t	0.28 t	-0.10 t
RHP + Oxyfuel	0.07 t	0.03 t	0.03 t	0.15 t	0.28 t	0.05 t	0.13 t
WP + MEA	0.06 t	0.14 t	0.28 t	0.12 t	0.58 t	0.27 t	0.13 t
WP + CaL	0.05 t	0.12 t	0.06 t	0.11 t	0.75 t	0.23 t	-0.06 t
WP + Oxyfuel	0.06 t	0.03 t	0.03 t	0.15 t	0.26 t	0.05 t	0.13 t
SS + MEA	0.07 t	0.25 t	0.35 t	0.12 t	0.64 t	0.29 t	0.18 t
SS + CaL	0.06 t	0.23 t	0.08 t	0.12 t	0.81 t	0.26 t	-0.06 t
SS + Oxyfuel	0.07 t	0.03 t	0.03 t	0.15 t	0.29 t	0.04 t	0.14 t
MSW + MEA	0.07 t	0.15 t	0.29 t	0.12 t	0.60 t	0.10 t	0.31 t
MSW + CaL	0.05 t	0.14 t	0.05 t	0.12 t	0.77 t	0.09 t	0.08 t
MSW + Oxyfuel	0.07 t	0.03 t	0.03 t	0.15 t	0.27 t	0.02 t	0.16 t

Table 4.14: Carbon accounting for all BECCS cases

Biomass usage: MEA - 30% in cement plant + 100% for steam boiler; CaL - 30% in cement plant + 100% for CaL process; Oxyfuel - 30% in cement plant.

#### 4.5 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

The sensitivity of the economic indicators (cement production cost and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided) to the following parameters are investigated by performing a variation in the indicated ranges:

- Price of biomass: +/- 50% of the reference cost
- Coal price: +/- 50% of the reference cost
- Electricity price: +/- 50% of the reference cost
- Carbon tax: 0 to 100 €/t<sub>CO2</sub>
- Stage of operation when the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant is retrofitted: 5<sup>th</sup> and 15<sup>th</sup> operating year of the cement plant

The effect of uncertainties in storage (costs) on the costs of  $CO_2$  avoided are estimated using the range of 3 to  $14^3 \notin t_{CO_2}$  [118] for the case of 'offshore depleted oil and gas field'.

Also, the effect of the electricity mix on SPECCA and the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided are investigated. Different cases of power generation (and hence different electric efficiency values and specific  $CO_2$  emissions) are considered. Electric efficiency of 45% and specific  $CO_2$  emissions of 295.8 kg<sub>CO2</sub>/MWh was considered in the earlier calculations (reference) [145]. The different cases of power generation considered for sensitivity analysis are listed in table 4.15.

<sup>3</sup> The storage cost values for offshore DOGF for three cost scenarios in the stated reference document - low, medium and high are 3, 10 and 14 €/tonne of CO<sub>2</sub> stored.

Case of power generation	η <sub>el</sub> (%)	Specific CO <sub>2</sub> emissions (kg/MWh)
EU – 2016 ª	45	296
NW Europe Average – 2016 <sup>b</sup>	47.6	264
Pulverized coal	44.2	770
Natural gas combined cycle (NGCC)	52.5	385
Renewables	100	0

Table 4.15: Different power generation scenarios used for sensitivity analysis [110]

a - Reference value in this thesis, based on 2016 statistics for European Union taken from EEA

b - The average of values pertaining to North-Western Europe from the same source for 2016.

#### 4.5.1 Parameter variation

In this section, the sensitivity of cement production costs and cost of  $CO_2$  avoided to the parameters listed above are presented individually for all the biomass fuels. For every co-firing case, the variation for each of the  $CO_2$  capture technologies are depicted in the graph.

#### Sensitivity to a change in biomass price:

The sensitivity of the economic parameters in this assessment to the variations in price of biomass is shown in figures 4.13 and 4.14. The cost of biomass has the largest impact on cement production costs and costs of  $CO_2$  avoided for MEA and CaL based  $CO_2$  capture, due to significant consumption of biomass fuel associated with these technologies. The calciner of the CaL process is fed with biomass, and the steam boiler in MEA is fed with biomass; therefore these capture technologies have the highest consumption of biomass in comparison to oxyfuel capture.

There is a +/- 4% to +/- 7% variation in the production costs of MEA and CaL technologies respectively with +/- 50% variation in the price of biomass, whereas with oxyfuel combustion capture, the variation in production costs is about +/- 2%. The CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance costs vary by about +/- 10% to +/- 17% with MEA and CaL technologies respectively; whereas with oxyfuel combustion capture, the variation in CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance costs is about +/- 5% to 10%. The highest variation in avoidance costs among the four biomass types was observed with torrified wood pellets and (+/- 17% in MEA capture technology) and the least variation was observed with municipal solid waste (+/- 5% in oxyfuel combustion capture). Another observation that can be made from the sensitivity graphs is that the slope of the CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance costs is higher in comparison to the slope of the cement production costs.



Figure 4.13: Sensitivity of cement production costs and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided to uncertainty in price of biomass (RHP)



Figure 4.14: Sensitivity of economic parameters to uncertainty in price of biomass (WP, SS, MSW)

#### Sensitivity to a change in coal price:

Variations in the price of coal do not have a significant impact on the BECCS cases as can be seen from the graphs in figure 4.15. When compared with the effect of variations in the price of biomass, the increase in both the economic indicators (cement production costs and cost of  $CO_2$  avoided) with increase in coal prices is a relatively smaller variation. There is only a +/- 3% variation in cement production costs for all the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies.

However, the range of variation in  $CO_2$  avoidance costs to uncertainty in coal price across the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies was not similar. That is, with MEA and CaL technologies, the avoidance costs vary (on an average) by +/- 5% with +/- 50% variation in the coal price. But with oxyfuel combustion capture, the  $CO_2$  avoidance costs vary by +/- 8% with +/- 50% variation in the coal price. The fraction of coal is the same in all the three capture technologies (70% in the cement plant), still this deviation was observed in oxyfuel combustion capture. Even though this may not be a significant variation, it is interesting to note the possible reason for this. With oxyfuel combustion, the biomass costs are not as significant as with the MEA and CaL. So there is higher contribution of costs incurred for coal to the total lifetime costs in oxyfuel combustion. In general, the slope of the  $CO_2$  avoidance costs curve is observed to be higher than the slope of the cement production costs.



Figure 4.15: Sensitivity of cement production costs and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided to uncertainty in coal price

#### Sensitivity to a change in electricity price:

The reference electricity prices were fixed at 114.2 Euro per MWh [167]. On estimating the cement production costs at +/-50% of this reference electricity price, a variation in the range of -11% to +9% was observed. Both CaL and oxyfuel capture are electricity intensive technologies; yet the sensitivity of their costs to electricity price uncertainty is very similar to the pattern observed for MEA capture technology. In fact, it can be noted from the graphs in figure 4.16 that the line representing MEA capture technology has slightly higher slope than CaL and oxyfuel. The electricity generation in CaL and oxyfuel technologies is the reason for this. The CO<sub>2</sub> avoidance costs in oxyfuel combustion show the widest range of variation, -30% to -38% on the lower end to +25% to +32% on the higher end of the electricity price.



Figure 4.16: Sensitivity of cement production costs and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided to uncertainty in electricity price

#### Effect of a carbon tax:

If a carbon tax were implemented, the cement production costs for the reference cement plant (without  $CO_2$  capture) increases drastically. At a tax level of around 40 to  $50 \notin/t_{CO_2}$ , the cement production costs in case of oxyfuel combustion capture becomes lower than in the reference (base) cement plant. At roughly 50 to  $65 \notin/t_{CO_2}$  (for different biomass types), the cement production costs in case of CaL capture technology becomes lower than the base cement plant without  $CO_2$  capture. Due to the additional direct  $CO_2$  emissions on-site from the steam boiler associated with MEA based  $CO_2$  capture, this technology is more sensitive to carbon taxation than the other  $CO_2$  capture technologies.



Figure 4.17: Effect of carbon taxation on the cement production costs and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided

#### Variation in economic parameters to the stage of retrofitting:

In the economic assessment of the BECCS technologies, the  $CO_2$  capture plants were assumed to be retrofitted during the 10<sup>th</sup> year of operation of the cement plant. The economic parameters were estimated to check for the cost variations when the  $CO_2$  capture plants are retrofitted during the 5<sup>th</sup> and the 15<sup>th</sup> year of operation of the cement plant. On account of the depreciation factor in the levelised costs, the economic parameters are expected to be lower during the 15<sup>th</sup> year and higher when the retrofitting happens during the 5<sup>th</sup> year. It was observed that there is less difference among the three  $CO_2$  capture technologies as the retrofitting happens during the later stages of operation of the cement plant.

The graphs in figure 4.18 indicate the variation in the production costs and avoidance costs when the  $CO_2$  capture plants are retrofitted during the 5<sup>th</sup>, 10<sup>th</sup>, and 15<sup>th</sup> year of operation of the cement plant.



**Figure 4.18**: Variation in cement production costs and cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided to the stage of retrofitting of the CO<sub>2</sub> capture plant

#### Sensitivity to cost of CO<sub>2</sub> storage:

A significant variation in cost of  $CO_2$  avoided was observed with changes in the costs of  $CO_2$  storage, in case of calcium looping based  $CO_2$  capture (as shown in figure 4.19). This can be attributed to the high  $CO_2$  capture rates for CaL in comparison with MEA and oxyfuel capture. The amount of captured  $CO_2$  in CaL is about 25 to 33% higher than the captured  $CO_2$  in MEA and about 179 to 195% higher than the captured  $CO_2$  in oxyfuel combustion. With CaL, a large amount of  $CO_2$  is captured and sent for storage in offshore depleted oil and gas fields. Therefore CaL is most sensitive to the uncertainties in  $CO_2$  storage costs. Between MEA and oxyfuel, oxyfuel combustion displays least sensitivity to uncertainties in  $CO_2$  storage owing to a large fraction of the  $CO_2$  stream being recycled to the cement plant; hence the  $CO_2$  capture rates are lower in oxyfuel combustion.



Figure 4.19: Sensitivity of cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided to uncertainty in CO<sub>2</sub> storage costs

#### 4.5.2 Different power generation cases

The characteristics of the electricity generation case have an impact on SPECCA and the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided. The electricity generation efficiency and the specific  $CO_2$  emissions associated with every power generation case lead to a change in the indirect  $CO_2$  emissions associated with the  $CO_2$  capture technologies; hence the total  $CO_2$  avoided (direct + indirect) is affected, thereby leading to a change in SPECCA. The change in total  $CO_2$  emissions also implies a change in the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided.

#### Effect of power generation cases on SPECCA:

Increased share of fossil fuels imply higher SPECCA, owing to the increased specific  $CO_2$  emissions which reduce the total  $CO_2$  avoided. This is observed from the graphs in figure 4.20, where the SPECCA is highest for pulverized coal, followed by NGCC. Similarly, low share of fossil fuels entail low SPECCA, as visible in the case of 'Renewables'. Another observation noted was with the CaL capture, the SPECCA for north-western Europe scenario is considerably higher than the reference power generation scenario, whereas for MEA and oxyfuel, this pattern is not visible.

It can be inferred from the graph that for CaL technology, the SPECCA is seen to increase with increase in electricity generation efficiency and with a decrease in the specific  $CO_2$  emission factor. A possible reason for this pattern could be the high amount of electricity generated in CaL which substitutes part of the electricity that is sourced from the grid. In oxyfuel combustion, the SPECCA is reduced by about 75% from the reference case, when renewables are used for power generation. But the conclusion drawn is that SPECCA is significantly affected by different power generation scenarios in all the  $CO_2$  capture technologies.

#### Effect of power generation cases on cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided:

Effect of power generation scenarios on the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided followed a similar trend as observed in the case of the effect on SPECCA. This is shown in figure 4.21. The higher the share of fossil fuels, the higher the avoidance costs. With increased electricity generation efficiency and

decreased specific  $CO_2$  emissions, the cost of  $CO_2$  avoided can be expected to decrease in the future (as can be witnessed from the low values for renewable power generation scenario).



Figure 4.20: Effect of power generation scenarios on SPECCA



Figure 4.21: Effect of power generation scenarios on the cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided

# 5 | CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis, the techno-economic performance of using biomass in conjunction with  $CO_2$  capture technologies in the cement industry was assessed. To answer the research questions devised, a reference case (base cement plant without CCS) was set up. The base cement plant uses coal as a fuel. The key technical and economic parameters (rate of clinker produced, capital and operating expenses) were estimated for the base plant to enable a comparison with the BECCS technologies. To the base cement plant, retrofitting  $CO_2$  capture technologies was considered, along with usage of biomass in existing boilers. The results of this assessment are outlined in this chapter, by answering the relevant research questions.

#### RQ 1 - What are the possible ways of using biomass as inputs in a cement plant?

It was observed from the literature review that biomass can be used primarily as a fuel in a cement plant, to provide the thermal energy required for the calcination process in a cement kiln. Calcination process leads to the formation of clinker, the major constituent of cement. Predominantly fossil fuels are employed in the cement industry. However it is possible to use biomass to meet the thermal energy requirements, partially or wholly. It is also possible to recover the ash generated during the combustion of the biomass fuel (or fuel mix which contains a share of biomass) and use it as a raw material. This is possible at two junctures in the chain of cement manufacture process - as a raw material for producing clinker and as an additive during the final grinding stage where clinker is ground with additives to produce cement. The bio-based ash serves as replacement of SiO<sub>2</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, MgO and CaO in the cement manufacturing process; these components are some of the commonly used additives in the industry. However, there are limitations with the usage of biomass as fuel and bio-based ash as a raw material or additive. This is in view of the environmental concerns associated with harmful emissions (such as chlorine, dust, heavy metals) among other possible negative impacts.

Four different types of biomass were chosen for this thesis - rice husk pellets, RHP (agricultural biomass), wood pellets, WP (forestry residues), sewage sludge, SS and municipal solid waste, MSW (bio-based waste material). A fuel substitution rate of 30% in the cement plant was decided upon from literature for all the four biomass types.

#### RQ 2 - What is the impact on the product yield (cement) and/or raw material consumption?

In this thesis, partial substitution of fuel (on a mass-basis) has been considered. For ease of retrofitting, the capacity of the furnace is held constant, this entails a reduction in the rate of clinker produced. Biomass has a lower calorific value than the fossil fuels commonly used in the cement plant. Hence in this thesis, the rate of clinker produced when biomass is used for co-firing is lower than in the base case when 100% coal is used. This results in a corresponding decrease in the annual cement production. The base cement plant produces clinker at the rate of 2901 tonnes per day; while the chosen biomass options produce clinker at rates ranging from 2385 to 2703 tonnes per day. The rate of clinker produced bear a direct relation to the heating value (LHV) of the biomass used; that is, the least production rates are observed in the case of sewage sludge (which has the least LHV among the four biomass types considered in this thesis).

## RQ 3 - Among the selected biomass inputs and CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies, which options are the least energy consuming and most economically viable?

Three CO<sub>2</sub> capture technologies were chosen:

- post combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture using monoethanol amine (MEA),
- calcium looping (CaL) based CO<sub>2</sub> capture and
- oxyfuel combustion CO<sub>2</sub> capture.

The three  $CO_2$  capture technologies were selected after a qualitative comparison of various  $CO_2$  capture technologies on the basis of their ease of retrofitting. Mass balances have been performed for a base case scenario (100% coal without  $CO_2$  capture) and the BECCS technologies using Microsoft Excel. The energy consumption for each of the processes in the  $CO_2$  capture retrofits were estimated. Total  $CO_2$  avoided in each of the BECCS cases have been calculated by including direct emissions (fuel consumption), indirect emissions (electric power consumption) and the  $CO_2$  removed from the atmosphere through the growth of biomass. The incremental primary energy consumption as a result of the retrofitted  $CO_2$  capture plant has been estimated and expressed as **SPECCA** (specific primary energy consumption per  $CO_2$  avoided). This indicator was selected to identify the least energy consuming option among the assessed BECCS technologies. To identify the most economically viable technology, two economic indicators were selected - **cement production cost** and **cost of CO<sub>2</sub> avoided**.

Oxyfuel combustion was observed to be the least energy consuming; in case of wood pellets used with oxyfuel combustion capture, the least value of SPECCA was observed (1.8 MJ/kg<sub>CO2</sub>). The most economical technology also happened to be oxyfuel combustion  $CO_2$  capture with the least cement production costs of 78  $\ell/t_{cement}$  observed with wood pellets and municipal solid waste. The least  $CO_2$  avoidance cost of  $45 \ell/t_{CO2}$  was observed in oxyfuel combustion when wood pellets were used for co-firing. The low costs can attributed to the process design requirements. Although in case of oxyfuel combustion, suitable modifications are required in the base cement plant which would entail shutting down the cement plant for a period of roughly six months. The other option which is in the moderate range of both technical and economical indicators is CaL-based  $CO_2$  capture. MEA is the most energy consuming option and the least economical  $CO_2$  capture technology as well.

## RQ 4 - Are the net emissions for the assessed BECCS system in a cement plant actually carbon-negative?

A gate-to-gate system boundary was defined and the  $CO_2$  emissions within this boundary were accounted for based on the results estimated in this thesis. To this, the  $CO_2$  removed by the biomass from the atmosphere and the emissions associated with biomass pre-treatment were included to calculate the net  $CO_2$  emissions. Upstream process emissions related to processing, harvesting, transportation of biomass and  $CO_2$  emissions from direct, indirect land-use were not included in this thesis. So it is not possible to determine if the net  $CO_2$  emissions are actually negative. Negative emissions may be obtained only when the emissions over the entire life cycle of the technology are accounted for. It can, however be concluded that further studies with wider system boundaries, taking into consideration the  $CO_2$  emissions in other stages over the life cycle can take us closer to determining if negative emissions are possible to achieve. In this thesis, though, in the case of using RHP, WP, SS with CaL-based  $CO_2$  capture, the net  $CO_2$  happened to be a negative value. This was a result of increased share of biomass used within the system boundary defined for this thesis (the calciner of the CaL process was fed with biomass). However, this doesn't refer to any net removal of  $CO_2$  from the atmosphere.

#### RQ 5 - How do the most significant economic parameters vary due to the effect of uncertainties?

It was established that oxyfuel combustion capture entails the least variations if the effect of uncertainties were taken into consideration. MEA capture technology is the least economical technology and also the most affected by uncertainties. Uncertainties in price of biomass and electricity significantly affect the economic parameters in MEA capture technology. Moreover, if carbon taxation were to be implemented in the future, MEA capture technology will be the most affected. CaL technology is more cost-effective than MEA capture technology. The economic parameters in CaL based  $CO_2$  are highly sensitive to storage costs and the price of biomass. In spite of being more electricity intensive than MEA capture technology, CaL does not display a significant variation to changes in electricity prices. This can be attributed to the electricity generation in the CaL capture technology using recovered waste heat.

#### Broader conclusions:

At the end of this thesis project, it was observed that adoption of multiple decarbonization strategies is possible - efficiency improvements, using alternative fuels (biomass), using technologies like CCS, and using alternative materials (ash) for cement production. Using biomass for co-firing led to reduced clinker production rates, but substituting it with other additives can be an effective way to decarbonize the cement industry by reducing the clinker requirement. Furthermore, BECCS entails clubbing two decarbonization strategies: using low-carbon biomass fuel & using  $CO_2$  capture and storage. Therefore, even if BECCS may or may not result in net negative  $CO_2$ emissions, it has increased potential for  $CO_2$  emission reduction. Adoption of multiple decarbonization strategies simultaneously for the cement industry is imperative for effective climate change mitigation.

#### 5.1 LIMITATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK

This thesis accounted for the  $CO_2$  emissions within a limited defined system boundary. When  $CO_2$  emissions from raw material extraction & transport, biomass harvest, production & transport, other upstream & downstream emissions are included and a life-cycle assessment (LCA) is performed for the BECCS technologies, it may possibly give a better picture of the net  $CO_2$  emissions. Therefore, extending the results of the techno-economic assessment by performing a life-cycle assessment would be one of the recommendations for future work. That way, other environmental impacts can also be accounted for. It was earlier stated that with oxyfuel combustion, there are added benefits of reduced  $NO_x$  and  $SO_2$  emissions owing to combustion in an oxygen-rich environment. This information can be substantiated if an LCA study is carried out. It may be worth observing if, in addition to being the most energy-efficient and economically viable option (among the assessed  $CO_2$  capture technologies in this thesis), oxyfuel combustion capture also presents the highest environmental benefits.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] UN Climate Change (UNFCCC). The paris agreement. https://unfccc.int/ process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement. [Online].
- [2] Beyond Zero Emissions. Zero carbon industry plan:rethinking cement. http://media. bze.org.au/ZCIndustry/bze-report-rethinking-cement-web.pdf, 2017. [BZE Report].
- [3] Hrvoje Mikulčić, Jiří Jaromír Klemeš, Milan Vujanović, Krzysztof Urbaniec, and Neven Duić. Reducing greenhouse gasses emissions by fostering the deployment of alternative raw materials and energy sources in the cleaner cement manufacturing process. *Journal of cleaner production*, 136:119–132, 2016.
- [4] Deborah N Huntzinger and Thomas D Eatmon. A life-cycle assessment of portland cement manufacturing: comparing the traditional process with alternative technologies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 17(7):668–675, 2009.
- [5] Raili Kajaste and Markku Hurme. Cement industry greenhouse gas emissionsmanagement options and abatement cost. *Journal of cleaner production*, 112:4041–4052, 2016.
- [6] Madeleine Rubenstein. Emissions from the Cement Industry. http://http://blogs. ei.columbia.edu/2012/05/09/emissions-from-the-cement-industry/, 2012. [Online].
- [7] Frauke Schorcht, Ioanna Kourti, Bianca Maria Scalet, Serge Roudier, and L Delgado Sancho. Best available techniques (bat) reference document for the production of cement, lime and magnesium oxide. European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (Report EUR 26129 EN). Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2013.
- [8] International Energy Agency. Cement tracking clean energy progress. https://www. iea.org/tcep/industry/cement/, 2019.
- [9] Eugeniusz Mokrzycki and Alicja Uliasz-Bocheńczyk. Alternative fuels for the cement industry. *Applied Energy*, 74(1-2):95–100, 2003.
- [10] NewClimate Institute. Decarbonising the global steel and cement sectors requires more than zero carbon fuels—now. https://newclimate.org/2017/10/27/ decarbonising-the-global-steel-and-cement-sectors-requires-more-than-zer 2017.
- [11] European Commission EU Science Hub. Climate change mitigation. https://ec. europa.eu/jrc/en/research-topic/climate-change-mitigation, 2018.
- [12] Alfonso Aranda Usón, Ana M López-Sabirón, Germán Ferreira, and Eva Llera Sastresa. Uses of alternative fuels and raw materials in the cement industry as sustainable waste management options. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 23:242–260, 2013.
- [13] MB Ali, R Saidur, and MS Hossain. A review on emission analysis in cement industries. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(5):2252–2261, 2011.

- [14] International Energy Agency and Cement Sustainability Initiative. Technology roadmap

   low-carbon transition in the cement industry. https://www.wbcsd.org/ contentwbc/download/4586/61682, 2018.
- [15] IEA GHG. Global warming of 1.5 °c. https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/, 2018. [Special report].
- [16] Samantha Eleanor Tanzer and Andrea Ramirez. When are negative emissions negative emissions? *Energy & Environmental Science*, 2019.
- [17] Sabine Fuss, Josep G Canadell, Glen P Peters, Massimo Tavoni, Robbie M Andrew, Philippe Ciais, Robert B Jackson, Chris D Jones, Florian Kraxner, Nebosja Nakicenovic, et al. Betting on negative emissions. *Nature climate change*, 4(10):850, 2014.
- [18] Ben Caldecott, Guy Lomax, and Mark Workman. Stranded carbon assets and negative emissions technologies. 2015.
- [19] R Stuart Haszeldine, Stephanie Flude, Gareth Johnson, and Vivian Scott. Negative emissions technologies and carbon capture and storage to achieve the paris agreement commitments. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 376(2119):20160447, 2018.
- [20] Valerie Masson-Delmotte, P Zhai, HO Pörtner, D Roberts, J Skea, PR Shukla, Anna Pirani, W Moufouma-Okia, C Péan, R Pidcock, et al. Ipcc, 2018: Summary for policymakers. *Global Warming of*, 1, 2018.
- [21] G Frigione, F Zenone, and MV Esposito. The effect of chemical composition on portland cement clinker grindability. *Cement and Concrete Research*, 13(4):483–492, 1983.
- [22] Linda M Hills, Vagn Johansen, and FM Miller. Solving raw material challenges [cement industry]. In IEEE-IAS/PCS 2002 Cement Industry Technical Conference. Conference Record (Cat. No. 02CH37282), pages 139–150. IEEE, 2002.
- [23] Peter Hewlett. Lea's chemistry of cement and concrete. Elsevier, 2003.
- [24] A Rolfe, Y Huang, M Haaf, A Pita, S Rezvani, A Dave, and NJ Hewitt. Technical and environmental study of calcium carbonate looping versus oxy-fuel options for low co 2 emission cement plants. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 75:85–97, 2018.
- [25] Mohamed A Aldieb and Hesham G Ibrahim. Variation of feed chemical composition and its effect on clinker formation–simulation process. In *Proceedings of the world congress on Engineering and Computer science,* volume 2, pages 1–7, 2010.
- [26] Pierre-Claude Aïtcin and Robert J Flatt. Science and technology of concrete admixtures. Woodhead publishing, 2015.
- [27] Wenji Zhou, Di Jiang, Dingjiang Chen, Charla Griffy-Brown, Yong Jin, and Bing Zhu. Capturing co2 from cement plants: A priority for reducing co2 emissions in china. *Energy*, 106: 464–474, 2016.
- [28] Stefania Osk Gardarsdottir, Edoardo De Lena, Matteo Romano, Simon Roussanaly, Mari Voldsund, José-Francisco Pérez-Calvo, David Berstad, Chao Fu, Rahul Anantharaman, Daniel Sutter, et al. Comparison of technologies for co2 capture from cement production—part 2: Cost analysis. *Energies*, 12(3):542, 2019.

- [29] Frédéric Simon. Swiss researchers set out how to decarbonise cement. https://www.climatechangenews.com/2018/11/02/ swiss-researchers-set-decarbonise-cement/, 2018.
- [30] Siti Aktar Ishak and Haslenda Hashim. Low carbon measures for cement plant–a review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 103:260–274, 2015.
- [31] N Patzelt. Finish grinding of slag. World Cement, 24(10):51–58, 1993.
- [32] Emad Benhelal, Gholamreza Zahedi, and Haslenda Hashim. A novel design for green and economical cement manufacturing. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 22(1):60–66, 2012.
- [33] NA Madlool, R Saidur, MS Hossain, and NA Rahim. A critical review on energy use and savings in the cement industries. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 15(4):2042–2060, 2011.
- [34] Ernst Worrell, Katerina Kermeli, and Christina Galitsky. Energy efficiency improvement and cost saving opportunities for cement making an energy star® guide for energy and plant managers, 2013.
- [35] Doug Vine, Center for Climate Jason Ye, and Energy Solutions. Decarbonizing us industry. https://www.c2es.org/site/assets/uploads/2018/06/ innovation-manufacturing-background-brief-07-18.pdf, July 2018. [Online].
- [36] Emad Benhelal, Gholamreza Zahedi, Ezzatollah Shamsaei, and Alireza Bahadori. Global strategies and potentials to curb co2 emissions in cement industry. *Journal of cleaner production*, 51:142–161, 2013.
- [37] SP Deolalkar, Anil Shah, and Naresh Davergave. *Designing green cement plants*. Butterworth-Heinemann, 2015.
- [38] Geopolymer Institute. Geopolymer Cement for mitigation of Global Warming . http:// https://www.geopolymer.org/applications/global-warming/, 2006. [Online].
- [39] Djwantoro Hardjito, Steenie E Wallah, Dody MJ Sumajouw, and B Vijaya Rangan. Fly ashbased geopolymer concrete. *Australian Journal of Structural Engineering*, 6(1):77–86, 2005.
- [40] Benjamin C McLellan, Ross P Williams, Janine Lay, Arie Van Riessen, and Glen D Corder. Costs and carbon emissions for geopolymer pastes in comparison to ordinary portland cement. *Journal of cleaner production*, 19(9-10):1080–1090, 2011.
- [41] F Pacheco-Torgal, Z Abdollahnejad, S Miraldo, and M Kheradmand. Alkali-activated cementbased binders (AACBs) as durable and cost-competitive low-CO2 binder materials: some shortcomings that need to be addressed. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, UK, 2017.
- [42] Soo Huey Teh, Thomas Wiedmann, Arnaud Castel, and James de Burgh. Hybrid life cycle assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from cement, concrete and geopolymer concrete in australia. *Journal of cleaner production*, 152:312–320, 2017.
- [43] G Habert, JB D'Espinose De Lacaillerie, and N Roussel. An environmental evaluation of geopolymer based concrete production: reviewing current research trends. *Journal of cleaner* production, 19(11):1229–1238, 2011.
- [44] Prabir K Sarker, Rashedul Haque, and Karamchand V Ramgolam. Fracture behaviour of heat cured fly ash based geopolymer concrete. *Materials & Design*, 44:580–586, 2013.

- [45] CEN (European Committee for Standardization). Cement. part 1: Composition, specifications and conformity criteria for common cements, 2011.
- [46] Cembureau. Cements for a low-carbon europe, howpublished = "https://cembureau. eu/news-views/publications/cements-for-a-low-carbon-europe/", year = 2013, note = "[commission study (review)]".
- [47] Maria Chiara Bignozzi. Sustainable cements for green buildings construction. *Procedia Engineering*, 21:915–921, 2011.
- [48] Moses PM Chinyama. Alternative fuels in cement manufacturing. In *Alternative fuel*. IntechOpen, 2011.
- [49] Jouni Havukainen, Mingxiu Zhan, Jun Dong, Miia Liikanen, Ivan Deviatkin, Xiaodong Li, and Mika Horttanainen. Environmental impact assessment of municipal solid waste management incorporating mechanical treatment of waste and incineration in hangzhou, china. *Journal of cleaner production*, 141:453–461, 2017.
- [50] Chinnappan Baskar, Shikha Baskar, and Ranjit S Dhillon. *Biomass conversion: The interface of biotechnology, chemistry and materials science*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [51] Elisabete R Teixeira, Ricardo Mateus, Aires F Camoes, Luís Bragança, and Fernando G Branco. Comparative environmental life-cycle analysis of concretes using biomass and coal fly ashes as partial cement replacement material. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 112:2221– 2230, 2016.
- [52] Gary R Roy. Petcoke combustion characteristics. *World cement*, 33(4):71–4, 2002.
- [53] IREA Irena. Renewable energy technologies: Cost analysis series. *IRENA Innovation Technology Center, Dubai, United Arab Emirates, accessed Nov,* 13:2016, 2012.
- [54] Feng Xu, Kyle Linnebur, and Donghai Wang. Torrefaction of conservation reserve program biomass: A techno-economic evaluation. *Industrial Crops and Products*, 61:382–387, 2014.
- [55] MDA Beets. A torrefied wood pellet supply chain. a detailed cost analysis of the comptetitiveness of torrefied wood pellets compared to white wood pellets. Master's thesis, 2017.
- [56] Patrick CA Bergman. Combined torrefaction and pelletisation: the top process. 2005.
- [57] Akeem et al Raheem. Chemical composition and physical characteristics of rice husk ash blended cement. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/JERA.32. 25, 2017.
- [58] Yisehak Seboka, Mulugeta Adamu Getahun, and Yared Haile-Meskel. Biomass energy for cement production: opportunities in ethiopia. United Nations Development Program, New York, 2009.
- [59] O Hochdahl. Fuels and heat economy. ZKG, Zement-Kalk-Gips, Edition A, 39(2):57–66, 1986.
- [60] Heiko Schuermann. Alternative fuels in the cement manufacturing process. ZKG international, (6):56–63, 2014.
- [61] Peter B Nielsen. Precalcining with low-volatile solid fuels. *ZKG, Zement-Kalk-Gips, Edition A*, 39(2):72–4, 1986.
- [62] Zuomin Wang and Jiuru Li. Numerical study of rice husk and coal co-combustion characteristics in a circulating fluidized bed. In *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, volume 113, page 012233. IOP Publishing, 2018.

- [63] Ashley Murray and Lynn Price. Use of alternative fuels in cement manufacture: analysis of fuel characteristics and feasibility for use in the chinese cement sector. 2008.
- [64] KG Mansaray and AE Ghaly. Physical and thermochemical properties of rice husk. *Energy Sources*, 19(9):989–1004, 1997.
- [65] ETIP Bioenergy. Forestry residues and wood waste for biofuel production. http://www.etipbioenergy.eu/value-chains/feedstocks/forestry/ forestry-residues.
- [66] AJ Saraber. Fly ash from coal and biomass for use in concrete: Origin, properties and performance. 2017.
- [67] IEA Bioenergy. Options for increased use of ash from biomass combustion and cofiring. https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ IEA-Bioenergy-Ash-management-report-revision-5-november.pdf, 2019.
- [68] Wouter Schakel et al. Comparative life cycle assessment of biomass co-firing plants with carbon capture and storage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.06. 045, 2014.
- [69] A Roozen. Availability of sustainable lignocellulosic biomass residues in brazil for export to the eu. Master's thesis, 2015.
- [70] Nathan W Ayer and Goretty Dias. Supplying renewable energy for canadian cement production: Life cycle assessment of bioenergy from forest harvest residues using mobile fast pyrolysis units. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 175:237–250, 2018.
- [71] J Werther and Ti Ogada. Sewage sludge combustion. *Progress in energy and combustion science*, 25(1):55–116, 1999.
- [72] H Spliethoff and KRG Hein. Effect of co-combustion of biomass on emissions in pulverized fuel furnaces. *Fuel processing technology*, 54(1-3):189–205, 1998.
- [73] Despoina Fytili and A Zabaniotou. Utilization of sewage sludge in eu application of old and new methods—a review. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, 12(1):116–140, 2008.
- [74] Nickolaos Chatziaras, Constantinos S Psomopoulos, and Nickolas J Themelis. Use of waste derived fuels in cement industry: a review. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, 27(2):178–193, 2016.
- [75] N Chatziaras, CS Psomopoulos, and NJ Themelis. Use of alternative fuels in cement industry. In Proceedings of the 12th International Conference on Protection and Restoration of the Environment, pages 521–529. ISBN, 2014.
- [76] BioEnergy Consult Dirk Lechtenberg. Use of sewage sludge in cement industry. https: //www.bioenergyconsult.com/tag/uses-of-sewage-sludge/, 2018.
- [77] Environment Canada. Global warming potentials. https://www.canada. ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/ greenhouse-gas-emissions/quantification-guidance/ global-warming-potentials.html, 2013. [Online].
- [78] IEA Bioenergy. Municipal solid waste and its role in sustainability, a position paper. *Taken from www. ieabioenergy. com/media/40\_IEAPositionPaperMSW. pdf*, 2003.

- [79] G Genon and E Brizio. Perspectives and limits for cement kilns as a destination for rdf. *Waste Management*, 28(11):2375–2385, 2008.
- [80] D Hinchliffe, J Frommann, and E Gunsilius. Waste to energy options in municipal solid waste management. *Eschborn: GIZ*, 2017.
- [81] A Gendebien, A Leavens, and A Godley. Refuse derived fuel, current practice and perspectives. final report. In *Refuse derived fuel, current practice and perspectives. Final report.* 2003.
- [82] Bahareh Reza, Atousa Soltani, Rajeev Ruparathna, Rehan Sadiq, and Kasun Hewage. Environmental and economic aspects of production and utilization of rdf as alternative fuel in cement plants: A case study of metro vancouver waste management. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 81:105–114, 2013.
- [83] Barbara Mariani. Recycling = rdf = cement. https://waste-management-world. com/a/recycling-rdf-cement, 2012. [Online].
- [84] Eugeniusz Mokrzycki, Alicja Uliasz-Bocheńczyk, and Mieczysław Sarna. Use of alternative fuels in the polish cement industry. *Applied Energy*, 74(1-2):101–111, 2003.
- [85] Dominic Hogg. *Costs for municipal waste management in the EU*. Eunomia Research & Consulting, 2002.
- [86] Tae-In Ohm, Jong-Seong Chae, Jeong-Ku Kim, and Sae-Cheon Oh. Study on the characteristics of biomass for co-combustion in coal power plant. *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management*, 17(2):249–257, 2015.
- [87] Anuphon Pimchuai, Animesh Dutta, and Prabir Basu. Torrefaction of agriculture residue to enhance combustible properties. *Energy & Fuels*, 24(9):4638–4645, 2010.
- [88] Dijan Supramono, Yosephine Merry Devina, and Dewi Tristantini. Effect of heating rate of torrefaction of sugarcane bagasse on its physical characteristics. *Int. J. Technol.*, 6:1084–1093, 2015.
- [89] Huber Technology (sludge2energy). Layman report: sludge2energy a way to energy self-sufficient sewage treatment plants. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/ life/project/Projects/index.cfm?fuseaction=home.showFile&rep= file&fil=LIFE06\_ENV\_D\_000460\_LAYMAN.pdf, 2011.
- [90] Ola Jonassen, Angelique Leonard, Michel Crine, and Stig Stenström. Energy efficient drying and dewatering technologies. *Industrial Energy-related Technologies and Systems (IETS)*, *International Energy Agency, Technical Report*, 2008.
- [91] Rafat Siddique. Use of municipal solid waste ash in concrete. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.resconrec.2010.10.003, 2010.
- [92] Akeem Ayinde Raheem and Mutiu A Kareem. Chemical composition and physical characteristics of rice husk ash blended cement. In *International Journal of Engineering Research in Africa*, volume 32, pages 25–35. Trans Tech Publ, 2017.
- [93] Rafat Siddique. Use of municipal solid waste ash in concrete. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 55(2):83–91, 2010.
- [94] Gurmel S. Ghataora Ravindra K. Dhir and Ciarán J. Lynn. Sustainable construction materials: Sewage sludge ash. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100987-1. 00005-6, 2017.

- [95] Gurmel S. Ghataora Ciarán J. Lynn, Ravindra K. Dhir. Environmental impacts of sewage sludge ash in construction: Leaching assessment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. resconrec.2018.04.029, 2018.
- [96] Zhen Chen and Chi Sun Poon. Comparative studies on the effects of sewage sludge ash and fly ash on cement hydration and properties of cement mortars. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2017.08.003, 2017.
- [97] María Teresa Pérez Carrión, Francisco Baeza Brotons, Jordi Payá Bernabeu, Saval Pérez, José Miguel, Emilio Zornoza, María Victoria Borrachero Rosado, Pedro Garcés, et al. Potential use of sewage sludge ash (ssa) as a cement replacement in precast concrete blocks. 2014.
- [98] Wojciech Piasta and Monika Lukawska. The effect of sewage sludge ash on properties of cement composites. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2016.08.842, 2016.
- [99] Mario Berra. Reuse of woody biomass fly ash in cement-based materials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2014.11.052, 2015.
- [100] JR Pels. Overview of options for utilization of biomass ash. https://publicaties. ecn.nl/PdfFetch.aspx?nr=ECN-L--15-079, 2015.
- [101] de Nie D. S. Kiel J. H. Pels, J. R. Utilization of ashes from biomass combustion and gasification., October 2005.
- [102] CEMCAP. Retrofitability study for co2 capture technologies in cement plants. https://www.sintef.no/globalassets/ project/cemcap/2018-11-14-deliverables/19-01-11-d4. 5-retrofitability-study-for-co2-capture-technologies-in-cement-plants---pdf, 2018. [Project funded by EU].
- [103] Mijndert Willem van der Spek. Methodological improvements to ex-ante techno-economic modelling and uncertainty analysis of emerging CO2 capture technologies. PhD thesis, Utrecht University, 2017.
- [104] Mijndert Van Der Spek, Nils Henrik Eldrup, Ragnhild Skagestad, and Andrea Ramirez. Techno-economic performance of state-of-the-art oxyfuel technology for low-co2 coal-fired electricity production. *Energy Procedia*, 114:6432–6439, 2017.
- [105] Qian Zhu. CO2 abatement in the cement industry. IEA Clean Coal Centre, 2011.
- [106] Victor Darde, Kaj Thomsen, Willy JM Van Well, and Erling H Stenby. Chilled ammonia process for co2 capture. *Energy Procedia*, 1(1):1035–1042, 2009.
- [107] Stian Trædal, David Berstad, and Jacob Stang. *D11.4 Membrane-assisted CO2-liquefaction scale up to TRL7–8.* Oct 2018. doi: 10.5281/zenod0.2605090.
- [108] Pooja Tilak and Mahmoud M El-Halwagi. Process integration of calcium looping with industrial plants for monetizing co2 into value-added products. *Carbon Resources Conversion*, 1(2):191–199, 2018.
- [109] Dursun Can Ozcan. Techno-economic study of the calcium looping process for co2 capture from cement and biomass power plants. 2014.
- [110] E De Lena, M Spinelli, I Martínez, M Gatti, R Scaccabarozzi, G Cinti, and MC Romano. Process integration study of tail-end ca-looping process for co2 capture in cement plants. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 67:71–92, 2017.

- [111] Zero Emissions Platform. The costs of co2 transport: Post-demonstration ccs in the eu. *European Technology Platform for Zero Emission Fossil Fuel Power Plants, Brussels, Belgium*, 2011.
- [112] Xiaobo Luo, Meihong Wang, Eni Oko, and Chima Okezue. Simulation-based technoeconomic evaluation for optimal design of co2 transport pipeline network. *Applied energy*, 132:610–620, 2014.
- [113] British Geological Survey. Co2 transport. https://www.bgs.ac.uk/ discoveringGeology/climateChange/CCS/CO2transport.html.
- [114] Victor E Onyebuchi, Athanasios Kolios, Dawid P Hanak, Chechet Biliyok, and Vasilije Manovic. A systematic review of key challenges of co2 transport via pipelines. *Renew-able and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 81:2563–2583, 2018.
- [115] Suoton Peletiri, Nejat Rahmanian, and Iqbal Mujtaba. Co2 pipeline design: a review. *Energies*, 11(9):2184, 2018.
- [116] MMJ Knoope, A Ramírez, and APC Faaij. A state-of-the-art review of techno-economic models predicting the costs of co2 pipeline transport. *International journal of greenhouse gas control*, 16:241–270, 2013.
- [117] Jana Jakobsen, Simon Roussanaly, and Rahul Anantharaman. A techno-economic case study of co2 capture, transport and storage chain from a cement plant in norway. *Journal of cleaner production*, 144:523–539, 2017.
- [118] Zero Emissions Platform. The costs of co 2 storage-post-demonstration ccs in the eu. *IEA GHG*, pages 1–42, 2011.
- [119] Joseph Alcamo, Daniel Puig, Anne Olhoff, Volodymyr Demkine, and Bert Metz. The Emissions Gap Report 2013: A UNEP Synthesis Report. United Nations Environment Programme, 2013.
- [120] Joris Koornneef, Pieter van Breevoort, Carlo Hamelinck, Chris Hendriks, Monique Hoogwijk, Klaas Koop, Michèle Koper, Tim Dixon, and Ameena Camps. Global potential for biomass and carbon dioxide capture, transport and storage up to 2050. *International Journal* of Greenhouse Gas Control, 11:117–132, 2012.
- [121] Duncan McLaren. A comparative global assessment of potential negative emissions technologies. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 90(6):489–500, 2012.
- [122] Research Journal of Chemical and Environmental Sciences. Cement manufacturing and use of biomass energy: energy option for greenhouse gas reduction. http://www. aelsindia.com/rjcesjune2016/1.pdf, April 2016. [Online].
- [123] ANM Peeters, APC Faaij, and WC Turkenburg. Techno-economic analysis of natural gas combined cycles with post-combustion co2 absorption, including a detailed evaluation of the development potential. *International Journal of Greenhouse gas control*, 1(4):396–417, 2007.
- [124] Takeshi Kuramochi, Andrea Ramírez, Wim Turkenburg, and André Faaij. Comparative assessment of co2 capture technologies for carbon-intensive industrial processes. *Progress* in energy and combustion science, 38(1):87–112, 2012.
- [125] Jacob Nygaard Knudsen, Otto Morten Bade, Inga Askestad, Oddvar Gorset, and Thor Mejdell. Pilot plant demonstration of co2 capture from cement plant with advanced amine technology. *Energy Procedia*, 63:6464–6475, 2014.

- [126] CEMCAP. Publishable summary. https://www.sintef.no/globalassets/ project/cemcap2/pr\_publishable\_summary\_2.pdf, 2017.
- [127] IEA GHG Programme. Co<sub>2</sub> capture in the cement industry. https://ieaghg.org/ docs/General\_Docs/Reports/2008-3.pdf, 2008. [Technical study].
- [128] Edoardo De Lena, Maurizio Spinelli, Manuele Gatti, Roberto Scaccabarozzi, Stefano Campanari, Stefano Consonni, Giovanni Cinti, and Matteo C Romano. Techno-economic analysis of calcium looping processes for low co2 emission cement plants. *International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control*, 82:244–260, 2019.
- [129] ECRA Martin Schneider. Ecra's cement carbon capture project. https: //ecra-online.org/fileadmin/ecra/media/ECRA-CEMCAP-CLEANKER\_ 2018/Presentations/2\_ECRAs\_cement\_carbon\_capture%20\_project\_M\_ Schneider.pdf, 2018.
- [130] Kamel Bennaceur, Dolf Gielen, Tom Kerr, and Cecilia Tam. *CO2 capture and storage: a key carbon abatement option*. OECD, 2008.
- [131] M Hornberger, R Spörl, and G Scheffknecht. Calcium looping for co2 capture in cement plants–pilot scale test. *Energy Procedia*, 114:6171–6174, 2017.
- [132] Martina Fantini, Maurizio Spinelli, Matteo Carmelo Romano, Stefano Campanari, Stefano Consonni, Mario Balocco, Fulvio Canonico, Borja Arias, Jörg Hammerich, Kari Myöhänen, et al. Cleanker–clean clinker by calcium looping process for low-co2 cement production. In 14th Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies Conference Melbourne, pages 21–26, 2018.
- [133] CEMCAP Cinti G et al. Options for calcium looping for co2 capture in the cement industry. https://ecra-online.org/fileadmin/ecra/media/ECRA-CEMCAP\_ Workshop\_2017/Presentations/06\_Calcium-Looping\_Romano-Cinti.pdf, 2017.
- [134] IEA GHG. Deployment of ccs in the cement industry. https://ieaghg.org/docs/ General\_Docs/Reports/2013-19.pdf, 2013. [Online].
- [135] Rahul Anantharaman, Chao Fu, Simon Roussanaly, and Mari Voldsund. Design and performance of cemcap cement plant with mea post combustion capture - d4.2. Jan 2018. doi: 10.5281/zenod0.1150320.
- [136] Stefano Campanari, Giovanni Cinti, Stefano Consonni, Kristina Fleiger, Manuele Gatti, Helmut Hoppe, Isabel Martínez, Matteo Romano, Maurizio Spinelli, Mari Voldsund, and et al. *Design and performance of CEMCAP cement plant without CO2 capture (D4.1)*. May 2016. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1001664.
- [137] IJSEAS Amole MO. Performance evaluation of a grate cooler in a cement manufacturing industry in nigeria. http://ijseas.com/volume4/v4i4/ijseas20180401.pdf, 2018. [IJSEAS Journal].
- [138] Jamal Uddin Ahamed, NA Madlool, Rahman Saidur, MI Shahinuddin, A Kamyar, and Haji Hassan Masjuki. Assessment of energy and exergy efficiencies of a grate clinker cooling system through the optimization of its operational parameters. *Energy*, 46(1):664–674, 2012.
- [139] Ce plant cost index. https://www.chemengonline.com/site/ plant-cost-index/.

- [140] MA Tribe and RLW Alpine. Scale economies and the "0.6 rule". *Engineering Costs and Production Economics*, 10(1):271–278, 1986.
- [141] R Anantharaman, O Bolland, N Booth, EV Dorst, C Ekstrom, F Franco, E Macchi, G Manzolini, D Nikolic, A Pfeffer, et al. D1. 4.3 european best prectice guidelines for assessment of co2 capture technologies. *DECARBit Project*, 2011.
- [142] Giovanni Cinti, Rahul Anantharaman, Edoardo De Lena, Chao Fu, Stefania Osk Gardarsdottir, Helmut Hoppe, Armin Jamali, Matteo Romano, Simon Roussanaly, Maurizio Spinelli, and et al. *D4.4 Cost of critical components in CO2 capture processes*. Oct 2018. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.2593219.
- [144] Edward Rubin, George Booras, John Davison, Clas Ekstrom, Mike Matuszewski, Sean Mc-Coy, and Chris Short. Toward a common method of cost estimation for co2 capture and storage at fossil fuel power plants. *Global CCS Institute, Docklands, Australia*, 2013.
- [145] European Environment Agency. Overview of electricity production and use in europe. https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/ overview-of-the-electricity-production-2/assessment-4, 2018.
- [146] Anantharaman et al. Cemcap framework for comparative techno-economic analysis of co2 capture from cement plants - d3.2. 2018. doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1257112.
- [147] Simon Roussanaly. Calculating co2 avoidance costs of carbon capture and storage from industry. *Carbon Management*, pages 1–8, 2019.
- [148] WB Schakel. Understanding environmental trade-offs of carbon capture, utilization and storage. PhD thesis, Utrecht University, 2017.
- [149] Christian Fischer, Emmanuel Gentil, Morten Ryberg, and Almut Reichel. Managing municipal solid waste-a review of achievements in 32 european countries. *European Environment Agency, Copenhagen, Denmark*, 2013.
- [150] Daniela Thrän, Janet Witt, Kay Schaubach, Jaap Kiel, Michiel Carbo, Jörg Maier, Collins Ndibe, Jaap Koppejan, Eija Alakangas, Stefan Majer, et al. Moving torrefaction towards market introduction-technical improvements and economic-environmental assessment along the overall torrefaction supply chain through the sector project. *Biomass and bioenergy*, 89: 184–200, 2016.
- [151] Vincenzo Torretta, Gabriela Ionescu, Massimo Raboni, and G Merler. The mass and energy balance of an integrated solution for municipal solid waste treatment. WIT Trans. Ecol. Environ, 180:151–161, 2014.
- [153] ECN.TNO. Phyllis2, database for biomass and waste. https://phyllis.nl/.
- [154] Ola Jonassen et al. Drying and dewatering of sludge, summary of papers presented at ecsm o8. https://iea-industry.org/app/uploads/ technical-report-1-drying-and-dewatering-of-sludge-at-ecsm08. pdf, 2008.

- [155] Adem Atmaca and Recep Yumrutaş. Analysis of the parameters affecting energy consumption of a rotary kiln in cement industry. *Applied Thermal Engineering*, 66(1-2):435–444, 2014.
- [156] Mari Voldsund, Stefania Osk Gardarsdottir, Edoardo De Lena, José-Francisco Pérez-Calvo, Armin Jamali, David Berstad, Chao Fu, Matteo Romano, Simon Roussanaly, Rahul Anantharaman, et al. Comparison of technologies for co2 capture from cement production—part 1: Technical evaluation. *Energies*, 12(3):559, 2019.
- [157] Mohammad RM Abu-Zahra, Léon HJ Schneiders, John PM Niederer, Paul HM Feron, and Geert F Versteeg. Co2 capture from power plants: Part i. a parametric study of the technical performance based on monoethanolamine. *International Journal of Greenhouse gas control*, 1 (1):37–46, 2007.
- [158] Umberto Desideri and Alberto Paolucci. Performance modelling of a carbon dioxide removal system for power plants. *Energy Conversion and Management*, 40(18):1899–1915, 1999.
- [159] Simon Roussanaly, Chao Fu, Mari Voldsund, Rahul Anantharaman, Maurizio Spinelli, and Matteo Romano. Techno-economic analysis of mea co2 capture from a cement kiln–impact of steam supply scenario. *Energy Procedia*, 114:6229–6239, 2017.
- [160] Eftim Popovski, Tobias Fleiter, Hugo Santos, Vitor Leal, and Eduardo Oliveira Fernandes. Technical and economic feasibility of sustainable heating and cooling supply options in southern european municipalities-a case study for matosinhos, portugal. *Energy*, 153:311– 323, 2018.
- [161] Wouter Schakel, Gabriel Orregioni, Anders Strømman, and Andrea Ramirez. Impact of fuel selection on techno-environmental performance of post-combustion calcium looping process applied to a cement plant. *Energy Procedia*, 114:6215–6221, 2017.
- [162] Matteo C Romano, Isabel Martínez, Ramón Murillo, Bjørnar Arstad, Richard Blom, Dursun Can Ozcan, Hyungwoong Ahn, and Stefano Brandani. Guidelines for modeling and simulation of ca-looping processes. *Prepared for the European Energy Research Alliance. Sin*tefNo, 2012.
- [163] Franco Montagner, Lyle Chapman, Doug Ranie, and Toshihiko Yamada. Callide oxyfuel project–lessons learned. 2014.
- [164] Hana Gerbelová, Mijndert Van Der Spek, and Wouter Schakel. Feasibility assessment of co2 capture retrofitted to an existing cement plant: post-combustion vs. oxy-fuel combustion technology. *Energy Procedia*, 114:6141–6149, 2017.
- [165] Edward S Rubin, Anand B Rao, and Michael B Berkenpas. Development and application of optimal design capability for coal gasification systems. Technical report, Carnegie-Mellon University, 2007.
- [166] IEA GHG. Co2 capture in the cement industry. Report, 3:2008, 2008.
- [167] Eurostat. Electricity price statistics. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ statistics-explained/pdfscache/45239.pdf, 2019.

#### COLOPHON

This document was typeset using LATEX. The document layout was generated using the arsclassica package by Lorenzo Pantieri, which is an adaption of the original classicthesis package from André Miede.

